PITOTOGRATIIIC

VIEWS OF LONDON,

IN ALL SIZIS

[Trom Sixpence cack

Y\ "THE TARGEST VARIETY IN THE WORLD

|
DERTIATT
- &) {Z[‘” \

(Dest ned by Geor o« Croaf shanl )

CARTLS 12 FOR 10S
Dao. 25 FOR 208S., Two Dosilions, with choice

AIL SIYLIS EXICU{ID AND TNLAKRGIMINIS MADT

“Thers are the finest’ —ARL TOURNAL
“ Vigorous and full of Iife "—\111LNA UM

[E RN

LANDON STEREOSCOPIC COMPANY,

Pnotographers to the @ueen and other Members
of the Wopal JFamulp,

110 AND 108, REGENT STREET
54, CHEAPSIDE.

A Chosec Sclcction of Albums, Giaphoscopes, and
Optical Instrumcnts



'C

THURSTON & CO

BILLIARD TABLE AND BILLIARD ROOM
FURNITURE MANUFACTURERS
LAMP MAKIRS AND  GASFIITERS

By Appomntment to Wer Majesty the Queen, W K. W the
Punce of A&lales, S, K.

——

LSTABLISHED AD 1814

Offices and Extensive Show Rooms (#ic lvrgcst in Lngland)

16, CATHERINE STREET, STRAND, LONDON, W.C.

Iractory
WATERLOQO BILLIARD WORKS, CHEYNE WALK, CHELSEA.,

Drandcle Showe Roons
89 BOID SIRKLKIL, 1TVERPOOI,
VICTORIA BUILDINGS, MANCHISLER

—<OOT——

SOLE AGENTS FOR
ADAMS & SON'S IMPROVED ELECTRIC MARKING BOARDS



Suitable for all Seasons and Climates, 1n a Vanety of Uses,

BROWN & POLSON'S CORN FLOUR

Is a Domestic Requisite of Constant Utility

Possessing all the Properheﬁ of the Finest Arrowroot,

BROWN & POLSON'S CORN FLOUR

Has Twenty Years’ World-wide Reputation

D'3 LS YIHOLDIA NHANO iSS3IYAAY NOANOT IT0S

SOLE LONDON ADDRESS: QUEEN VICTORIA ST., E.C.

¢ Made w:th Mllk as 1t ought alwayq to be

BROWN & POLSON'S CORN FLOUR

Affords all the essentials of a perfect Diet

Delicate, Easy of Digestion, and Agreeable to the Palate

BROWN & POLSON'S CORN FLOUR

Is invaluable for Children and Invalids



Golden Guede 1o Lowdon Adeateso v
MAPLE AND CO.

Toriennav Cotrt Roan,

DRAWING-ROOM FURNITURE
DINING-ROOM FURNITURE
BED-ROOM FURNITURE

BEDSTEADS

10 0oo Driss and Tron Bedatcwds » Stock 105 to yo Guine s

{ 1)
127 Gooas ey / ;
marlcd i T\Tfn )
\

Ll frgies . ;
— E‘ ! j:;/(f
R
R L N\
I stablrsiied | Pl
35 0¢d7s J
N ‘Q‘
G
Wolnut Cipy e vath clath The vadl fo de owadint
tp funge md by nl 1w Suvthe Tnd b 21
T with blak md o id leg vt T « Vol w1 o
Do withvelvettop uy conour votd It 1 onuder Taoa g

An Illustrated Catalogue, contaiming the Price of cvery Article
required 1n I urmishing, post-frec

MAPLE & GO TOTTENHAM CDURI"I‘OII\}I(;.(A;E,’ w

A



v Golidow Guide to Lowden Adicrtesa

HANOVER HOUSE.

I~ratrisnep 1803

LINEN, IRISH POPLIN, AND BALBRIGGAN HOSIERY WAREHOUSE

C. & H. DICKINS & JONES

232 \\D 234, RLGINT STRELT, WV

BELFAST AND FOREIGN DAMASK TABLE LINENS.
SHEETINGS, HUCKABACKS, &,

SWISS AND LENO CURTAINS,

EMBROIDERIES,

SILKS, IRISH POPLINS, COSTUMES,
- MANTLES, SHAWLS, FURS.
BALBRIGGAN 1OSITRY DUMFNT'S GLOVES,
Drcssmalin, an? Ml

TROUSSEAUX AND BABY LINEN

agournmng Goods of cocry Description.



Golden Ghade to London Advertiser vi

RAWLINGS'S HOTEL,

JERMYN STREET

ST JAMES'S,

21T UATIED 1n the most fashionable

"> and central part of LLondon, and within

a short distance of St Jamces's and
Buckingham Palace, the Houscs of Parliament,
the Go‘x cnment Offices, the Theatres and Places
of Amusemcnt, Piccadilly, Regent Strect, Bond
Strcet, and the Parks Contains suites of Rooms
for Laige and Small FFamilies, and Coffee-Room

accommodation for Smele Gentlemen

This 1otel 15 particulatly noted for the quahty

of 1ts wines and the excdllence of 1ts cuisine

RAWLINGS anp Co

Proprictors



vii .. Golden Guide to London Advertuser.

THE GREAT BANQUETING HALL,
CROSBY HALL, BISHOPSGATE. Zuo muwutes walk frope the
Bank. Buill 1466. Formerly the Palace of Ruchard 11T

and one of | Mc.wgbt: of London

lﬂl“

Luncheons and Dinners for Ladies and Gentlemen 1n the above Hall and
in the Throne Room and Council Chamber The Grand



Golden Guide to London Advertiser. viid .

PLEYEL, WOLFF, AND C0.S

(PARIS),

PIANOS. .

Gold Medals, 1827, 1834, 1839, 1844.
Prize Medal, 1862.
Medaille d’honneur, 1855.

Hors de concours. (Declared above competition.)

1849, 1867, 1873.
Decorations de la Legion d’honneur .—
Camulle Pleyel, 1834 ; Auguste Wolff, 1862.

These admired Instruments may now be obtaned mn elegant
Black Wood and Black and Gold Cases m special styles,
Lows XIV, XV, XVI

Pranos for India, China, Fapan, R, Australia,
Africa, New Zealand, the Cape, and
abroad generally.

PRICE LISTS FREE ON APPLICATION TO

I. BERROW AND CO.,

SOLE AGENTS,

CLARENDON MANSIONS, NEW BOND STREET,
LONDON, W



'19F4LG SHTIOH dVAN ‘LETILS QI04X( ‘o€1 “0D ANV NOSdNVS

waoS 4o 34993 ‘PamofIy JUn0IStp “1U3) 4ad aany  saunSyf wod ws pagivu spood 11y

SYVTTIEANA ANV ‘SEIANVI ‘SONY ‘SNMOD HNISSTIA
‘SLVOD¥TIAO ANV ‘SYILSIN ‘SLIAS YAYODIYTADINT ANV NNdS AWOH

T ( s sy oS
FULIYS J0U [[la pus ‘00 asnd smonng sued a.uwoﬁ—.n azne3 eyyereg pue [puueld “ANS
1£19180 ) [oOMEqUIe-] K313-J|98 puE e Suau( s3ud *JUqWEd PaINO[0D) Youdl,
ROH 100458 ao_«._“mﬂ._ Mol OM3 30 U0 =3uuom a..._om sgno pue huoe usan n“_w .szo.m
*380H-J[EH PUB 98OH UeISUqEH pryf 389¢ 83U ‘SygS uAUI] YSU] Ang
‘AYIISOH SFAOTO ‘SIATHS

LAIHS FOI'IJ¥NS

am— 'SYALLIAIN0 AUVIITIN ONY TVAYN

{(s3LVO TAVNOS ATAONVH ONIOV4)

‘M ‘NOaNOT]

‘L9941G QI0AX() ‘of1

‘S¥O07TIV.L LIIHS ADI'1dANS

“00 NV NOSIWVS



Golden Guide to London Advertiser. x

MESSRS. HATCHARD,

L]
BOOKSELLERS TO THE QUEEN & THE ROYAL FAMILY,

187, PrccapiLLy, LoNDoN, W. Estabhished Eighty VYears.

A LARGE SELECTION OF
THE NEWEST PUBLICATIONS,
AND OF

Religwous any Stanvary Aorks . Prose and Poetrp.
(A chorce assortment in Morocco and Calf Bindings )

A~

CHILDREN’S PICTURE AND STORY BOOKS CAREFULLY SELECTED

BWibles, Praper-Books, Church Serbices, K.,
In Ivory, Velvet, Russia, Morocco, and Calf,
With and Without Stlver and Gilt Clasps, or in cases for Christening Presents

B R N

School Books, Atlases, Guive Books, Maps, K.

s e

A Liberal Discount for Cask  Orders by Fost promptly executed

N e R e aadd

HATCHARDS, PUBLISHERS, PICCADILLY, LONDON.



xi Golden Guide to London Advertiser.

PALZEOTECHNIC GALLERY,

106, NEw BOND STREET,
LonDoON, W.

A COLLECTION OF HIGH CLASS PICTURES

BY THE OLD MASTERS AND DECEASED
BRITISH ARTISTS,
ALSO
CHARMING EXAMPLES BY LIVING PAINTERS,
DIRECT FROM THEIR EASELS,
ALWAYS ON VIEW AND SALE
ADMISSION FREE

PICTURES CAREFULLY CLEANED AND
RESTORED BY EXPERIENCED
ARTISTS

Noblemen and Gentlemen can have thewr Gallerses arranged
and kept in order by the year

R. BROOKS, rtatTe HENRY FARRER,
PROPRIETOR.



GOLDEN GUIDE TO

LONDON

ILLUSTRATED WITH MAP, PLANS, AND
SIXTY-EIGHT ENGRAVINGS

ON WOOD.

THIRD EDITION

LONDON:
SAMPSON LOW, MARSTON, SEARLE, AND RIVINGTON,
CROWN BUILDINGS, 188, FLEET STREET.
1876.



CHISWICK PRESS 1RINTED BY WHITTINGHAM AND WILKINS,
‘TOOKS COURT, CHANCFRY LANE



PREFACE.

HE GorpeN Guipk has been produced expressly for
the use of Visrrors to LoNpoN. 'Within the last
quarter of a century so many and so great have
been the 1mprovements both in the City and at the

West End, that the metropolis of England may now lay claim
to admiration for the beauty of its publie buildmngs, its 1m-
portant engineering works, and its private mansions, as well
as for its ancient history, its historical associations, and im-
mense population Only they who have witnessed 1ts modern
growth can fully appreciate the value of the good work that
has been done

To give Visitors every possible opportumty of seemng
London 1 1ts mfinite varety, much care has been taken with
this Handbook. The most mmportant places—St Paul’s,
Westminster Abbey, the Tower, the British Museum, the
National Gallery, the South Kensington Museum, and many
others, have been visited and carefully described, no pains
have been spared to procure accurate and recent information
from the best available authorities, and a new edition of the
GuinE 18 now offered to the public 1n the hope that, in confor-
mity with its title, 1t will win from them golden opimons.

J.C.



DEBENHAM AND FREEBODY,
Uk fMercers any TWavehousemen.
WiecMORE STREET AND WELBECK STREET, W.

EG resactﬁﬂl to mnvite the attention of Strangers and Visitors to
their tabllsyhment Established 1n the centre of the West End
for more than three-quarters of a century, the House enjoys a

®eputation for the Sale of the Best Class of Goods of British and

For%lﬂl Manufacture
Business 1s conducted on the ready-money principle, and every article
marked the lowest price for prompt payment, without discount  All inter-
mediate profits are avoided by pumg:smg direct 1n the best markets, and
no pains are spared to place reliable and choice Goods before the Public at
the lowest possible prices

Special attention 1s sven to the production of Novelties in the made-up
De&rtments A branch house in Pans keeps the Costumes, Mantles,
Millinery, Lace, and Fancy Departments constantly supplied with the
most approved models, and a co:;fslete organization at home reproduces
them 1n i1dentically the same mate: at greatly reduced prices.

In each of the following Departments will be found a large and vaned

assortment of Goods of the best class ;—
1. Coloured Silks. 13. Printed Mushns
2 Black Silks. 14. Ladies’ Outfitting,
3 Silk Costumes 15 Hosery.
4. Mantles 16 Gloves.
§ Dress Materals 1%7. Parasols
6. Matenal Costumes, 18 Household Dragery.
Ball and Féte Dresses 19 Mushn Curtams.
Embroideries 20 Shawls and Furs.
9. Lace 21 Ribbons
10 Fancy Goods. 22 Trnmmings
11, Juvenile Department 23 Haberdashery.
12 Millmmery 24 Dress-making.

Country Order Department —The attention of Ladies residing mn

the Country or Abroad 18 inwvited to the arrange:

ments for the execution of

“ Poft Orders.” Experienced Assistants are appointed to select goods and

execute commssions Patterns of Matenals and photographs of models,
with estimates of pnce, forwarded Post Free, and Costumes, Mantles,
Milhnery, &c. &c, made to measurement, thus ensuring all the advantages
to be denived from a personal visit

DEBENHAM AND FREEBODY,
WIGMORE STREET AND WELBECK STREET, LONDON, W,
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THE GOLDEN GUIDE TO LONDON.

PART I.—INTRODUCTION.

HOTELS, ETC

HE first question that & stranger naturally puts to him-
gelf on his arrival m London is, ¢ To what hotel shall I
goP” Without knowing in what quarter of the town

expend, 1t“is needless to recommend any particular estabhishment
Moreover, there 18 now such a vast number of excellent hotels m
London that we can do no more than give a list of the principal,
classifying them according to theiwr position

During the past few years 1t has become the fashion to construct
ummense hostelries on the American system they are generally well
regulated and have & fixed tariff of prices The most noted of this
descrption are—

The Palace Hotel, Buckingham Gate, close to Buckingham Palace

The Alezandra Hotel, St. George’s Place, Hyde Park Corner.

The Langham Hotel, Portland Place, frequented by Amerzcans.

The Westmmnster Palace Hotel, Victoria Street, Westminster.

At the chief railway stations are to be found ggantic buildings
styled Terminus Hotels, conducted on the same principles These
have mang advantages, a traveller on arriving at the station can at

B



2 HOTELS, ETC

once select rooms according to his means, as the apartments are
divided into different classes at varymg prices. The following are
the most celebrated and are all well regulated —

TRe Great Western Hotel, Praed Street, Paddington.

The Euston and Victorsa Hotels, close to the London and North-Western
Railway Station.

The Midland Hotel, 8t Pancras Station, Euston Road, a magmficent
gothic structure of red brick, built by Sir Gilbert Scott

The Great Northern Hotel, King’s Cross

The International Hotel, London Bridge Railway Station

The Cannon Street Hotel,'st the City Terminus of the South Eastern Rail-
way.

The Charing Cross Hotel, at the terminus of the South Eastern Railway.

The Grosvenor Hotel, at the Victora Station, Pimhco

To those who prefer the continental style we recommend M de Keyser’s
Royal Hotel, New Bridge Street, Blackfriars, facing the Embankment. This
house 18 conducted on a plan sumilar to that of the Grand Hétel m Paris.

The first-class hotels at the West Exp are—

Claridge's, 49 to 55, Brook Street (very select)

Fenton’s, 63, St. James's Street

Thomas's, 25, Berkeley Square

Cowan’s, 26, Dover Street

Cox’s, 55, Jermyn Street.

Britrsh, 82, Jermyn Street.

Rawlmgs's, 37 and 38, Jermyn Street

Royal Cambrdge, Edwards's, 124, George Street, Hanover Square

8t James's, 77, Piccacilly

Albemarle, 1, Albemarle Street.

York, 10 and 11, Albemarle Street.

Burlngton, 19 and 20, Cork Street.

Queen's, Cork Street

Symonds’s Famly Hotel, 34, Lower Brook Street

Long’s, 16, New Bond Street (for sporting gentlemen)

Lsmmer's 254, Conduit Street.

Cavendssh, 81, Jermyn Street.

Bath, 25, Arlington Street,

Hatoketl's, 67, Procadilly (moderate prices).
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Thgre are many other excellent hotels in Albemarle Street, Dover
Street, and Jermyn Street
In the neighbourhood of Cmaring Cross, STranp, and Covexnr
Gazpex, the following are the best, their charges are more mode-
rate than those at the West End —
Morley’s, 1, 3, and 3, Trafalgar Square
Golden Cross, 453, West Strand, near Charing Cross.
Britseh, 27, Cookspur Street.
Tavsstock, Pinzza, Covent Garden (Gentlemen).
Bedford, 14, Piazsa, Covent Garden.
HazxelPs Exetor Hotel, 375, Strand
Arundel, Arundel Street, Strand.
Berners, Berners Steeet.
Inns of Court, 269, High Holborn
The Horse Shoe, Tottenham Court Road, close to Oxford Street
There are many others in the Strand and the adjoming streets;
some of which are of an mferior class
The hotels m the City are nearly all commercial, with moderate
prices, the following are the prmcipal
Rudler's, 133, Holborn Hull
Anderton’s, 164 and 165, Fleet Street.
Salsbury Hotel, Sahsbury Square, Fleet Street.
Guildhall, 22, Kmg Street, Cheapade
Queen's, St. Martin’s-le-Grand,
Albion, 153, Aldersgate Street.
Cathedral, 48, St. Paul's Churchyard
Bridge House, 4, Borough High Street, close to London Bridge
Castle and Faloon, 5, Aldersgate Street
Wood’s, Furmval’s Inn, Holborn
Green Dragon, 86, Bishopsgate Street.
Boarping-HoUsEs AND APARTMENTS
A wviator wishing to remam m London for a lengthened period,
will find 1t more economical to reside at a Boarding House than at
an hotel At these estabhshments the stranger pays a fixed sum per
week and®dines with the proprietor and other persons who may
be staymg at the house. But, if the visitor desires to be more nde-



4 RESTAURANTS AND DINING-ROOMS,

pendent and to dine at a restaurant, he would do better fo take
apariments in & private house. In the West End the best lodgings
are to be found in the streets leading out of Piccadilly, such as
Clarges Sireet, Duke Street, Dover Street, Sackville Street, and
Half-Moon Street. These, however, are of a superior class, and
are mom expensive than those m the neighbourhood of Russell or
Brunswick Square In several of the streets leading from the Strand
to the rver, apartments may almost always be found A stranger
seeking such accommodation 1s advised to apply to the nearest
house-agent 1 the district in which he wishes to take up his abode
rather than to enter unawares mto those houses where announce-
ments of ¢ apartments to let,” are displayed m the windows

RESTAURANTS AND DINING-ROOMS.

7 BOST of the dining-rooms at the West End are in Regent
Street and the Strand The followmg are the most
noted —

The Ontomm (Spiers and Pond), Piccadilly, Regent Circus Luncheon
bar Spacious dining-rooms and coffee room elaborately decorated.

8¢ James’s, 69 and 71, Regent Street, and 25, 26, and 28, Piccadilly A
special room for ladies.

The Burlngton (Blanchard’s), 169, Regent Street, corner of New Burling-
ton Street

The Pall Mall, 14, Regent Street, Waterloo Place.

Verrey's, 229, Regent Street. French cookery.

Kuhn's, 29, Hanover Street, Regent Street.

Blanchard's Restaurant, 5 and 7, Beak Street, Regent Street.

Café Royal, 68, Regent Street. Foreign cookery.

Gasety Restaurant, 343 and 844, Strand, next to the Gaety Theatre

Sumpson’s Dwan Tavern, 103, Strand.

The Albany, 190, Piccadilly 3 very reasonable

Bertolini’s, 32, St. Martin’s Street, Leicester Square

Blue Posts, 13, Cork Street, Piccadilly

The Horse Shoe, Tottenham Court Road, close to Oxford Streec, recently
enlarged, andaﬁmhevu'yneededwmmod.nontovmtorsm that
quarter of the city.
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Scotch Stores, 1224, Oxford Street, noar Regent Circus.

Car's, 265, Strand.

There are also good dining-rooms and luncheon-rooms at the South
Kensmgton Museum, and at the Victora and Charmg Cross Rail-
way Stations.

The principal City Dimng-rooms are chiefly old-estabhished and
well-known houses. Amongst the best may be classed—

The London Tavern, 123, Bishopsgate Street Within,

Crosby Hall (A. Gordon and Co ), Bishopsgate Street Within A fine old
Gothic hall, built 1n 1466, formerly the residence of Richard III, The
Banqueting Hall and Throne Room are most elegantly fitted up , a smok-
mg and chess room

The London, 191, Fleet Street, corner of Chancery Lane

The Holborn Restaurant (A. Gordon and Co ), 218, High Holborn A
magnificent dining-ball  Band plays during the eveming

Ludgate Hull Restaurant (Spiers and Pond), under the archways of the
London, Chatham, and Dover Railway, near Ludgate Station

Manswon House Restaurant (Spiers and Pond), at the Metropohitan Raal-
way Station (Mansion House), Cannon Street

The Oty Restaurant (A Gordon and Co), 34, Milk Street, Cheapside
A spacious buillding

Albon Tavern, 153, Aldersgate Street

Shyp and Turtle, 129 and 130, Leadenhall Street

The Woolpack, 6, St Peter’s Alley, Cornhill

Purssell’s, Finch Lane, Cornhull

Pymm’s, 3, 4, and 5, Poultry,

Gusldhall Tavern, 32 and 33, Gresham Street

Palmerston, Bishopsgate Street

The Cock, 41%, Cornhill

Sumpson’s, 38%, Cornhill

The Cock, 201, Fleet Street. Noted for chops and steaks

The Rawbow, 15, Fleet Street.

The Mitre, Miatre Court, Fleet Street

The Old Cheshure Cheese, 16, Wine Office Court, Fleet Street.

.

s Caris, PastrY Cooxs, OysTer SHOPS, &c.
Many of the West End restaurants combme cafés as well as dining.
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rooms, such as Verrey’s, Kithn's, Café Royal, the St. James's, and
the Criterion. The followng are also noted establishments =

Simpeon’s Csgar Divan, 101 and 102, Strand. Celebrated for chess-play-
mg. Haere entrance 18 obtained by payment of 1s., which mcludes a good
cigar and & cup of coffee

Evans'g Covent Garden (Supper Rooms).

Gatti's, Adelade Street and Villiers Street, Strand.
Ladies can obtan hght luncheons at—

Gunter's, Berkeley Square

Croft's, 188, Piccadilly.

Hliphwnstone’s, 227, Regent Street.

Bonthron’s, 106, Regent Street.

Peterywalskv's, 62, Regent Street.

Beadell's, 8, Vere Street, Cavendish Square.

Wither's, Baker Street.

Duolos’s, 86, Oxford Street (French).

Marshall's, West Strand.

Wolff’s, Ludgate Hill

Burck's, Cornhll

‘There are numerous oyster shops i the neighbourhood of the Haymarket ;
of these, Scott’s, 18, Coventry Street, 1s the best Rule’s, 35, Maiden Lane,
Covent Garden , Zynn's, 70, Fleet Street, Wtlton’s, 2, Ryder Street, St
James's ; Psmm's, 3, 4, and 5, Poultry, and Sweefsng’s, 159, Cheapside, are
also famous for their oysters and stout.

Strangers visiting London can always obtam hght luncheons
at the refreshment bars of the Metropohtan and District Railway
Stations, and at the principal bazaars

CABS AND CAB FARES

HERE are two descriptions of cabs m London, an ordinary

carriage which 18 commonly called a four-wheeler , and a

Hansom, a two-wheeled vehicle named after its inventor

Not much prase can be bestowed on the former, as they

are generally badly horsed, very rickety and uncomfortable convey-
ances, but those who are travellng with heavy luggageeare com-
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pelledtousethem. Hamoms,mtheoontnry are very comfortable
velcles, constructed to carry two persons, and are mvariably driven
very fast, m consideration of which the drivers generally expect
sixpence over thewr fare. The followng 1s the list of fares and laws
relatmg to hackney carrages —

Fazes By Diszaxce If hured snd discharged with the Four
Mile Circle, for any distance not exceeding twomiles . . .

And for every additional mile or part of anmle . .

If hired outssde the Four Mile Circle wherever duchurged fort.he
first and each succeeding mile or part of a mile . 1

If hired withun, but discharged outside, the Four Mile Cn-cle,

exceeding one mile, 1s , exceeding one mile, then for each mile
within the circle, 8¢ , and for each mile or part of a mle outside 10

Fares BY TiMp Inside the Four Mile Circle  Four-wheeled

O
oo &

(=]

cabs, for one hour or less, 28 Two-wheeled cabs . 2 6
For every additional quarter of an hour or part of & quarter, fom-
wheeled cab, 62 , 1f & two-wheeled cab o 8

If hired outudc the circle, wherever duchsrged for one honr or
less .

If above one honr, then for every qua.rter of an hour or leu .

If hired within, but discharged owtside, the Four Mile Circle, the
same

owN
[- ]

ExtrA PAYMENTS —Hirers of cabs should be partwular wn notwing

these regulations, as disputes gemerally arise from thew not being clearly
understood

‘Whether hired by distance or by time s d.
Luaeaae —For each package carried outaide the carrage . . 0 2
ExTtra PERsoNs For each above two . . . . 0 6
For each child under 10 years old . . 03

By distance-——waiting  for every 15 minutes completod—
If hired withun the Four Mile Circle, four wheels, 62 , two wheels 0 8
If hired without the circle, two or four wheels . . . . 0 8

GeENERAL REGULATIONS.—Fares are according to distance or time, at
the option of the hirer, expressed at the commencement of the hirmg; if
not otherwise expressed, the fare to be paid according to distance

Driver 18 not compelled to hire his carnage for a fare according to time,
at any hour after eight o’clock m the evening, or before six o’clock m the
mornng. ?
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Agreement to pay more than legal fare 18 not bindings uympud
beyond the fare may be recovered back

Driver not to charge more than the sum agreed on for driving a distance,
although such distance be exoeeded by the driver

If the driver agrees beforehand to take any sum less than the proper
fare, the penalty for exacting or demanding more than the sum agreed
upon 18 4Qs

The proprietor of every hackney carriage shall keep distinctly pamnted,
both on the mnside and outside, a table of fares ; and the driver shall have
with him, and when required produce, the Authorized Book of Fares.

Every driver of any hackney carrage shall, when hwred, delver to the
hirer & card printed according to the directions of the Commissioner of
Pohice

All property left m any hackney carriage shall be deposited by the driver
at the nearest police-station within twenty-four hours, 1f not sooner claimed
by the owner: such property to be returned to the person who shall prove
to the satisfaction of the Commussioner of Police that the same belonged to
him, on payment of all expenses mcurred, and of such reasonable sum to
the driver as the Commissioner shall award

The Four Mile Circle 18 an 1maginary circle drawn round London four
miles from the centre, which 18 Charing Cross

The ordmary cab 1s constructed to carry four persons inside and one
outside beside the driver

A Table of distances measured by the authority of the Commassioners
of Police unll be found at every cab-stand

OMNIBUSES AND THEIR ROUTES

ONDON 18 now traversed by such a network of omm-
bus lines that it would be useless to endeavour to ex-
plam the details of all the various routes. They run
at short imtervals during the day from eight o'clock in

the morming till midmght, the fares are all very reasonable, rang-
g from one penny to sixpence, rarely exceeding the latter amount,
except to the far—outlymmg districts. Every ommbus has the prncipal
localities through which 1t passes pamnted outside, and the wegulated
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hst of fares inmde;” The prmcipal centres m London from which the
ommbus routes diverge are—The Mansion House, Charing Cross,
Oxford Circus, and Piccadilly Circus

The following are the chief starting pomts, with the various
routes traversed therefrom ‘—

Bayewater and Nottng Hill —From the « Royal Oak ” along Ox{brd Street,
Holborn, and Cheapside, to London Bridge

From the “ Royal Oak” along the Marylebone Road, Euston Road,
past the Euston, Midland, and King's Cross Stations, Pentonwille, City
Road, to London Bridge

From the “Royal Oak” through St John's Wood, Regent’s Park,
to Camden Town

From the ¢ Royal Oak ” along Edgware Road, Park Lane, to Vic-
toria Station.

From Notting Hill along Bayswater Road, Oxford Street, Holborn,
Cheapside, Whitechapel, and Mile End Road (Some ommbuses start
from Starch Green and Shepherd’s Bush )

From Archer Street along Edgware Road, Oxford Street, Regent
Street, to Charing Cross

From Clarendon Road, Westbourne Grove, Edgware Road, Oxford
Street, Holborn, Cornhill, to Whitechapel

Blackwall —From Blackwall Stairs aleng Commercial Road, Leadenhall
Street, Cornhill, Cheapside, Fleet Street, Strand, Charing Cross, to
Piccadilly Circus

Briurton —From Brnxton Church along Kennington Road, Westminster
Bridge Road, Parhament Street, Charing Cross, Regent Street, to Ox
ford Street

From Brixton Church and from Brixton Rise, along Kennington
Park Road, < Elephant and Castle,” Borough, London Bridge, to Grace-
church Street.

Brompton —From the ¢ Queen’s Elm” along Brompton Road, Kmightsbridge,
Piccadilly, Regent Street, Euston Road, to Islngton and Holloway
Camberwell —From Camberwell Green along Walworth Road, ¢ Elephant

and Castle,” Borough, London Bridge, Gracechurch Street, to Shore-
ditch

Gamden Town —From the ¢ Britanma ” along Albany Street, Regent Street,
Charmg Cross, Strand, Waterloo Bridge, and Walworth Road for Cam-
berwell, and New Kent Road for Old Kent Road (Waterloo )

From Hampstead Road along Tottenham Court Road, 8t. Martin’s
Lan$, Charmg Cross, to Victora Station.
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Chelsea—From Cremorne Gardens along King's Road, Sloane Street,

Kmghtsbridge, Piccadidly, Strand, Fleet Street, Cheapside, Bank,
Street, Bethnal Gmn Road, to Old Ford. Also along
Moorgate Street to Hoxton.

Clepham.—From the ¢ Plough,” Clapham Common, through Stockwell, Ken-
nington, “ Elephant and Castle,” London Bridge, to Gracechurch Street.

Clapton.—From Lea Bridge Road along Mare Street, Hackney Road,
Bushoflagate Street, Bank, Cheapaide, Holborn, to Oxford Circus.

Hammersmsth —From the “ White Hart” through Kensington, Knights-
bridge, Piccadilly, Charing Cross, Strand, Fleet Street, St. Paul’s,
Cheapside, to the Bank.

—From Haverstock Hill along High Street, Camden Town,
Tottenham Court Road, to Oxford Street, and the Bank.

Holloway —From Hornsey Rise along Hornsey Road, Seven Sisters’ Road,
Holloway Road, Ishington, Gray’s Inn Road, Chancery Lane, Strand,
and Parliament Street, Victoria Street to Pimlico (Favounite )

From ¢ Nag’s Head " along Holloway Road, Ishngton, Goswell Road,
Alderagate Street, Cheapside, to the Bank

From Grove Road along Holloway Road, Islington, City Road,
Moorgate Street, to London Bridge

See also B

Islington —From New North Road slong City Road, Moorgate Street, Lon-

don Bridge, Borough, to Old Kent Road

From Barnsbury along Laverpool Road, Goswell Road, St. Paul’s
Churchyard, over Blackfriars Bridge, to Kenmngton

See also Brompton

Kennington —From Kennington Park along Kenmington Road, Weltmmster
Bridge Road, Parliament Street, to Charing Cross

See also Islmngton and Kentish Toun

Kensal Green —From Harrow Road along Bishop’s Road, Edgware Road,
Oxford Street, Holborn, Cheapside, to London Bridge

Kentssh Town —From the “ Castle” along St Pancras Road, Gray's Inn
Road, Holborn, Chancery Lane, Fleet Street, and Blackfriars Road, to

Xew Bridge —Many of the Hammersmith ommibuses extend thewr route
through Turnham Green to Kew Bridge
Kulburn —From the “ Cock” along Edgware Road, Oxford Street, and Re-
gent Street to Charing Cross.
From the “ Cock " along Edgware Road, Park Lane, and Grosvenor
Place, to Victona Station
From the “Cock” along Edgware Road, Oxford Street, Holborn,
Cheapside, Cornhill, and Leadenhall Street, to Tower Hill.
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Kwngsland,— ’s Pond Road along Kingsland Road, Shoreditch,
Bishopsgate Street, London Bridge, and the Borough, to ¢ Elephant and
Castle.”

Old Ford —From the “ Marqus of Cornwallis ” along Roman Road, Bethnal
Green Road, Bishopsgate Street and Threadneedle Street, to the Royal

Paddington.—See Bayswater.

Peckham.—From Peckham Rye along Camberwell Road, Wal¥orth Road
Borough, and London Bridge, to Gracechurch Street.

Pymlwo —From Warwick Street along Vauxhall Bridge Road, Victoria
Street, Parhament Street, Charing Cross, Strand, Fleet Street, and
Cheapaide, to the Bank

From Ebury Street, along Grosvenor Place, Piocadilly, Leicester
Square, Long Acre, Holborn, Cheapside, Bishopsgate Street, Bethnal
Green Road, to Old Ford.

See also Bayswater, Camden Town, Kilburn, and Stoke Newington,

Putney —From Putney Bridge (Middlesex side), along Fulham Road,
Brompton, Piccadilly, Strand, and Fleet Street, to London Bridge

Ruwckmond —From Richmond over Kew Bridge, through Turnham Green,
Hammersmith Broadway, Kensington, along Piccadilly, Strand,
Fleet Street, to St Paul’s Churchyard,

8¢, Jokn's Wood.—From ¢ Swiss Cottage,” Finchley Road, or *Princess of
Wales,” Abbey Road, along Wellington Road, Park Road, Baker
Street, Oxford Street, Holborn, and Cheapside, to London Bridge
(City Atlas)

From ¢ Swiss Cottage,” Finchley Road, or ¢ Princess of Wales,”
Abbey Road, along Wellington Road, Park Road, Baker Street, Ox-
ford Street, Regent Street, Parhament Street, Westmnster Bridge
Road, past the “Elephant and Castle,” to Camberwell Gate, or to
0Old Kent Road (Atlas).

South Hackney —From South Hackney along Victoria Park Road, Cam-
bridge Heath, Hackney Road, Shoreditch, Bishopsgate Street, to the
Royal Exchange

Stoke Neunngton —From Abney Park along Newmngton Green, Mildmay
Park, Essex Road, Gray’s Inn Road, Chancery Lane, Strand, Charmg
Cross, and Victoria Street, to Pimlico

Strafford and Bow —From Bow Road along Mile End Roed, Whitechapel
Cornhull, Cheapside, Fleet Street, Strand, Regent Street, to Oxford
Street.

Walham Green —From the ¢ White Hart ”” along Brompton Road, Kmghts-
bridge, Piccadilly, Charing Cross, Strand, Fleet Street, Cheapmde, to
Brogd Street.
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Wandeworth.—From Wandsworth Road along Albert Embankment, York
Road, Southwark Street, London Bridge, to Gracechurch Street.
Whatechapel —See Bayswater.

TRAMWAYS.

mRIEURING the past few years tramway cars have been in-
PSRN troduced mto London Tramways have been chiefly lad
down m the north, east, and south districts, and the cars
have several advantages over the omnibuses, as they run
at a cheaper rate, and travellng smoothly over the rails, are more
comfortable for passengers None, however, have been successfully
started m the West End on account of the strong opposition agamst
them, as except in very broad roads, they greatly impede the traffic

The following are the principal routes —

Kentish Town, Camden Town, and Euston Road.

Kentish Town, Camden Town, and King’s Cross

Holloway, Hampstead, and Euston Roads

Dalston Junction, Ishngton, and Aldersgate Street,

Holloway, Islington, and Moorgate Street

Finsbury Park, Ishngton, and Moorgate Street.

Highbury New Park, Newngton Green, and Moorgate Street

Stamford Hill, Stoke Newington, and Moorgate Street

Clapton, Hackney, and Moorgate and Aldersgate Streets

Stratford, Bow, Whitechapel, and Aldgate

Cambridge Heath, Mile End Road, Whitechapel, and Aldgate

Poplar, Commercial Road, Whitechapel, and Aldgate.

Victoria Park, Burdett Road, and Limehouse.

Greenwich (East), Deptford, Old Kent Road, Blackfriars Bridge, and
also to Westminster Bridge

New Cross, Peckham, and Westminster Bridge

Camberwell, Walworth Road, and Blackfriars’ Bridge

Camberwell, Kennington Oval, and Vauxhall Bridge

Brixton, Kennington, Blackfriars’ Bridge, and Westminster Bridge.

Clapham, Kenmington, and Westminster Bridge.

‘Vauxhall Bridge and Victoria Station.
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RAILWAYS—MAIN LINES.

HE GreaT NorTHERN —The terminus 15 at King's Cross,
Euston Road. It 1s the direct line to the north of Eng-
land and all parts of Scotland )

Trae GrEAT Easterx —The chief station 18 in Liver-
pool Street, It extends throughout all the Eastern Countaes, and has
commumcation with the Continent »24 Harwich The hne from Fen-
church Street station commumcates with the Docks

Sourm EasterN.—The city station 18 1 Cannon Street, and the
West End at Charing Cross It 18 one of the lmes for the south and
south-east of England, and has direct communication with all parts of
the Continent v:d Dover and Calais, and Folkestone and Boulogne

LoxpoN, CHATHAM, AND DovEr —The principal City station 1s on
the Holborn Viaduct, and the West End at Victoria, Pimhco It
extends along the north of Kent, and eommunicates with the Con-
tment 14 Dover and Calas

Loxpox, BrigrroN, axp SourH Coast —The City station 15 on
the south side of London Bridge, and the West End termim at
Victoria, Pimlico, and at Kensington It extends to the south coast,
and commumecates with France »2¢ Newhaven and Dieppe

Tae Loxpox Axp Sourm WxsTeERN —The terminus 18 near
Waterloo Bridge on the south side of the river It 1s the chief route
to the south-western and western parts of England and the Channel
Isles

Tre Grear WesterNy —The chief station 18 at Paddington
(Praed Street) It 1s the direct line to the western counties and
Wales

Tae Loxpox ANp Norta WesTeErN —The station s m Euston
Square, Euston Road It 1s one of the principal lines for the north
and north-western counties, also all parts of Ireland and Scotland

Tae Mioraxp —The prmcipal station s St Pancras, m the
Euston Road It extends mto the Midland Counties, and com-
municales with all parts of Scotland
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MzrrRoPOLITAN AND METROPOLITAN DisTRICT RAILWAYS.

M-8 N order to rehieve the streets of the over-crowding traffic,
v ‘(" an underground ralway has been most successfully car-
3 ’?}x\ ried out In consequence of the comfort in cold and
=t wet weather, and the cheapness of the fares, varymg
from one penny to one shilling, this line 18 greatly used by Londoners.

Trawns run every ten minules throughout the day
The following are the different stations —

Liverroor SteEer—For the Great Eastern Railway, the Broad
Street Station, the Bank, Royal Exchange, Stock Exchange, Mansion
House, the central part of the City, and the east end of London

MooraaTe StrREET—For Finsbury, Cheapside, Guildhall

Arpxrseate StrEer—For St Paul’s, General Post Office, Charter-
house, and Smithfield Meat Market Junction with the London,
Chatham, and Dover Railway

Farninaoon Srreer—For Clerkenwell, Holborn, and Newgate
Junction with London, Chatham, and Dover Railway

Kine's Cross—For Pentonville, Islmgton, and Agricultural Hall
Junction with the Great Northern and Midland Railways

Gower StrEET—Bntish Museum, Bloomsbury, London and North
Western Railway Station, Euston Square  Ommbuses m connection
with the railway run between this station and Camden Town

PorrLaNnD Roap—For the Zoological and Botanic Gardens, and
Regent's Park. Ommibuses 1n connection with the railway run from
this station to Regent Street and Piccadilly Circus

Baxer Streer—For the Regent's Park, Madame Tussaud’s Wax-
work Exhibition and Baker Street Bazaar. Change here for the St
Jokn's Wood line

» 8t Joux's Woop Roap—For Lord’s Cricket Ground, Regent’s
4 Park, and Primrose Hill

] MarLBoroucH Roap—For Eyre Arms and Finchley Road.
ag Swiss Corrace—For Belsize Park and Hampstead
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Epawark Roap—For Hyde Park, Marble Arch, and Kilburn Junc-
tion of the Mansion House, Addison Road, and Hammersmith trains
¢ Bisuor's Roap—For the Great Western Railway and Paddington
Rorxar Oax—For Westbourne Grove.
WxsTeoURNE PARE.—For Notting Hill and Westbourne Park
Norrixe HiLL—For Ladbroke Road and Kensington Park,
Latimer Roap—Junction for Kensington, Addison Raad

Uxsrinee Roap —For Shepherd’s Bush.,

KENSINGTON, ADDISON Roap—Junction with the Great
Western, and the London and North Western, and Lon-
don and South Western Railways

SuePHERD'S Busii—For Starch Green and Shepherd’s Bush
~  HaMMERsMITH—Change for Kew Gardens and Richmond.

Praep StrEET—For the Great Western Ralway, Paddington, and
Hyde Park
Queen's Roap—For Bayswater and Kensington Gardens
Norrine Hiur. Gare—For Notting Hill, Campden Hill, and Hol-
land Park
Kznsingrox, Hicr StrEer—For Kensington, the Palace and
Gardens, and Royal Albert Hall
GroucesTer Roap—For Brompton  Junction with the West
Brompton, Hammersmth, and Kensmgton lines
Earv's Court —Here the line diverges into three branches
(1) WesT BrompTON —Change here for Battersea and
Clapham Junction
(2) Norta Exp and HAMMERSMITH
(3) KensiNgToN, ApDI1SON RoAn,—Junction with the Great
Western, London and North-Western, London and South
‘Western, South Coast Railways
Sourm Ksnsineron—For the South Kensmgton Museum, the
Horticultural Gardens, Natural History Museum, India Museum,
Colonal Museum, Patent Museum, Royal Albert Hall, and south side
of Hyde Park and Kensington Gardens
Sroaxe Square—For Belgravia, Chelsea, and the Court Theatre
Vicroria—For the London, Chatham, and Dover, and London,
Brighton, and South Coast lines, Buckingham Palace, Hyde Park

Corner, and Piccadilly

Kensington and Hammersmith
Branches
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S1.J amne’ PAxx—TFor Bird Cage Walk, 8t James’s and Green Parks.
Weerminster Bripge — For Westmmster Abbey, Houses of
Parhament, Foreign and other Government Offices, Whtehall, Horse
Guards, Admiralty, St Thomas' Hospital, and Thames Embankment

Craring Cross—For the South-Eastern Raiway, Trafalgar
Square, Hat!onal Gallery, Pall Mall, Haymarket, the Strand, and Covent
Garden Market, and the followmng theatres—Haymarket, Covent
Garden, Vaudeville, Adelphi, Lyceum, and Charing Cross

Tre TempLe—For Somerset House, Temple, Chancery Lane,
Fleet Street, Strand, Temple Bar, Law Courts, and Gaety, Opera
Comique, Strand, Olympic, Drury Lane, Covent Garden, Queen’s, and
Globe Theatres

Bracxrriars—For the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway,
Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill, Fleet Street, and the Old Bailey

Maxsiox House—For 8t Paul's Cathedral, Guildhall, Bank,
Manmon House, Royal Exchange, the Monument, Billingsgate Market,
the Mint, and the Tower.

Between Liverpool Street and Edgware Road, and between the
Mansion House and Gloucester Road, a passenger has rarely to wait
more than two or three minutes should he demre to go to any of the
mtermediate stations

Metropolitan trams start about every twenty mmutes from Liver-
pool Street direct for Hammersmith, leaving the circle at Edgware
Road other tramns also branching off at Edgware Road pass through
Addison Road, Kensington, every half hour, and jon the circle agamn
at Gloucester Road, and so on to the Mansion House

The Great Western, the Midland, and the Great Northern all run
suburban trans along the Metropohitan lines to the City

From the Manson House, Metropolitan District trams run direct
to Hammersmith and West Brompton about four times in the hour,
both leaving the circle at Gloucester Road.

A steam ferry from London Brdge (Surrey mde) to Blackfrars
connects the South-Eastern districts with the District System

The North London Rarlway also runs trams every half hour from
the Mansion House to Broad Street, makmmg a wide circwit round the
west and north of London  They branch off at Gloucester Road
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and pass Earl's Court, Addison Road Kensington, Uxbridge Road,
to Willesden Junction, then through Kensal Green, Edgware Road,
Finchley Road, Hampstead Heath, Gospel Oak (for Highgate), Kentish
Town, Camden Town, Barnsbury, Highbury and Ishington, Canonbury,
Dalston Junction, Haggerston, Shoreditch to Broad Street

The London, Chatham, and Dover Metropolitan Eztemz.on unites
the southern with the northern part of London Trams run from the
Victora Station, Pimlico, about every ten munutes or a quarter of an
hour to Kentish Town, passing through the following stations —

Grosvenor Road, Camberwell, Holborn Viaduet,
Battersea Park, Walworth Road, Snow Hill,
‘Wandsworth Road, Elephant and Castle,  Aldersgate Street,
Clapham, Borough Road, Moorgate Street,
Brixton, Blackfriars Bridge Farringdon Street,
Loughborough Road, Ludgate Hill, King's Cross

Suburban Lanes on the North of the Thames, trams run frequently
shroughout the day —
Broad Street to Chalk Farm (trams every quarter of an hour)
» Poplar and Blackwall (every quarter of an hour)
» Richmond and Kew (trains about every hour)
King's Cross to Iighgate, Hornsey, Alexandra Park, Barnet, and
Edgware
Chalk Farm to Woolwich, »d Dalston, Canming Town, and Victoria
Docks
Laverpool Street or Fenchurch Street to North Woolwich, Hackney,
Clapton, Old Ford, and Stratford
St Pancras to Cricklewood, Hendon, and St Alban’s
Paddington to Ealing, Hanwell, Southall, Slough, and Windsor

On the” South London lne trams run from Victoria every quarter
»f an hour to London Bridge, passing the following stations —

Grosvenor Road, Loughborough Road,  Old Kent Road,
York Road, Denmark Hill, South Bermondsey,
Wandsworth Road, Peckham Rye, London Bridge

Clapham®Road, Queen’s Road,
c
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Victoria is also connected with London Bridge by another loop,
meking a larger ciremt through Clapham Junction, Crystal Palace,
and Sydenham  Frequent trams also run from Victoria and Holborn
Viaduct to the Crystal Palace high level station

Clmnng Cross 18 connected with Cannon Street by a short loop
line passmg Waterloo Junction, along which trams pass to and fro
every few minutes

STEAMBOATS

N¢R TEAMBOATS ply up and down,the Thames between
&)’ London Bridge and Chelsea every ten mmnutes throughout
the day at low fares, varying from 1d to 4d, and stop at
the following landing prers —

London Bridge Pier Lambeth Pier

8t. Paul's Pier Vauxhall Pier

Temple Prer Battersea Station Pier
Waterloo Pier Battersea Park Pier
Hungerford Pier. Chelsea Pier.
‘Westminster Bridge Pier Old Battersea Bridge Pier

Between the months of April and September steamers run to Kew
from Cadogan Pier, Chelsea, every half-hour, calling at Putney and
Hammersmith , and during the summer season there are boats from
London Bridge every Sunday and Monday for Richmond, Tedding-
ton, and Hampton Court (tade and weather permitting).

Below London Bridge the following are the landing piers —

Cherry Garden Pier Deptford Pier
Thames Tunnel Pier Blackwall Pier
Limehouse Pier Greenwich Pier,
Commercial Docks Pier ‘Woolwich Pier
Millwall Pier

Steamers run between Westmmster and Woolwich, caling at all
the mtermediate landing stages, every half-hour throughout the day
During the summer months boats leave Westminster for Rosherville,
Gravesend, Southend, and Sheerness. -
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POSTAL REGULATIONS

k(>N ONDON and 1ts environs are divided mto Eight Postal
kY2 Districts, each of which 15 treated, m many respects, as
) aseparate Post town The following are the names of
% the Districts, with theiwr abbreviations, viz

Eastern Central EC South Eastern . SE
Kastern E South Western SW
Northern N Western w

North Western .NW Western Central wce

By the addition of the mitials of the Postal District to the address of a
Jetter for London or 1ts neighbourhcod, increased security 1s afforded against
mus-delivery or delay, and the work of the Post Office 1s facilitated

Within the imits of the Eastern Central District there are daily twelve
deliveries, and within the Town himuts of the other Districts eleven deliveries,
each delivery within the Town lumits occupymg about an hour,

The portion of each District within about three miles of the General Post
Office 15 designated the Town Dehvery, and the 1emaimnder the Suburban
Delivery

There are six despatches daiy to the Suburban Districts, and the de-
liveries m these Districts begin from one to two hours after the time of
despatch, according to the distance from London, the deliveries m rural
parts of the more remote Suburban Districts being necessarily fewer than m
the towns and villages

The Night Mauls from London leave the General Post Office at 8 p m
and (with one or two exceptions) arrive at all important towns 1n England
und Wales 1n time for & Morning delivery, beginning before 9 o’clock

There 18 a Poste Restante both at the General Post Office, St Martin’s-le-
Grand, and at the Charmg Cross Post Office, where letters “to be called
for ”” can be obtamned between the hours of 9a m and 5 pm

All persons applying for letters at the Poste Restante must be prepared to
give the necessary particulars to the clerk on duty, to prevent mistakes and
to ensure the delivery of the letters to the persons to whom they properly
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belong If the letters be for a subject of the United Kingdom he must be
able to state from what place or district he expects them, and must produce
some proof of identification, and 1f he send for his letters, the messenger,
besides being furmished with this mformation, must have a written authority
to receive them  If the apphicant be a foreigner he must produce s pass-
port, orif he send for his Jetters the messenger must produce 1t. Subjects,
howeverf+of States not 1ssumg passports, are treated as subjects of the
United Kingdom

All Post Offices m the London District are closed on Sundays with the
exception of those which are open durmg certain hours for the receipt and
despatch of telegrams Letters, however, posted 1in London before 9 p m
on Saturday are forwarded to the travelling post offices, and reach their
several destimations n time for delivery on Monday morming  Letters
posted 1n the Pullar Boxes wnthin the Town lumuts, and wn some of the nearer
Suburbs, on Sundays, are collected early on Monday morning, in time for
the Morning Mails, and for the first London District delivery

TELEGRAPH REGULATIONS

The Telegraph Offices in London are, as a rule, open fiom 8 am
to 8 pm on week days, and from 8 am to 10 am on Sundays At
the following chief offices, however, there 1s attendance continuously
durmg the day and mght, both on week days and Sundays

Central Telegraph Station, St Martin’s le-Grand, E C

Moorgate Street Buldings, E C

Paddington Station (Great Western Railway Company’s Office), W
Victoria Station (London, Chatham, and Dover Railway), S W
‘West Strand, W C

The other prmeipal London Offices, viz —
Eastern District Office, Commercial Road East,
Northern District Office, Ishington,
North-western District Telegraph Office, Euston Square,
South-eastern District Office, Borough,
South-western District Office, Buckingham Gate,
Western District Office, Vere Street,
Western Central District Office, Holborn,
are open from 8 am till 11 pm , Sundays included, with the Jexception of
the Western District Office, which 1s open at 7 a m
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THREE WEEKS IN LONDON

24ZE have endeavoured to sketch out for the use of visitors,
Jif8 Routes for twenty-one days, embracing all the most 1m-
VR portant sights of London  These routes may be easly
PSR vared to suit the taste of individuals, and 1t 18 hoped
may, at all events, be found useful mn suggesting the best way of
economizing time

[ The easiest and best way of oblaining a general 1dea of the smpor-
tance of London 13 lo take a seat on an omnibus—if possible, next the
driver, who 18 usually well acquanted wnth all the public burldings—
and 1n this elevated position pass through some of the principal streets
If there be ladies in the party, the better plan 1s to take an open
carriage, which can be hired in any part of London at the rate of
2s 6d per hour ]

From the Mansion House to South Kensington—crossing Hyde
Park—and back by way of Ozford Street and Holborrn Viaduct —
At the Mansion House! we can, at all hours of the day, find a white
omnibus with the words “ Brompton ™ or “Putney " pamted m large let-
ters on the ssde  'While waiting at this spot, which may be called the
heart of the City, we see around us the Bank of England, completed
as 1t now 18 by Sir John Soane, and note that for security’s sake 1t
has no external windows, the new Royal Exchange, built by Wilham
Tite, and opened by Queen Victoria in 1844, the church of St Mary
Woolnoth, at the corner of Lombard Street, the Mansion House, the
residence of the Lord Mayor durmg Iis year of office, built by George
Dance m 1741 , and the opening of the new Queen Victoria Street,
which leads past the Mansion House Station of the Metropolitan Dis-
trict Railway (underground) down to the Victoria Embankment

The ommbus passes through a narrow street called the Poultry to
Chespside  On the right, a short distance up King Street, we see
the Guildhall—ongmally built n 1411—and on the left, one of Wren's

! T¥®e principal buildings are described elsewhere See Index
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masterpieces, the church of St Mary-le-Bow  The tower is 235 feet
high; the dragon on the top 1s 9 feet long Bow bells have been
famous smce the days of Dick Whittington =~ Near the bronze statue
of Sir Robert Peel we enter 8t Paul's Churchyard, and have the
finest possible view of the great cathedral from nearly every
pomt @omg down Ludgate Hill we pass St Martin’s Church,
the street called the Old Baiey mn which stand the Central Criminal
Court and the grim walls of Newgate,, and under the railway bridge
of the London, Chatham, and Dover lme, to Ludgate Circus, on
our right 18 Farnngdon Street— note the tall new bwlding, the
Nonconformist Memorial Hall on the site of the old Fleet Prison,
and at the end of the view Holborn Viaduct; on our left 1s Bridge
Street, leading to Blackfriars Bridge and the Victoria Embankment
Pursuing our way up Fleet Street we see on our left St Brde'’s
Church—one of Wren's best—and on our right, Fetter Lane, the old
buildings on the west side were erected before the gieat fire of London
m 1666, which extended westward no further than this street

St Dunstan’s Church 18 on the same sde, and Chancery Lane,
nearly opposite are a few ancient houses still remaining, one of
which 18 stated to have been a palace of Henry VIII  An arch-
way under this bulding conducts to the “Temple,” with 1ts mag-
nificent Early Enghsh church Passing under Temple Bar which
must soon be removed, we enter the Strand and see the foundations
for the immense cluster of buildings which are to form the new Palace
of Justice, of which Mr Streetis the a1chitect, and pass Wren’s church
of St Clement Danes Here 1s a peal of bells, which chime mernly
at certamn hours of the day, as the old nur<ery rhyme reminds us—

¢ Oranges and lemons,
Say the bells of St Clement’s ”

Down Arundel Street and Noifolk Street on our left we get bright
glimpses of the Thames, on our right we see the church of St Mary-
le-Strand, and on our left King's College and Somerset House, the
ongmal building was the residence of the Protector Somerset, and
fell to the Crown after his execution m 1552 It was dumolished
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10 1775, and the present edifice was erected by Sir Wilham Chambers,
1t 18 devoted to the accommodation of various government offices—
Stamps, Taxes, & The Wills which were formerly located at
Doctors’' Conmimons are now stored here The Gaety Theatre 13 at
the corner of Catherine Street nearly opposite  From the open space
we now reach, we see on our left Waterloo Bridge , and on our mght,
the Lyceum Theatre at the corner of Wellington Street, and Dext pass,
on our right, Exeter Hall, Southampton Street, leading up to Covent
Garden Market, the Adelphi Theatre , Charing Cross Hospital at the
corner of Agar Street, and at the end of the Strand the fine church of
St Martin-m-the-Fields, built by Gabbs at the begmning of the last
century. On the left 18 the Charing Cross Hotel and Railway Station,
with the beautiful copy of the Eleanor Cross in front Vilhers Street,
by the side of the hotel, leads down to the Victoria Embankment, and
one of the stations of the Metropohtan Railway

A few yards further on, the omnibus stops in Trafalgar Square—
one of the most important positions m London On the left stood
Northumberland House, lately pulled down ,a wide street now gives
access to the Embankment, and we get one of our finest views of the
river A lhttle further on 1s the old bronze equestrian statue of
King Charles I by Hubert Le Sceur. It was cast m 1623, but
not erected till after the 1estoration of Charles II This 18 Charmg
Cross, the site of the last cross erected by Edward I to Queen Eleanor
Down the wide street to the left, Whitehall, may be seen the Victoria
and Clock Towers of the Houses of Parhament, and the Towers of
Westminster Abbey, the Horse Guards, the Admiralty, and the
magnificent Government bulldings In the middle of the square 18
the Nelson Column by Railton, erected in 1848, surmounted by a
statue of Lord Nelson, by E H Baily The four colossal bronze
lions at the base were modelled by Sir Edwin Landseer At the
north of the square 1s the National Gallery, built in 1838, and at
the NE corner stand the portico and tower of St Martin-in-the-
Fields At the N'W corner 1s the College of Physicians  Going
through Cockspur Street, by the side of Wyatt's equestiian statue
of George III , a view 1s gamed of Pall Mall, the omnibus usually
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turns up the Haymarket, passing, at the corner, Her Majesty’s
Theatre, which has been shut up for several years, and on the rght
the Haymarket Theatre, turming to the left at the top of the hill,
we see Spiers and Ponds’ new restaurant and theatre, ¢ the Criterion,”
and enter Piccadilly,! by Regent's Circus, at Swan and Edgar's
corner. t?usmg on, we see on the left the Museum of Practical
Geology , and St. James's Church, built by Sir Christopher Wren
m 1684, and on our right New Burlington House, bwlt by Banks
and Barry, and completed mn 1874, the Royal Academy Exhibition
and the Exhibition of Ancient Masters are annually held here, and
there are Rooms for the meetings of many learned societies, including
the Royal Society, the Linnean Society, and the Chemical Society
At the back, with 1ts front in Burhngton Gardens, stand the offices
of the University of London, designed by Pennethorne, this 1s a
very handsome building of the Palladian style of architecture, orna-
mented with statues of celebrated men by our best sculptors

Passing Burhngton Arcade, Bond Street, and Albemarle Street
on our nght, and the Egyptian Hall and St James’s Street on the left,
the old gateway of St James’s Palace will be observed, facing up the
street, and we come to the Green Park On the east mde of the
Park are the mansions of the Marquis of Salisbury, Earl Spencer,
the Earl of Ellesmere, and the Duke of Sutherland , to the south may
be seen over St James’s Park the towers of the Houses of Parliament
and Westmmster Abbey, and if the day be clear the glass roof of
the Crystal Palace at Sydenham, ghitterng in the sun, as we go
further on we have a good view of Buckingham Palace, and when her
Majesty 18 m London, the Royal Standard will be flying  The first
mansions on the right, opposite the Green Park, are Devonshire
House, and at the corner of Stratton Street, Lady Burdett Coutts’,
then follow Bath House, Lord Ashburton’s the Naval and Mihtary
Club, standing a httle back, where Lord Palmerston ived , Hertford
House, the St James’s Club, Cambridge House, at the corner of

! Probebly from piwckadiles, stiff collars worn 1n the early part of the
seventeenth century, and which were made by one Higgmns, a tailor, wno
made & large fortune and built Piccadilly m the time of James I
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Park Lane; Hamilten Place , the mansion of Baron Lionel Roths-
child, and at the corner of Hyde Park, the Duke of Wellington’s
town residence, Apsley House  Opposite 18 an equestrian statue
of the duke, surmounting the arch, under which there 1s, in the sea-
son, a continuous stream of carriages passing up and down Constitu-
tion Hill The street by the arch 13 Grosvenor Place, in which
have been recently built some of the finest mansions m London, at
the corner stands St George's Hospital

As we pass along we see, 1 the season, crowds of people in Hyde
Park, the roadway thronged with carriages, Rotten Row gay with
ladies and gentlemen on horseback, and the foot-paths crowded
with pedestrmans, the whole scene enhanced by the acres of beau-
tiful shrubs and flowers which the Board of Works have so gra-
clously given us during the last few years Passmg the Alexandra
Hotel on our left we next come to the tall mansions at Albert Gate,
the first of which 1s the residence of the French Ambassador, and cross-
mg the entrance to Sloane Street at Kmghtsbridge Green, where we
see Tattersall's celebrated club-rooms and horse-mart, we drive
down Brompton Road and stop opposite the little mn, the Bell and
Horns  Noting Brompton Church and the Roman Cathohce Oratory
on the night, let us descend from our seats! and walk on past the South
Kensington Museum this 1s at present m an unfinished state, but
1t has the most valuable collection of works of decorative art in the
world, and 1s well worth a day's visit Turning up Exlbition Road
(close by the South Kensmgton station of the Underground Rail-
way) we see on our left a large building now being erected for the
Natural History Collectron of the British Museum, and further on
the entrance to the Royal Horticultural Gardens, and the series of
buildings erected for the International Exhibitions, now partly occu-
pred by the India Museum The grand structure on the right,
decorated with terra-cotta ornament, 138 the Science School of the
Science and Art Department At the top of Exhibition Road we may
notice a fine Elizabethan house, designed by Norman Shaw, close

' We nlw propose a walk of about a mile and a half  If this be objected
to, a cab had better be taken from the cab rank here
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behind it stand the Royal Albert Hall, celebrated for its concerts,
and the new building for the School of Music

Entering Hyde Park by Prince’s Gate, at the north end of Exhibi-
tion Road, we have a fine view of the Albert Memorial, on the right
18 the turning at the end of Rotten Row 'We now come to Kensmg-
ton Gardgns Crossmng by Renme'’s bridge we have beauntiful views
of the Serpentine on either side, and on a fine day when the water
18 covered with boats and the banks hined with spectators, these are
most interesting and charming scenes The great care that 1s now
taken with our parks 18 nowhere more visible Pursuing our way
we pass the Powder Magazine, and a little farther on get, down a
long avenue of elms, a pleasing ghmpse of old Kensington Palace,
where the Queen hived when a child Soon afterwards we leave the
park by Victoria Gate, and enter the Bayswater Road

There we again take our seats on an ommbus (gomng to the right),
and passing Hyde Park Terrace and other mansions of Tyburma,
soon come to the Edgware Road, at the west corner of which
“ The Tyburn Tree ” formerly stood, and on our rght notice as an-
other entrance to Hyde Park, the Marble Arch which was origmally
placed m George IV’s time opposite Buckingham Palace We
now enter Oxford Street and continue for two or three miles through
a crowded thoroughfare Passing Audley Street, Bond Street, and
Hanover Gate on our right, and Orchard Street, Stratford Place, Vere
Street, and Cavendish Street on our left, we reach Oxford Circus, the
Junction of Oxford Street and Regent Street The church at the
end of the view on the left 1s All Souls, Langham Place, and close by
1t 18 the now celebrated Langham Hotel ~Travelling still along Ox-
ford Street we pass the Princess's Theatre and come to Tottenham
Court Road by Meux's Brewery, and then along New Oxford Street,
at the end of which we see St George's Church, Bloomsbury, built
by Hawksmoor = We are now mn Holborn, and passing the Inns
of Court Hotel ; the north end of Chancery Lane, the spot where
Holborn Bars once stood, at the foot of Gray's Inn Lane, some
excellent specimens of old London houses on our right, and Fur-
mval's Inn on our left, we come to the Holborn Vialuct over
Farringdon Street, erected by the City at a gieat cost to save the
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terribly severe hills, Helborn Hill and Snow Hill, which were so often
the scene of accidents

Past the viaduct we see on our left St Sepulchre’s Church, one
of the largest in London, and down Gultspur Street, the new Smith-
field meat-market, and on our right the gramite walls of Newgate
Prison Passing on through Newgate Street we find Christiy Hospital
School and the New and Old Post Office bulldings 'We here enter
Cheapsmde by the statue of Sir Robert Peel, and complete the round
of the primcipal streets of London, which we have accomphshed at
the cost of one shilling!

Ozford Circus Regent Street to the Elephant and Castle, and over
London Bridge to the Mansion House

The Oxford Street Circus, which joins with Regent Street, 13 one
of the busiest positions of the West End The stream of carriages
and pedestrians 1s continuous throughout the day, and gives the visitor
to London a fair 1dea of the traffic which 1s constantly gong on

If we mount an Atlas ommibus, gomng southward, 1t will take us
down the best part of Regent Street, passing some of the largest
and finest shops m London, St James’s Hall, one of the best
concert rooms 1n Londun, to the County Fire Office, where the street
turns abruptly to the mght Crossing Piccadilly, and descending the
hill, we have Regent Street Chapel on our right, and the Pall Mall
Restaurant and the Junior Umited Service Club on our left At the
bottom of the hill 18 Waterloo Place with the Memorial to the Guards
who fell in the Crimea 1n the mmddle of the square, and towermng m
fiont 18 the Duke of York’s column Here we reach Pall Mall, the
club-house at the mght-hand corner 1s the Athenaum, next come
the Travellers’, the Reform, and the Carlton Further on are the
Army and Navy, the Oxford and Cambndge , and the Guards, and
beyond them Marlborough House and St James's Palace

The large club-house on the left side of Waterloo Place 1s the
United Service, we pass the doors as we proceed along Pall Mall to
Cockspur Street where we reach Trafalgms Squaie The ommbus now
goes dowd? the fine street known as Whitehall, passing on the right the
Admiralty, the Hoise Guards, the Treasury, and the new Government
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Offices, and on the left Tnigo Jones's famous Banquetting Hall of
‘Whitehall Palace, now a Royal Chapel

Through Parliament Street we arrive at the most magmficent
part of London St Margaret's Church and grand old Westminster
Abbey are on our right, and immediately before us stand the New
Houses ofs Parhament with the splendid Victoria Tower rismg 840
feet mto the air Turning to the left we have a good view of
the Clock Tower as we cross Westmmster Bridge, and when
half-way over we can by looking back see the whole length of
the river front of the Parhament Houses Opposite stands the new
St Thomas’s Hospital, and higher up the river old Lambeth Palace
Gomng along Westminster Bridge Road, we leave Astley's Theatre on
our right, and soon come within sight of Bethlehem Hospital (for the
msane), and passing St George’s Cathedral (Roman Catholic) and the
Blind School, arrve at the well-known 1n, the Elephant and Castle,
where we must descend, and if so minded we can walk a few yards
to see Mr Spurgeon’s Tabernacle

Numerous omnibuses run from the Elephant and Castle to the City,
let us mount on one, and travellng up Newmgton Causeway and
High Street, Southwark, we see the old church of St Mary’s Overy
(now called St Saviour’s) on our left, and the London Bridge Railway
Station on our right We here reach the Thames and passing over
London Bridge have & fine view of St Paul's and the huge Cannon
Street Railway Station on our left, and the Monument, the Custom
House, and the Tower of London, with forests of shipping lymng
between them, on the right Leaving Fishmongers' Hall on the left,
and the colossal statue of Wilham IV , the omnibus will probably go
up Gracechurch Street, in which case we had better descend at the
corner of Cornhill, and passing by St Michael's Church, we shall
quickly find ourselves at that great centre, the Mansion House

St Pauls Cathedral '—A morning may well be devoted to the mn-
terior of this vast cathedral Service commences at 10 am  If the
visitor has spare time afterwards, let im walk down Cannon Street,

LD
' All the important buildings are more fully described  See Index
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and look at the maghificent new warehouses, then turning to the nght,
go down the new Queen Victoria Street to the Victoria Embankment

Westminster Abbey —Service commences at 10 am and 3 pm
Afier 1t 13 over a verger will take visitors into the chapels The nave
and transepts are open to the public between the services  Close by
18 Westmmster Bridge, whence fine views may be obtaued of the
Embankment and the Bridges on one sde, and of the river front of
the Houses of Parhament, and of St Thomas's Hospital and Lambeth
Palace on the other The Westminster Station of the Metropolitan
Railway 1s close by.

The British Museum, Great Russell Street —Open free on Mon-
days, Wednesdays, and Fridays from 10 tll 6, on Saturdays from 12
till 6 during the summer months It will take many hours to go
over all the galleries, and nothing else should be attempted on that
day  Ommnibuses along Oxford Street pass Museum Street close by

South Kenswington Museum, Cromwell Road —Open free on
Mondays, Tuesdays, and Saturdays, and on payment of 6d on Wed-
nesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays It will take several hours to go
over the whole of the collections There 1s an excellent refreshment-
room, where dinners may be had from 12 till 4, and a “ gnll-room,”
where chops may be had at any time If at the close of the day
the visitor has time to spare, 1t can be well spent in the Horticultural
Gardens, or the National Portrait Gallery, or the East India Museum
1 Exhibition Road close by The Brompton and Putney line of
ommbuses which pass through Fleet Street, the Strand, Tiafalgar
Square, and Piccadilly s and the omnibuses from Islington to Bromp-
ton, which pass through Regent Street and Piccadilly, all stop at the
Bell and Horns, close by the museum

The Houses of Parlhiament —Open on Saturdays by order of the
Lord Chamberlan, to be obtamned at the office 1 the court by the
Victoria Tower During the hearing of appeals the House of Lords
13 open to the public till 4 pm  Westminster Hall adjomns, and if the
courts of law are sitting visitors are allowed to enter

The Tbwer of London, on Tower Hill, at the East end of London
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must, of course, be visited It 18 open free on. Mondays and Satur-
days On other days on payment of 64 The Tower 18 not quite
a mile to the east of the Mansion House Station of the Metropolitan
Railway

The National Gallery, Trafalgar Square Open free on Mondays,
Tuesday®, and Saturdays from 10 till 6 Now contains the finest col-
lection of pamntings m England Catalogues of the Foreign and Eng-
hsh Schools, giving much valuable information, may be had at 1s each

The Ezhibition of the Royal Academy, Burlington House, Piccadilly,
18 open daily from May to July Admssion 1s , catalogue, 1¢

Tke City —The Mansion House, the Royal Exchange, the old
Guldhall, at the end of King Street, m Cheapside, the immense new
Meat Market, which stands on the site of old Smathfield , and Billings-
gate Fish Market are all worth visitng

The Parks '—A day may be enjoyed m strolling through the West-
end Parks, entering St James's Park by Spring Gardens mn Trafalgar
Square, or by the steps by the Duke of York’s Column, we can walk
along the banks of the lake, and get fine views of the new Foreign
Office, with the towers of the Houses of Parliament and Westmimster
Abbey belind 1t Further to the west 13 Buckmgham Palace, and
gomg up Constatution Hill, and under the archways, we arrive at Hyde
Park and Kensington Gardens

The Zoological Gardens, at the north of the Regent's Park, are
open daily Entrance, 1s, on Mondays, 64 A day may faurly be
devoted to this, the largest collection of ammals m the world, the
walk back through the Regent’s Park along the celebrated Broad Walk
to the Marylebone Road 1s full of mnterest The Waterloo omnibuses
which pass through Regent Street, stop at the York and Albany,
about four mmutes’ walk from the new entrance m Albert Road

The Crystal Palace, at Sydenham, may be reached by two rail-
ways from Victoma Station (the high level line, belonging to the
London, Chatham, and Dover Company, 1s preferable), ang from the

! The important parks and gardens are more fully described  See Index
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Ludgate Hill or Charing Cross Stations, or any stations of the Metro-
politan Railway. Admission, 1¢ ; Mondays, 64

Dulunch Picture Gallery, open free from 10 to §.—~Trams run
every half-hour from Victoria Station or Ludgate Hall Station.

Alezandra Palace and Park, Muswell Hill, Hornsey5—By rail-
way from the Great Northern Station or any Station of the Metro-
politan Railway. The first palace erected was burned down in 1878,
within a few weeks of 1ts opening  Admussion, 1s

Richmond Hill —The most direct way 1s to take the tramn from
Waterloo Bridge, but the “Railway Gude " will show several roads
to Richmond The view from the hill 18 one of singular beauty and
interest A dmve round the park, or a row up the river past Eel-
pre Island at Twickenham to Teddmgton Lock, will help to pass a
pleasant day

Kew Gardens may be seen on the same day as Richmond There
are three lines of rallway—one from the Richmond platform of the
Waterloo Station, by what 18 called the “loop hne;” another from
the same station through Addison Road, or from any of the Metro-
pohitan Stations, and the thud from Broad Street, through Highbury,
Hampstead, Finchley Road, &c. The gardens are open, free, at 1
o'clock , on Sundays at 2 o'clock.

Hampton Court Palace!—The direct route 1s from Waterloo
Station through Wimbledon and Surbiton  Those who do not object
to a two-mile walk through the celebrated chestnut avenue m Bushey
Park can go to Teddington, two stations beyond Richmond, and return
v26 Hampton Court Station, or vice versé  The State apartments are
not open on Fridays Saturday 1s the best day for Hampton Court.
The Galleries are open on Sundays after 2 o'clock

Windsor Castle—By the Great Western Raidway from Padding-
ton Station or the South-Western fiom Waterloo Tickets to view
the State apartments may be obtamned of Messrs Colnagh, 14, Pall
Mall East, Mr Mitchell, 85, Old Bond Street, or Mr Dufour, 17a,
Great Ggorge Street, Westmmster, when Her Majesty 18 not 1n resi-

! All the palaces are more fully described  See Index
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dence on Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays. Hours of
admission from 11 a.m.to 4 p.m. from 1st Apnl to 31st October,
and from 11 a.m. to 8 pm. from 1st November to 81st March.

Buraham Beeches.—A favourite resort for pic-nic parties. By
Great Westem Railway to Slough, thence by carriage—plenty are
generally t be had—to Stoke Pogis Church (near the “ivy-mantled
tower” Gray les buried), and through a charming country to the
Beeches

Marlow Woods — Another favourite resort for pic-mes. By
Great Western Railway to Taplow, thence on foot about a mile to
Maidenhead Bridge, where boats of all kinds are to be had. Row up
the niver past Chefden Woods (now the Duke of Westmnster’s) to
Cookham, where there 1s a pretty httle mn, then on to the Quarry
‘Woods, near Marlow

Greenwich Hospital and Park. — A day may be pleasantly
spent by taking a steamer from one of the landing stages at the
Embankment, and gomg down the river to Greenwich, to see the
pamntings, relics, and models of ships m the hall of Greenwich Hos-
pital, and in strolling about Greenwich Park  The * Ship ” and other
hotels by the river side are celebrated for their white-bait dinners

Evemings —All the daily papers give announcements of concerts,
operas, theatres, &c , 1n which the performances are, of couse, con-
stantly varied. Madame Tussaud’s Exlubition of Waxwork figures,
88, Baker Street (all the Atlas ommbuses pass the door), 18 worth
a visit, and the Polytechme Institution, 809, Reger® Street

Sundays may be devoted to the services at St Paul's Cathedral
(10 30 a.m.) , Westmunster Abbey (10 a.m ), the Temple Church;
the Foundlng Hospital n Guldford Street, Russell Sqnare A
description of the prmeipal London Churches may be found further
on, See INDEX.

The Soane Museum, on the north side of Lincoln's Inn Fields, and
the Museum of the College of Surgeons, on the south side, the
Geological Museum m Jermyn Stiect ; the Unsted Service Jpstrtutron
Museum 1 Middle Scotland Yard, Whitehall, and the East India Mu-
seum, now in Exhibition Road, South Kensington, are all worth a visit
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Covent GardenMarket, up Southampton Street, in the Strand,
the Victoria Embankment and 1ts Gardens; and the Temple Gardens,
are all of easy access, and may help to wile away a pleasant hour,

Hyde Park 18 one of the most attractive sights of London on a
summemMs afternoon, mn the height of the season Between five and
seven o'clock the exhilarating sight of the crowd of carriagés, nders,
and well-dressed pedestrians cannot be surpassed m the world

The Crystal Palace on a Saturday afternoon, or a Flower Show at
the Royal Horticultural or the Botamc Gardens, will give a fair 1dea
of London fashionable Iife out of doors, and a Sunday afternoon at
Greenwich Park or Battersea Park will convey a tolerable 1dea of the
habits and customs of ¢ the people ”

Highgate and Hampstead —A day may be very pleasantly passed
on these “northern heights,” whence fine views of London and the
surrounding country may be obtamed

Harrow-on-the-Hull, celebrated for 1ts church and schools, 18 easily
accessible The view from the churchyard over Harrow Weald 1s
very extensive Windsor Castle may often be seen

St Alban’s 18 within an easy distance The abbey, one of the
oldest in England, 18 particularly interesting

Ezcursions by steam-boat to Greenwich, Gravesend and Rosher-
ville Gardens, to Margate or Ramsgate, or up the river to Kew
Gardens or Richmond, returning if desirable by railway, may help
to diversify a visit and afford relief from the busy scenes of London

Knole Park, the seat of the Honourable Mortimer Sackville West,
near Sevenoaks (South Eastern Railway), and Hatfield Park, the
seat of the Marqus of Sahsbury (Great Northern), are each well
worth a visit The Parks are open to the public, but entrance to
the mansions can only be obtamed by order
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STAGE COACHES.

{§ Wycombe, Samnt Albans, Sevens Osaks, Virgima Water
® and Hampton Court and Wimndsor The coaches nearly
all start between 10 and 11 a m from the White Horse Cellar, Picca-
dully, where seats can be booked and full particulars obtaned



Parr IL—GENERAL SURVEY OF LONDON.

HISTORIC NOTES

s P> QT the early hustory of London very little 18 known We
'\1 ©\\ may be sure that a town existed on this spot long

Y before the Christian era, for Tacitus mentions it as a
* place of much commerce by the name of Longidinium,
and speaks of the revolt of the Iceni, o.p 61 Under the Roman
emperors 1t was the residence of the governor of the 1sland, and
1n the time of Constantine (about o 0 300) a Mint was established
The old wall, with 1ts fifteen towers, traces of which still remain,
was built by Theodosus, the Roman governor

In the smixth century London became the capital of the kingdom
of Essex, and i the seventh century Zthelberht, King of Kent,
who had been converted to Christiamty by Augustine, erected a
church to St. Paul on the site of the present building and early
m the same century Sebert, King of Essex, built an abbey church to
St Peter on the site of the present Westmmster Abbey

We have little record of the city or 1ts mhabitants, except m
Chaucer's tales, till the beginning of the sixteenth century, when we
are told “ the streets were very foul and full of pits and sloughs,
very perldous and noyous as well for all the king's subjects on
horseback as on foot” ZAthelberht’s St Paul's was burnt down
durmg the reign of Wilham the Conqueror, and a new cathedral was
shortly after erected m 1ts place by Bishop Maurice This building,
1t 18 smd, Sovered three and a half acres of ground The entire
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length was 690 feet, and when, in the year 1221, m the time of
Henry IIT, a spire was added to the tower, 1t reached to the height
of 493 feet It contammed many splendid tombs, and among the
most remarkable was the shrme of the canonized bishop St Erken-
wold, and the tomb of “ time-honoured Lancaster,” John of Gaunt.
The spire was mjured by Lghtning m 1444 and agam m 1561, when

i 1] Gl

OLD SAINT PAUL’S

1t was unfortunately burnt down  An old map of London by Ralph
Aggas, published m Elizabeth’s reign, about 1563, shows the cathedral
without the spire It 1s surrounded by thousands of houses, which
are chiefly built within the city walls; these, begmning at the Tower,
reached round by Alde-gate and Bishop’s-gate to Finsbury Fields,
and by More-gate and Criple-gate to Grey Friars (near Laittle
brittamne), thence southward to Lud-gate, and then to the Fleete river.
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Beyond the river, which then ran down what is now Farringdon
Street, and over which there were two bridges, Fleete Bridge and
Holbourne Bridge, there was a considerable sprmkling of houses
along Fleete Street, and reachmg as far north as Ely Place, Hol-
bourne and Clerken Well Beyond Temple Bar the Strand was
evidently devoted to the arstocracy Houses with large .gardens

Ty
IROSS STR0S

THE TOWER OF LONDON IN THE SIXTEENTH CENTURY

which looked mto the fields, are marked out on the north side, and
all along the south side were mansions with gardens running down to
the Thames Records of these still remain m the names of White
Fryers, the Temple, Paget Place, Arundel Place, Somerset Place,
the Savoye, and Yorke Place Beyond these came Charing Crosse,
and then® our forefathers went under Holbem’s gateway to
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Henry VIII ’s palace of Whitehall and to Westmmster Hall and the
Abbey. Lambeth Palace 18 seen on the Surrey side of the river,
and a row of houses reached from opposite White Fryers some way
past St. Mary Overy’s and London Bridge All beyond these was
open fields, with an occasional church and cluster of houses

il s

THE FIRST ROYAL EXCHANGE

The first Royal Exchange, founded by Sir Thomas Gresham, was
opened by Queen Elzabeth m 1571, durmg the following reigns
London imcreased largely m extent In the next century, n 1665,
the great plague broke out, which carried off many thousands of
the mhabitants This was only stopped by the great fire of 1666,
which burned down the cathedral and 18,000 houses

The only bmldings of importance now standing which existed be-
fore the great fire are Westmnster Hall, rebuilt by Richard II
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Westmmster Abbeg, by Henry IIT, and its splendid chapel by
Henry VII , the Temple Church, lately restored, and St Mary
Overy’s, now called St Saviowr’s, close by London Bridge.

The end of the seventeenth century saw the rise of a new city.
8t Paul's Cathedral, the Monument, Bow Church, St Michael’s
Cornlull, 8t Dunstan’s-m-the-East, St Stephen’s Walbrook, St.
Bride's, 8t. James’s Piceadilly, and many other public bm]dﬁgs were
erected by Sir Christopher Wren, and the town extended itself

OLD LONDON BRIDGL

much further westward by the additions of Soho Square and Golden
Square and their neighbourhoods

In 1700 Old Bond Street was built, n the mdst of fields and
lanes, and before 1720 Hanover Square and Cavendish Square came
mto existence About this time also the churches of St George
Bloomsbury, St Martin’s-in-the-Fields, and St George Hanover
Square (1742), were erected

It was not till the middle of the eighteenth century that any
great mmp#ovements were attempted in the streets. About that
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time 1 lamps were hghted at might, proper footpaths were lad
down, and scores of old sign-posts and other nusances were re-
moved from the public way. The present Somerset House, designed
by Sir Wilhiam Chambers, the Adelph, Stratford Place, and part of
Portland Place were built, and part of Fitzroy Square

The bgginnmg of the present century saw vast improvements
Gas lamps ht up the streets at mght (an 1807) , Regent Street took
the place of a cluster of mean houses, Covent Garden Theatre was
erected, Waterloo Bridge, Southwark, and New London Bridge
spanned the mver, and before the first quarter of the century had
elapsed, London must have presented the most civilized appearance
of any city, n the world, for Pars at that time retamned all its
primitive abominations.

In the second quarter of the present century arose the terraces
m the Regent's Park, Hyde Park Terrace, Carlton Terrace, Belgrave
Square, the Post Office m St Martin's-le-Grand, the new Royal
Exchange, the British Museum, National Gallery, Lincoln’s Inn
Hall, many new churches, many of the club houses, and the North-
‘Western Railway station  To continue our history of the growth
of the Metropolis to the present tune would requre a volume The
Great Exhibition of 1851 brought more people to London than had
ever congregated there before, and since that time, owing to the
immense development of commerce through the discovery of the
Austrahan and Cahforman gold-fields, arclutecture, both n the
monster warehouses of the city and the palatial mansions of the
‘West End, has added immensely to the beauty of the streets, and
will, let us hope, soon render London one of the handsomest cities
of the world

Loxpon Srartisrics

London now reaches from Stratford-le-Bow i the east, through
the City, the West End, and Kensington to Kew Bridge 1n the west,
m one continuous line of houses of upwards of ten miles, and from
Highgate Hill in the north to Dulwich 1n the south, nearly eight

London returns twenty-three Members to Parhament —four for
the City, two for Westmmnster, two for Marylebone, two for‘Finsbury,
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two for the Tower Bamlets, two for Hackney, two for Southwark,
two for Greenwich, two for Lambeth, two for Chelsea, and one for
the London University

The police boundaries cover 576 square miles, and a population
of four milhon inhabitants, who inhabit half a milhon of houses
In these are gathered together more Jews than there are 1n Pale-
stine, more Scotch than in Edinburgh, more Imsh than mm Dubln,
and more Roman Catholics than there are in Rome It 1s smid that
there 18 a birth mn London every five minutes, and a death every
eight minutes

CHIEF DISTRICTS OF LONDON

HE Cuty may be called the heart of London St Paul's
Cathedral, the Bank of England, the Royal Exchange, the
Stock Exchange, the Post Office, the Mansion House,
the Gwldhall, the great prison Newgate, the Halls of the
City Compames, the Corn Exchange, the Custom House, and many
other public buildings stand within 1ts walls In Lombard Street
and 1ts neighbourhood are most of the principal banks The richest
merchants of the world have their offices within the circumference of
a mle round the Exchange, and the largest commercial firms have
their warehouses in the streets which he on either side of Cheapside,
and between St Paul's and Gracechurch Street The boundaries
of the City are Aldgate to the east, Temple Bar to the west, the
River Thames on the south, and Smithfield, Barbican, and Finsbury
on the north. It 18 governed by the Corporation, consisting of the
Lord Mayor, who 1s elected annually, twenty-six aldermen, and two
hundred and six common councilmen The City arms are the cross
of St George and the sword of St Paul

At the West End are the palace of the Queen and the mansions of
the arstocracy Here also are Westminster Abbey, the Houses of
Parhameat, the splendid new Government offices n Whtehall, St
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James's:Palace, and Marlborough House, the great Club-houses, the
public parks—St. James’s, the Green Park, Hyde Park, and Ken-
sington Gardens,—the great squares—St James'’s Square, Grosvenor
Square, and Berkeley Square, and further west, Belgrave and Eaton
Squares, New Burlington House, where the Royal Academy Exin-
bitaon 18 held, the new Umiveraity of London (1n Burlington Gardens),
the residerices of the prmcipal professional men, and the shops of the
great silversmuths and jewellers, the silkmercers and drapers, the
dealers n glass and china, and nearly all the most celebrated London
tradesmen

Belgrava, the region about Belgrave and Eaton Squares,1s almost
entirely devoted to the houses of the arstocracy and the upper
middle classes

In & meddle district, between the City and the West End, are
Lincoln’s Inn Fields and the Courts of Law, all the large Theatres,
Covent Garden Market—for fruits, flowers, and vegetables, Leicester
Square and Soho, favourite resorts of foreigners, Trafalgar Square,
with the National Gallery and Nelson monument, and, close by,
Charmg Cross Railway Station, and miles of streets mhabited by
manufacturers of every description, and wholesale and retail traders

The East End, comprismg Whtechapel, Spitalfields, Shoreditch,
Bethnal Green, 18 chiefly mnhabited by the working classes m almost
every class of manufacture In Spitalfields and Bethnal Green there
are many silk weavers and cabinet makers, the London Docks give
daily employment to crowds of able-bodied men who have no work
elsewhere

Clerkenwell and the adjoming districts are the abodes of watch-
makers, jewellers, printers, and other skilled workmen It 1s at
present m a sadly neglected condition.

The Russell Square District 18 the abode of merchants and pro-
fessional men, and men of mdependence Here also 18 the British
Museum and the Foundling Hospital The three great railway
stations—the North Western, the Midland, and the Great Northern,
lie on the north side of the Euston Road o
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In Istington, Camden Town, Kentish Town, and other districts m
the north are the abodes of many London tradesmen, and clerks m
the merchants’ offices and commercial houses, and small manufac-
turers

In Regents Purk and St John's Wood hve many professional
men, city merchants, and West End tradesmen, retired offiners from
India and the Colonies, and merchants from Australia, and a great
number of Germans engaged mn commercial pursmits  Nearly every
house has a garden, and the mhabitants of some of the largest rejoice
m an acre or two of ground. Here also are the Zoological Gardens

Paddington, Tyburna, Bayswater, and Notting Hall have a mixed
population. Though there are many streets m which trade and
commerce flourish, near them may be found terraces of noble man-
sions let at twelve hundred a year, and 1t 1s probable that the
occupiers of this quarter are among the richest people in London

Kensington 18 a very old town now modermzed by the addition
of many fine buildings, and 18 the residence of many of the nobility
Here also stand the celebrated Holland House and Kensington Palace

South Kensington, m which there are now many streets and
terraces of new houses of the first class  Here, too, are the far-famed
South Kensington Museum and Royal Horticultural Gardens

Brompton and Chelsea have many streets and squares of excellent
private houses, mterspersed with rows of shops and dwellings of the
workmg classes

Fulham 18 still given up to market gardens, and the Bishop of
London’s pleasant palace On the Surrey side of the river are

Lambeth, well known for its potteries, the palace of the Arch-
bishop of Canterbury, and St Thomas’s and Bethlehem Hospitals,

Southwark for 1its manufactories and store houses, 8t Mary
Overy’s Church, and the London Bridge Railway Station, and

Bermondsey for 1ts tanneries, leather dressers’, and other factores
unpleasant™o our nasal organs
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PRINCIPAL STREETS AND SQUARES

HERE are two principal thoroughfares from the east to
the west of London which 1t would be well for the visitor
to be thoroughly well acquainted with

Starting from the Mansion House, one nearly straight
line leads through Cheapside, Newgate Street, the Holborn Viaduct,
and along Holborn and Oxford Street, to the Marble Arch, thence
past Hyde Park on 1its north side, to Bayswater and Notting Hall

The more southern route, starting again from the Mansion House,
passes through Queen Victoria Street, Cannon Street, St Paul's
Churchyard, Ludgate Hill, Fleet Street, the Strand, Trafalgar Square,
Pall Mall East, and, turmng to the right, up Waterloo Place and
Regent Street as far as Regent's Circus, then, bearing to the left, along
Piccadilly, past the Green Park, to Kmghtsbridge (where a road
branches off to the left to South Kensington), past Hyde Park on 1ts
south side, to Kensmgton and Hammersmith Both these lines a1e
copstantly traversed by ommbuses

A third route from the Mansion House now leads through the new
Queen Victona Street to the Thames Embankment as far as West—
mnster

Numerous streets running north and south mtersect these mamn
thoroughfares, Chancery Lane connects Fleet Street with Holborn,
‘Wellington Street and 1ts continuations lead from the Strand to Oxford
Street , and further on, Regent Street, Bond Street, and Park Lane
with 1te splendid mansions, communicate between Piccadilly and Oxford
Street But five mmnutes devoted to & good map will tell more than
many pages of description

From the Manson House, King Wilham Street takes us over
London Bridge to Southwark , Cornhill leads us to Bishopsgate Street,
Gracechurch Street, and the East End, and Moorgate Street to
Finsbury, the City Road, Euston Road, Marylebone Road, Edgware
Road, and Paddington, this last route 1s four and a half mdes long
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From Charing Cross, another great centre of traffic, Whitehall leads
to Westmmster Abbey and the Houses of Parhament , Cockspur Street
takes us to Pall Mall the street of Clubs, Regent Street, Piccadilly,
and the West End, and St. Martin’s Lane, & narrow thoroughfare,
to Oxford Street, Tottenham Court Road, and the northern parts of
the town v

Oxford Street 18 nearly a mile and a half long , Regent Street just
about a mile, Piccadilly nearly a mile, and the Strand, from Charing
Cross to Temple Bar, a hittle more than three quarters of a mile

The great squares are, beginning at the east, Lincoln’s Inn Fields,
the abode of lawyers, near Chancery Lane , Russell Square, Tavistock
Square, Bloomsbury Square, and Bedford Square, north of Oxford
Street and east of Tottenham Court Road, and Fitzroy Square
on 1ts west  Further on, past Regent Street, between Piccadilly and
Oxford Street, ie Hanover Square, Grosvenor Square, and Berkeley
Square, m which are the residences of many of the nobihty North
of Oxford Street are Cavendish Square, Manchester Square, Port-
man Square, and several of mmor importance, and on the south of
Hyde Park and Piccadilly are the two mmportant squares, Belgrave
and Eaton, mm which dwell many of the upper ten thousand

PRINCIPAL SUBURBS OF LONDON

The most 1mportant suburbs of London are —

On the north, Highgate, with 1ts large cemetery, Hornsey, Muswell
Hall where the Alexandra Palace 1s, Holloway, Kmngsland and Stoke
Newmgton

On the north-east, Bethnal Green, with 1ts new museum, Dalston,
Clapton, Hackney, Homerton, and Tottenham

On the east, Shoreditch with Columbia Market, Stepney, Strat-
ford-le-Bow, Limehouse, West India Docks, and Blackwall

On the south-east (on the Surrey side of the Thames), Bermondsey,
Rotherhithe, Deptford, Greenwich, with 1its hospital, park, and
observatory, Blackheath, Lewisham, and Lee

On the south, Walworth, Camberwell, Peckham, Dulwich with its
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college and picture gallery, Newington, Kennington, Brixton, Clapham
Common, Norwood, and Sydenham where stands the Crystal Palace

On the south-west (on the Surrey side of the Thames), Vauxhall,
Battersea, Wandsworth, Putney, Barnes, Wimbledon and 1ts common,
Mortlake, and Richmond, (on the Middlesex side) Chelsea and Cre-
morne Gurdens, Walham Green, Fulham with 1ts market gardens, and
the Bishop of London’s celebrated palace

On the west, Bayswater, Paddington, Notting Hill, Kensington,
Hammersmith, Shepherd’s Bush, Acton, Ealing, Hanwell, Chuswick,
Turnham Green, and Kew Gardens

On the north-west, Maada Vale, Kilburn, Willesden, Cricklewood,
St John's Wood, Hampstead with 1ts famous heath, and Caen Wood,
the residence of the Earl of Mansfield

MONUMENTS AND PUBLIC STATUES

@ HE Monument wm commemoratwn of the Great Fure of
7 London —This celebrated column, which stands upon

great Trajan column at Rome It was designed by Wien,
but not carried out m entire accordance with lus wishes It consists
of a fluted Doric Column, erected between 1671-77, at a cost of
£18,700, two hundred yards from the site of the house in Pudding
Lane m which the Great Fire of 1666 origmated The plnth from
which the pedestal springs 18 40 feet high, and the total height of
the Monument 1s 202 feet The pedestal 1s hollow, and withm 1t 1s
a spiral starcase of black marble with 345 steps leading to the summt
The capital of the column 1s enclosed within an iron raihng, a modern
addition to prevent smcxde  Wathin the won raling or balcony 1s a
pedestal supporting a gilt urn 42 feet high, from which proceed ap-
parently blazing flames The bas-reliefs adorning the pediments of
the monument are the work of the celebrated Damsh sculptor, Caius
Cibber, author of the fine allegorical figures of “ Frenzy " and “Melan-
choly,” in Bethlehem Hospital The bas-rehefs are symbohc
representations of the destruction and restoration of the Uity The
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four dragons at the angles of the same pediment are by Edward
Pierce, and the Latin inscriptions are the composition of Dr Gale,
Dean of York They give an account of the ravages commutted by
the flames, of the contemplated schemes for the rebwilding of the
metropolis, and formerly included imprecations on the promoters of
the supposed Popish plot, which were obliterated m 1831 ©

The view from the top of the Monument 13 on a fine day extremely
grand, extending as far as the Kent and Surrey hills, and embracing
the whole of Southwark, the Tower, the Mint, St Paul's, West-
mmster Abbey, the shipping in the Thames, and numerous bridges
and churches

Visutors can ascend the Monument every week day from 9 tll dark,
on payment of 8d each person

The Duke of York's Monument, Carlton House Terrace, erected
n 1833 by B Wyatt, with the bronze statue, 14 feet lugh, by Sir
Richard Westmacott There 1s a stawrcase to the top open 1n the
summer months, from 12 till 4, admission, 6d

The Nelson Column mn Trafalgar Square, designed by Railton, was
erected n 1843 It 1s 145 feet lugh, and surmounted by the statue
of Nelson, by E H Baily, R A, 17 feet igh The capital of the
column 18 of bronze furmshed by cannon taken from the French
The four colossal lions 1n bronze at the base were modelled by Sir E
Landseer., The total cost has been about £46,000

Charles I, equestrian statue at Charmg Cross, by Hubert le
Sceur, a Frenchman, a pupil of the celebrated sculptor, John of
Bologna, cast m 1633, but not set up 1n 1ts present position till 1676
The pedestal was the work of Joshua Maishall, then master-mason to
the Crown

Charles II , at Chelses Hospital, by Grmling Gibbons

Charles IT, ;n Soho Square, surrounded by allegorical figures of
the Thames, the Trent, the Severn, and the Humber

James II, at the back of Whtehall, by Grinling Gibbons

Willam III, equestrian statue i bronze, in St James's Square,
by J Bac8n, jun
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Wallsara IV, colossal statue, m Kmng Willam Street, City, by
Nixon, on the site of the Old Boar’s Head Tavern, tmmortalized by
Shakspeare

Duke of Kent, bronze statue, m Park Square Gardens, at the top
of Portland Place

QueeR Anne, before the west door of St Paul's Cathedral, by
Francis Bird

Queen Anne, m Queen’s Square, Bloomsbury

George III, equestrian statue m bronze, m Cockspur Street,
Charmg Cross, by M C Wyatt

George IV, equestrian statue i bronze, m Trafalgar Square, by
Sir Francis Chantrey

The Prunce Consort, an equestrian statue, in Holborn Circus

Queen Victoria, m marble, in the quadrangle of the Royal Ex-
change, by Lough

Richard Cour-de-Lion, equestrian statue, m Old Palace Yard,
Westmunster, by Marochett

Achulles, bronze statue m Hyde Park, by Sir Richard Westma-
cott, from cannon taken at Salamanca, Vittoria, Toulouse, and
Waterloo, erected at a cost of £10,000, and “ scubed by the
women of England to Arthur, Duke of Wellington, and his brave
companions 1 arms”  This 18 a copy of an antique on Monte Cavallo,
at Rome

Duke of Cumberland, the victor of Culloden, n Cavendish Square

Sir Hugh Myddleton, on Ishngton Green, founder of the New
River Company, statue m Sicihian marble, by Thomas

William Pritt, m Hanover Square, by Sir Francis Chantrey

Charles James Fox, n Bloomsbury Square, by Sir R Westmacott

Duke of Bedford, m Russell Square, by Sir R Westmacott

George Canmng, bronze, by Sir R Westmacott, in Palace Yard.

Lord George Bentinck, m Cavendish Square

Dr Jenner, m Kensington Gardens, by Calder Marshall.

Sur Jokn Franklin, memonal, m Waterloo Place, by Noble

Duke of Wellington, equestrian statue m bronze, m front of the
Royal Exchange, by Sir Francis Chantrey
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Duke of Wellington, equestrian statue on top of the Triumphal
Arch, at Hyde Park Corner, by M C Wyatt

Sir Robert Peel, n Cheapside

Lord Herbert of Lea, at the War Office, Pall Mall, by Foley

Sir Charles Napier, m Trafalgar Square, by G G Adams

Siwr Henry Havelock, m Trafalgar Square, by Behnes Py

General Outram, on the Victoria Embankment, by Noble

George Penbody, bronze statue by Story, at the Royal Exchange

Earl of Derby, bronze statue in Parhament Square, by Noble

Lord Clyde (Sir Colin Campbell), m Waterloo Place, by Marochett

The Guards’ Memorial to the officers and men of the three regi-
ments of Foot Guards who fell in the Crimea, m Waterloo Place, by
John Bell Three statues of Guardsmen on a gramte pedestal,
surmounted by Victory The cannon were taken at Sebastopol

The Westminster Memorial to the officers educated at Westmnster
School who fell in the Crimean War, n the Broad Sanctuary A
gramte column, surmounted by a statue of St George and the Dragon,
by Sir G G Scott, at the west end of Westmmster Abbey

Memorial to commemorate the Exhibition of 1851 (surmounted by
a statue of the Prince Consort), n the gardens of the Royal Horti-
cultural Society, South Kensington

The Albert Memorial, Hyde Park —This magmficent example of
highly-decorated architecture 1s situated on the south side of Hyde
Park, opposite the Royal Albert Hall and near Prince’s Gate It was
erected, m commemoration of the late Primnce Consort, partly by
public subscription and partly with the aid of a parliamentary grant
of £50,000, the total cost, including the sculpture, was £120,000

The Albert Memor1al was designed by Sir G Galbert Scott , 1t con-
sists of a Gothic canopy 175 feet high, richly decorated with mosaics
by Messis Clayton and Bell, and Salviati of Venice, and rests on
four clustered pillars of red gramte from the Isle of Mull Beneath
the canopy 1s the colossal bronze statue, 15 feet high, of Prmce
Albert, m the robes of the Garter, by the late John Foley Ths
shrine rises ¥rom a sculptured base round which runs a frieze con-

E
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tamng 200 life-sized portrait-statues m high rehef, of the greatest
men of science and hterature, artists and musicians, whom the world
has produced , by J P Philp and H. Armstead A double quadran-
gular pyramid of steps of grey Irsh granite leads up to the Memonal,
at the lower corners of which are four colossal marble groups, vz,
‘ Europe” by MacDowell, “ Ama " by Foley, “ Africa ” by Theed, and
“ America” by John Bell Above them, on the platform between the
two portions of the pyramd, are smaller symbohic groups of “ Agricul-
ture” by Calder Marshall, “Manufactures” by Weeks, “Commerce”
by Thorycroft, and “Engineermg” by Lawlor

Before exammnmg the detas of the sculpture the visitor should
obtamn a view of the Albert Memorial as a whole, from the entrance
opposite the Albert Hall

GATEWAYS AND ARCHES

EMPLE BAR —This famous relic of old London, round
which cluster so many memories, occupies the site of a
certamn “wooden house built across Fleet Street, with a
narrow gateway and an entry on the south side of 1t under
the house which at first replaced the posts, rails, and bars which marked
the western boundary of the eity ¥ The present structure was erected
by Sir Christopher Wren m 1672, and consists of a gateway of Portland
stone Each front 1s adorned with four Cormthian pilasters supporting
an entablature and triangular pediment In two mches on the Strand
side are statues of Charles I and Charles IT, and m corresponding
niches on the Fleet Street side, statues of JamesI and Ehzabeth, the
work of an mferior sculptor named John Bushnell =~ The minor deco-
rations, such as the scroll-work and flowers of the pediment, have long
lost all shape and character Above the gate 18 a room occupied until
quite recently by the account-books and papers of the bankers Messrs
Chulds, who paid about £20 per annum rent for the use of the apart-
ment The threatened downfall of Temple Bar has led to the re-
moval of these books .
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The following mgeription may still be made out by careful de-
cipherment above the arch on the eastern mde of Temple Bar —
“Erected m the year 1670, Sir Samuel Starhng, Lord Mayor, con-
tmnued m 1671, Sir Richard Ford, Lord Mayor, and fimished in the
year 1672, Sir George Waterman, Lord Mayor *

Formerly there were wron spikes above the Gate, which yere not
removed till early in the present century On these spikes 1t was
customary to fix the heads of traitors The mangled limbs of Sir
Thomas Armstrong, who suffered for his share in the Rye House Plot
m 1684, the heads of Sir John Friend and Sir Wilham Parkyns, con-
spirators agamst the Iife of Wilham III , and the heads of Colonel
John Oxburgh, beheaded m 1716, and Colonel Townley and George
Fletcher, both of whom suffered mn the Jacobite rebelhon of 1745,
were exposed here

The only occasion on which the oak gates of Temple Bar are closed
18 when the Sovereign pays a visit to the city A herald gives notice
of the approach of Royalty by blowing s trumpet, and a parley en-
sues, the gates are unbarred snd the lord mayor offers his sword,
which 18 graciously returned

The future fate of Temple Bar 15 still undecrided When the new
Palace of Justice 18 erected close by, from the demgns of Mr G Street,
Temple Bar must be removed

It may interest our readers to know that Messrs Childs' bank was
originally a tavern called the “Marygold,” hence the sign of the
marygold used mn the early days of the firm on thewr cheques TlLe
famous “ Devil Tavern” was next door to the “ Marygold ’

’

St Johnw's Gate, Clerkenwell, origmally the gateway to the priory
of the Knights of St John of Jerusalem The coat of arms of the
prior who finished the building, about the year 1504, 1s still to be
seen The “Gentleman’s Magazmne” was printed here during the
last century, and here Dr Johnson used frequently to visit

York Gate, m the garden of the embankment near Charing Cross
Railway Swmtion, was the water-gate of York House, pulled down
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many years since This gateway—often attmbuted to Imgo Jones—
was the work of Nicholas Stone, mason and carver

Hyde Park Gate, m Piccadilly ; this triple archway, by Decimus
Burton, 1s decorated with bas-rehefs after the celebrated Parthenon
frieze, now 1 the British Museum

The Wellington Arch, at the top of Constitution Hill, erected m
commemoration of the Duke of Wellington's victories, 18 surmounted
by an equestrian bronze statue of the duke, by Wyatt

THE MARBLE ARCH

The Marble Arch—the north-east entrance to Hyde Park—for-
merly stood i front of Buckingham Palace, where 1t was erected by
George IV at the enormous cost of £80,000 The expense of re-
moving 1t and reconstructing 1t on 1its present site (1n 1851) was
£11,000 The bas-rehefs are, on the south side, by E I‘% Baily, and
on the north by Sir R Westmacott
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THE RIVER THAMES, ITS BRIDGES AND
EMBANKMENTS

HE Thames may farly claim to be the most mpgrtant of
all rivers  Fifty thousand vessels, bearing cargoes of -
estimable value, pass up and down 1ts waters every year,
and on 1ts banks stands the greatest commercial city of the

whole world

Springng from Trewsbury Mead, near the Cotswold Hills m
Gloucestershire, the silver -streammg Thames runs through and divides
the counties of Waltshire and Oxfordshire from Buckinghamshne and
Berkshire, Surrey from Middlesex , and Essex from Kent, receiving
m 1ts course numerous tributary streams, and jommng with the Med-
way at Sheerness, 1t falls into the sea 212 miles from 1ts source

Between Oxford and London the Thames passes and helps to form
most picturesque and charming scenery, of which Enghsh artists do
not fail to avail themselves, the pastoral beauty of the country near
Pangbourne and Streatley, the broad reach of Henley, the cluster of
1lands near Medmenham, the far-famed heights of Marlow and
Chefden Woods, and the scenery near Richmond have each thewr
particular beauty, and on no other river i the world can be seen the
crowds of boats filled with joyous occupants that may be met with on
a fine summer’s evening on the whole length of the Thames, that hies
between Great Marlow Lock and London  Denham sang of 1t two
centuries ago—

 Though deep yet clear, though gentle yet not dull,
Strong without rage, without o’erflowing full

And these lines faithfully describe the river now

Steamboats run from London Bridge at all tumes of the day durmng
the summer months as far up the 11ver as Chelsea, calling at all the
mtermediate piers  There 18 no better way of seemg the great aity
wharves an;i warehouses, with St Paul's and Wren’s ¢ wilderness of
steeples” towermg above them, than by takmg this httle voyage
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‘We have good views of all the bridges, the Temple, and the Temple
Gardens, the new Ehzabethan building for the London School Board,
Somerset House, the whole length of the Embankment, the Houses of
Parhament, and the Lion Brewery, the Shot Towers, St Thomas's
Hospatal, Lambeth Palace, and Battersea Park on the Surrey mde

Down the river, takmg a steamboat from London Bridge, we pass
on the Middlesex side, the Monument, Billmgsgate Market, the Coal
Exchange, the Custom House, the Tower of London, St Katherne
and the London Docks, the Isle of Dogs, the West India Docks, and
Blackwall, and on the Surrey side St Olave’s Church, Rotherhithe
Church, the Surrey Docks, Deptford, Greenwich, and farther on
‘Woolwich Dockyard, Greenhithe, Rosherville, and Gravesend On
a fine day a trip down the niver as far as Gravesend, returming by
rallway, may be made a very pleasant excursion

Tue BrineEs

London Briige was bult by John Rennie, and publicly opened by
Wilham IV August 1st, 1831 Itis 928 feet long, built of gramte,
and cost upwards of two millions and a half of money, defrayed out of
the funds of the “ Bridge House Estate™ It took the place of old
London Bridge, which had stood a little further to the east since
1209 The old bridge was built of wood, there was a row of
houses on either side, and a gateway at each end

The South Eastern Ravlway Bridge comes next up the river It
18 bult of iron, and 1s used only for the railways runnmg to Cannon
Street Station

Southwark Bridge was opened m 1819 It consists of three cast-
1ron arches, and was designed by John Renme It was erected by a
public company at the cost of £800,000 In 1866 the bridge was pur-
chased by the City, and the penny toll was abolished

The Alexandra Bridge of the London, Chatham, and Dover Rail-
way Company 18 smmply a piece of engmeerng skill without any
attempt at beauty. It sadly nterferes with the view of Blackfriars
Bndge
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Blackfrars Bridge, which was originally built of stone by Robert
Mylne 1n 1769, was replaced in 1869 by a very handsome one of 1ron,
designed by Wilham Cubitt It 18 1,272 feet long, and cost £320,000

Waterloo Bridge was bmlt by a public company from the designs
of John Renme The first stone was lmd m 1811, and the bridge
was opened to the public on June 18, 1817 It 15 1320 fét long,

SOMERSET HOUSE (BEFORE THE EMBANKMENT)

and considered by architects to be one of the very finest bridges in
the world It cost above a milhion, and though five milhion half-
penny tolls are paid every yea:, the proprietors have never received
an adequate return for their outlay

Tt has been called “a colossal monument worthy of the Ceesa1s ™

Charmg Cross Bridge was bmlt by Mr Hawkshaw for the South
Eastern Railway Company mn 1863 It replaced Hungerford Sus-
pension Bfidge, which now spans the Avon at Clifton  Besmdes the
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railway bridge, which 18 of ron lattice work, there 18 a foot-way for
passengers, who are charged a toll of one half-penny

Westmwnster Bridge, demigned by Page, 13 the handsomest m
London, 1t 1s 85 feet 1 width, and 1160 feet long, built on seven
arches of wron resting on stone piers It commands magmificent
views of the Houses of Parhament, 8t Thomas's Hospital, and the
new Embankments The old stone bridge, which 1t replaced, was

CHELSEA SUSPENSION BRIDGE

bult by & Swiss named Labelye in the middle of last century, and was
the second bridge over the Thames Old Blackfriars was the third

Lambeth Bridge, leadng from the Horseferry Road to Lambeth
Palace, 18 an unpretending piece of engmeer’s work by Peter Barlow
It was erected in 1862 at the small cost of £40,000

Vauzhall Bridge, built of wron from the designs of James Walker,
was opened mm 1816 It 1s the property of a private company, who
charge one half-penny toll '

The Victoria Ravlway Bridge s bult of 1ron, and 18 used exclu-
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sively by the Londefi, Chatham, and Dover and the Brighton Ralway
Compames for trams runnmg m and out the great Victoria Station

Chelsea Suspension Bridge, demgned by Page, leads from Chelsea
and Pmnlico to Battersea It was opened m 1858 It 1e built of
1rom, at & cost of about £85,000 The toll 1s a halfpenny

BATTERSEA BRIDGE

Albert Suspension Bridge from Cheyne Walk, Chelsea, to Battersea
Park, was opened mn 1878 It 1s built of iron

Battersea Bridge 18 a wooden structure of the last century “One
of the most horrible constructions which one can 1magine " so says a
French author It 18, however, a favournite subject with artists

Putney Briudge 18 a picturesque wooden structure more than a
hundred years old, which 1s still suffered to impede the navigation
It connects Fulham with Putney, Wandsworth, and Wimbledon
The toll 15 a halfpenny for foot passengers, for cabs sixpence
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The West London Rarlway Bridge, Hammersmith Brudge, and many
others span the river between Putney Bridge and Richmond, but
these are beyond our present limits

Tur TuxnNELs

The Fhames Tunnel between Rotherhithe and Wapping, about two
miles below London Bridge, 18 now used as a railway tunnel, 1t will
shortly be of much service by jomng the Great Eastern Railway with
the London and Brighton It was made by Sir Isambard Brunel
under great difficulties at a cost of nearly half a mllion It was
opened to the public in Murch, 1843, and for many years was con-
sidered a marvel of engineering

The Thames Subway was made a few years ago to relieve the
traffic of London Bridge The subway leads under the Thames from
Tower Hill to Tooley Street It was built under the direction of W
P Barlow 1n less than twelve months, and cost less than £16,000

EMBANKMENTS

The Victora Embankment 18 the greatest improvement i modern
London., In the place of the horrible seas of mud which were left at
low water all along the banks of the river, we have now a magnificent
broad road-way running from Blackfriars Bridge past the Temple
Gardens, Somerset House, and Waterloo Bridge, and by the sde of
pleasant gardens on each side of Charing Cross Bridge, as far as
Westmmnster It 1s planted at intervals with trees, and seats are
offered to those of the public who desire to rest

The nver wall 18 of massive gramte eight feet in thickness, and
nearly a mile and & half in length The cost of the Embankment
and 1ts approaches has been nearly two milhons—derived partly from
rates levied by the Metropolitan Board of Works, and partly from the
coal-dues It was opened to the public 1n 1870

Under the Embankment the Metropohtan Railway runs the whole
length, with stations at Blackfriars, the Temple, Charing Cross, and
Westmmster When the new street 15 made through the*grounds of



\l\l

" W 1

4 |
H N
2 !
I ~>'5 t
I _,’

d]
; I

Frrederick York

l

!IM 'M‘hlu; b
.”P”,H' J",’

THE THAMES EMBANKMENT

From a photograph







PARKS AND GARDENS 59

Northumberland House (now pulled down), this Embankment will
form & most 1mportant thoroughfare from the City to the West End

The Albert Embankment extends past Lambeth Palace to West-
mmnster Bridge The new St Thomas's Hospital stands on 1t 1mme-
diately opposite the Houses of Parhament There are la.ndmg stages
for the steamers, and also at

The Chelsea Embankment, which runs from the Albert Suspension
Bridge along Cheyne Walk to Chelsea Hospital It was opened in 1873

PARKS AND GARDENS

HE parks and gardens of London are among 1ts most note-
worthy features, and in theirr number, extent, and the
richness of then vegetation, are unrivalled by those of
any other metropohs They are mostly surrounded on

every side by thickly populated districts, and have not maptly been
called the lungs of London, affording, as they do, a ready means of
obtaiming fresh air and exercise to the many thousands of human
beings whose circumstances render 1t almost impossible for them to
get out mto the open country

St James's Park, the oldest and most celebrated park of the
West End of London, ongmally belonged to a hospital for female
lepers, but was taken possession of and enclosed by Henry VIII In
the time of Charles I there were pleasure gardens at each end of
the park, but Cromwell put an end to the entertamments After
the Restoration, Charles IT made great improvements in the enclosure,
throwing numerous small ponds mto one large sheet of water, and
founding a botanical garden  He also planted the well-known Mall,
a fine avenue of trees forming the north-west boundary of the park,
which derrges 1ts name from 1ts having been used as an alley for play-
g tenms, the vulgar name for that game bewng pell mell (from the
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French mail, a mallet, and the Latin pila, a ball) St James's Park
18 now 91 acres mn extent, the central portion, enclosed within
on raihings, was laid out as we now see 1t by Nash, the architect,
between 1827-29. It 18 consmdered one of the most beautiful pubhic
gardens m the world  The cham bridge across the lake was added m
1857 €The prmapal bmldings overlooking the park are Buckmgham
Palace, the Horse Guards, Admiralty, Treasury, and the new Foreign
Office,, Stafford House, St James's Palace, Marlborough House, and
Carlton House Terrace on the north-west, and the Wellington Barracks
and Queen’s Square on the south In front of the Horse Guards,
which occupy the site of the old barracks erected by Charles II, 1s
an open space called the Parade, and close to the Wellington
Barracks on the south 1s the celebrated Bird Cage Walk, marking
the site of the Merrie Monarch’s Old Menagerie, near to which the
house of Milton was smituated Before leaving the park the vimitor
should notice the large cannon taken m Egypt, and the mortar pre-
sented to the Prince Regent by the Spanish Government, which was
cast at Seville durmmg the French occupation of Spam, and left on
the field of battle by the army of Napoleon after the defeat at
Salamanca these are placed on either mde of the parade The
carriage of the mortar, which 18 in the form of a dragon, 18 of
Englhsh workmanship , 1t was made at Woolwich m 1812

The Green Park, adjoing St James’s Park and extendmg as far
a8 Piccadilly, 18 an open space 60 acres in extent A carriage road
leads to this park through the Triumphal Arch on Constitution Hill,
designed by Decimus Burton, with pillars copied from those of an
ancient Greek temple, and surmounted by an equestrian statue of the
Duke of Wellington The principal mansions of note to be seen from
the Green Park are Apsley House, the remdence of the Duke of
‘Wellington, near the Triumphal Arch, Stafford House, Bridgewater
House, Spencer House, and the residences of the Earl of Yarboiough
and the Marqus of Salisbury m Arlimgton Street

Hyde Park, the most fashionable open air resort of the armstocracy
of London durmg the season, which lasts from May to Xugust, em-
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braces no less than- 388 acres, and extends as far as Kensington
Gardens The best times m the day for a stranger to vimt the park
are from 11 to 1 ;n the mormmng, when Rotten Row 1s full of ladies
and gentlemen on horseback , and from 5 to 7 30 m the afternoon,
when the carriage roads are thronged with equipages, and the foot-
paths with gaily-dressed pedestrians  Cabs are not admitted

Hyde Park formerly belonged to the Manor of Hyde, the property
of the convent of St Peter’s of Westmmster On the sequestration
of the monasteries 1t was seized by Henry VIII, who converted 1t
mto a zoological garden  After the execution of Charles I, 1t was
confiscated by Parhament, and the animals n 1t were sold for £765.
Cromwell mustered his Ironsides within its boundaries, and the
Londoners thiew up defences i 1t for the protection of their beloved
city  In the time of Charles IT, who planted a ring of trees, 1t was
the favourite promenade of the Court, and the term Rotten Row 1s sup-
posed to be a modern corruption of the Route du Ror, or King’s Road

It was not until the reign of Wilham III that 1t was laid out as a
pubhc pleasure ground, but from his time until the present day con-
stant 1mprovements have been made We may add that George II
and his queen were especially active n 1ts behalf

The chuef entrances to the Park are by the triple archway at Hyde
Park Corner, Albert Gate, Prince’s Gate and Queen’s Gate on the
south side, and by the Marble Arch and Victoria Gate on the north
side  The wron railings close to the Marble Arch were pulled down
m the pohtical agitation of 1866 The new railings cost £11,000
The gateway at Hyde Paik Corner consists of three arches designed
by Decimus Burton, with bas-reliefs copied from the Elgm Marbles
To the left of this entrance 1s Rotten Row, the fashionable resort of
riders, extending as far as Kensmgton Gardens, parallel with which
runs the so-called “ Ladies’ Mile,” a carrage road skn ting the north
bank of the Serpentmne, this 15 a sheet of water supphed from the
ornamental reservon mn Kensington Gaidens, and greatly m favour
with skaters durmng the wmter It 15 on this 10ad (the Ladies’
Mile) and on the road from Hyde Paik Corner to the Albert Me-
morial, thaf the wisitor, anxious to see the élite of the aristocracy
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of England, should take up his position between the hours above men-
tioned

On the north bank of the Serpentine 18 the Humane Society’s
Receiving House, where attendants are i constant readmess to gve
assistance 1n bathing, boating, or skating aceidents, and near the bridge
188 goyernment gunpowder store for the use of the garrison of London
Boats for rowmg on the Serpentmme may be hired by the hour, and
bathing 18 permutted before 8 o’clock m the morning and between 8
and 9 mn the evening  Not far from the Hyde Park Corner entrance
18 the memorial “mscribed by the women of England to the Duke of
Wellington and his brave companions m arms,” erected m 1822 It
15 & copy of an antique statue on the Monte Cavallo, erroneously
called Achilles It 1s made from cannon taken in various victories,
mcluding that of Waterloo, and was cast by Sir R Westmacott
Near the Victora Gate on the north of the Park 1s a drinking
fountamn presented by an Indian prince, and near Prmce's Gate on
the south of the Park 1s the Albert Memorial,! described elsewhere
The Great Exhibition of 1851 occupied 19 acres on the south side of
the Park  The principal mansions overlooking Hyde Park on the
east side are Camelford House, Brook House, the residence of Sir
Coutts Marjoribanks, Dudley House, Earl Dudley’s, Dorchester
House, Mr Holford’s, and Holdernesse House, Lord Londonderry’s

Kensington Gardens, adjommng Hyde Park, and commumecating
with 1t by a bridge across the Serpentine, are the pleasure grounds
of old Kensmngton Palace, they are open to pedestrians, but not to
carriages or horses  These gardens were first laid out under
‘Wilham III. but have gradually been improved and enlarged by his
successors They are distingmished amongst other similar grounds
m London by the beauty of their trees and the exotic plants in the
flower beds The visitor should not neglect to examne the fountamns
and the statue of Dr Jenner at the upper end of the Serpentine
The wron gates opposite the Albert Memoral were those of the
south transept of the Great Exhibition

1 See Index .
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Regent's Park # an open area of 472 acres, belonging to the
crown, named after the Prince Regent, and laid out m 1812 by Nash
the architect, who also designed many of the surrounding houses
The chief beauties of this park are the broad drive, two mules m
extent, ranmng completely round 1t, the plantations and flower beds
artistically arranged, and the stately avenue of trees, hiryng the
magmficent Broad Walk which leads to the Zoological Gardens,}
at the upper end of the park Near the centre, enclosed withn
a second drive, are the Botanic Gardens,! and close to them
the garden of the Toxophihte Society = The lake between these
two gardens, overlooked by St. John’s Lodge, the remdence of Sir
Francis Goldsmud, 18 one of the prettiest features of these charming
pleasure grounds Other private houses of mmportance within the
Park are South Villa, the residence of Mr W S Burton, close to
which Hind’s celebrated astronomical discoveries were made, the
Holme 1 the centre, bult by Wilham Burton, the architect, for
himgelf, and St Dunstan’s Villa on the south-west, bumilt by Decimus
Burton for the Marquis of Hertford, the gardens of which contan the
old clock of St Dunstan’s-in-the-West, alluded to 1n our notice of that
church! On the east of the Park rses St Katharme's Hospital, with
a chapel built m the style of King’s College, Cambridge  That part
of the park between St Dunstan’s Villa and Macclesfield Gate, close
to Primrose Hill Road, 1s bounded by the Regent's Canal, the scene
of the terrible explosion, when the large bridge counecting the Park
with the road was blown up and much valuable property mn the neigh-
bourhood destroyed

Prumrose Hill, divided from Regent’'s Park by the canal and a
carriage road, 18 a public pleasure-ground, laid out with paths and
planted with trees, the summit commands a fine view of London and
the surrounding districts On a fine day St Paul's Cathedral, the
Crystal Palace, and the church-towers of Hampstead and Highgate may
be seen At the foot of the hill there 18 a pubhc gymnasium.

’ 1 See Index
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Vaictoria Park 18 a public park 290 acres in extent, in the parishes
of Bethnal Green and Hackney, which may be reached by the North
London Railway, 1t was opened a few years ago by Her Majesty
m person It 18 prettily planted and laid out, in the centre 1s
a handsome Gothic drinking-fountam by Darbishire, the gift of Lady
Burdett Coutts, and there are two pieces of water with boats, which
may be hired  The park also contamns gymnastic and cricket-
grounds, and 18 much frequented by the mhabitants of the north-east
end of London, and should, if possible, be visited on a Saturday or
Sunday afternoon  The chief buildmg of importance overlooking
Victoria Park 1s the Fiench Hospice

Battersea Park, 185 acres i extent, 15 on the right bank of the
Thames, on the south-west of Loondon, 1t 1s approached from Chelsea
by the Albert and Chelsea Suspension Bridges, and 1s one of the most
besutaful of the people’s pleasure grounds It was laid out between
1852-58 at a vast cost, and mncludes, m addition to numerous planta-
tions of Englsh trees and beds of native flowers, a sub-tropical
garden of four acres, which should be visited m August or Sep-
tember, when 1t may be seen to its chief advantage The plants
i 1t are constantly renewed, and 1t 1s considered to be one of the
most successful efforts of out-door horticulture of modern times
A large sheet of water and an extensive cricket-ground tform addi-
tional attractions  This park should be visited on a Saturday or
Sunday afternoon, when 1t 18 crowded with “ the people” of London
and 1ts suburbs

We must also name Southwark Park, Rotherhithe Park, 62 acres
m extent, Finsbury Park, 120 acres, between Holloway and Seven
Sisters Road , and Kennington Park, as favourite resorts of London
people

Hampstead Heath, about five miles on the north-west of St Paul’s, 15
a fine public common, purchased for the public 1n 1870  This heath,
at the top of a hull beyond the willage of Hampstead, commands a very
fine and extensive view, and 1s noted for the purty of its ar A
house on the heath, now a private remdence, was once the resort of
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the celebrated Kit Kat Club The village of Hampstead was much
frequented by Pope, Johnson, Gay, Byron, Leigh Hunt, Dickens, and
other great Enghsh authors

Botanic Gardens —The Botanic Gardens, Regent’s Park, are open
only to members of the Royal Botanic Society and their friends, ex-
cept on certamn occasions, when the public are admtted on pAyment
Botansts and other scientific men would probably obtan permission to
go over the gardens on apphcation to the Secretary of the Society, Bota-
nic Gardens, Inner Circle, Regent's Park Wednesday 18 a féte day

These gardens were founded by the Royal Botanic Society 1n 1840,
when those at Kew were mn a very unsatisfactory state They are
only 18 acres mn extent, but the ground has been laxd out to the greatest
advantage The Winter Garden, or Temperate House, designed by
Decimus Burton, 1s 176 feet long by 100 feet broad

The Botanwc Gardens, Chelsea, belongmg to the Apothecaries’
Company, were laid out mn 1673. The chief beauty of these gardens
are the cedars planted m 1683, which were then only 8 feet high, but
a hundred years later had grown another ]O feet, and are now
perhaps the finest 1n or near London

The Horticultural Gardens, Exhibition Road, South Kensington,
are open daily from 9 till dusk Admussion, 64 every day of the
week except Saturdays, when 1t1s 1s  Closed to all but members of
the Horticultural Society and their friends on Sundays.

These gardens, founded m 1802, are the property of the Royal
Horticultural Society They are 22 acres mn extent, and were lad
out as we now see them by Nesfield in 1861, they include ornamental
grounds, with a hall in which flower shows and meetings are held, a
large winter garden, and numerous smaller conservatories designed
by Sir Digby Wyatt, the whole enclosed within a light Italian colon-
nade, the effect of which, in summer, when draped m green, 18 very
fine There 18 an experimental garden at Chiswick n connection
with these At the northern end of the gardens 1s the Memonal com-
memorative of the Exhibition of 1851, surmounted by a statue of the
late Prince Consort

F
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THE ZOOLOGICAL GARDENS, REGENT'S PARK

Rures or Apmisston,—The public are charged 6d. for admission
to the Gardens on Mondays, and 1s on the other days of the week,
children, 6d On Sundays members of the Society or holders of
orders alone are admitted  The Society’s rooms are af 11, Hanover
Sgquare, and orders are granted to men of science

The Gardens are open from 9 am tll sunset The lions and
tigers are fed at 3 pm n the winter and 4 pm wn the summer, the
pelicansat 2 30 p m , the otters at 3, the eagles at 3 30, and the snakes,
on Friday afternoons only, at 8 As many of the antmals only show
themselves at meal times the visitor will do well to remember these
kours. Good refreshments, at reasonable prices, are to be had n the
gardens at all hours of the day

HESE Gardens contain the largest collection of Living
anmals 1 the world, and form one of the most attractive
sights of the metropohs, they were founded in 1826 by
Sir Humphrey Davy and Sir Stamford Raffles, and are

the property of the Zoological Society of London

The gardens consist of two parts, separated by the so-called
Outer Circle of Regent's Park, and umted by a tunnel Entermng
from the Outer Circle 1t 18 usual, first to follow the broad walk
bounded on either side by flower-beds, shrubs, &c, which leads
to the terrace on which are the dens of the carmvorous animals,
with the bear-pit at the pomnt of junction of the two terraces
on the nght Having exammed them, however, 1t will be well
to return to the Rustic Lodge at the entrance, and turning mto a
path on the left, we soon find ourselves opposite to the Western
Awary, 170 feet long, contaning birds from Australia, the East
Indies, and South America Following a path leading down m a
westerly direction from the side of this aviary nearest the entrance,
we come to the stork’s cage, and then turning to the Ieft pass the
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rodents' (gnawing aminals) house and the pigs’ house, in which are
swine from Europe, Africa, and Japan Opposite to the last-named
house 18 the Soutkern Pond, on the edge of which various water-birds
have their home, and breed in security  Above this pond and opposite
to the rodents’ house 18 the pheasants’ cage, and a path between it
and the pond brings us to the turkeys’ house, to the south of yhich 18
the large Round Pond sacred to the sea bears, with a smaller pond close
by contaming several seals, each of which consumes four pounds of
fish per day We now come to a fine building, the new abode of
the hons, tigers, and leopards Following the path skirting round
the edge of the gardens we have a cage of geese on our right, one of
doves on our left Adjoming the goose house and opposite to that
of the doves 18 & cage of owls, succeeded by one of pheasants and
peacocks, which brings us to the boundary of the gardens, and still
followmg the same path, which now turns abruptly to the left, we
pass along an extensive deer house contamning specimens of ruminants
of that family from every part of the world, opposite to which 1s a
second entrance to the Gardens Turnmg to the left at this entrance,
we now ascend a path running parallel with that by which we com-
menced our tour, and pass the large cattle sheds with the zebu, or
sacred Indian ox, the American bison, &c, adjomng which 1s an
enclosure for Japanese roes, one for sheep, one for chamors, and one
for Cashmere goats, and on the other side of the path, opposite to them,
a pond with three 1slands, the homes of black swans  Still ascending
the same path we pass the dwellings of tortoises, antelopes, zebras,
wild asses, cranes, &c, and come to the large monkeys’ house, one
of the favourite objects of the Gardens, contamming the chimpanzee,
orang-outang, and a great varety of smaller monkeys Having ex-
amined them, we may either make our way to the chief entrance and
begin our tour of the other side of the gardens from there, or we may
retrace our steps, and, turmng up a path opposite to the zebra's
house, take another glance at the black American bear, walk along
the terrace with the dens of the hyenas, puma, jaguar, &c, at the
other end of which 1s the den of the Arctic bear, a great attrac-
tion. OppBsite to 1t we have the dromedaries’ house and that
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of a Bactran ca;el born on the heights before Sebastopol mn 1855
Grouped about these large enclosures are various aviaries contammng
owls, pehcans, falcons, &c, and ascending a path skirting a pond
tenanted by water-birds, we come to the large Eastern Aviary, cor-
responding with the western mentioned above, containing tropical
birds, the sacred 1bis amongst others Then, turning to fhe right,
we skirt along an enclosure for ducks and come to the houses of the
wolf, the llama, alpaca, &c, near to which 1s the winter house of the
eagles, vultures, &c , the den of the smaller mammals, such as foxes,
squirrels, &c , and the homes of the Australian water-birds

Pasaing the refreshment rooms we arrive at the laige aquarium
contaiung hving fishes, maine and fresh water animals, well worthy
of attentive study , and having examined them we may visit the eagles,
kites, &c , which live close by, and then make our way for the tunnel,
passing through which we find ourselves in the northern half of the
gardens, and turning to the right, come to the spacious reptiles’ house,
contammg the largest collection of snakes m Europe, ncluding the
boa-constrictor, python, &c, near to which are the houses of the
kangaroo and wombat Then passing the tunnel and keeping to the
left, we find ourselves among the cockatoos, parrots, and other tropical
birds, and close to the houses for the rhinoceros and elephants, both
great attractions, and passing the antelopes, goats, &c, we come to
the hippopotami, mcluding the young hippopotamus born m the gar-
dens two years ago, and a httle further on to that of the giraffes
The visitor can leave the Gardens by a gate close to the rhmoceros stall

The most important acquisitions made by the Society are a silver-
backed fox (Cants chama) i the small mammal house, a banded
cotinga (Cotinga cincta) the first spectmen which has ever reached
England ahve, m the pamot house, and an ' Australian CassOwary
(Casuarius australis) m the ostrich house

Lectures on zoological subjects are given durmg the season i the
lecture room 1 the Gardens on Thuisdays at 5 pm Admussion free
to fellows and visitors to the Gardens

[ ]
The visitor can leave the Gardens either by the new gate m Albert
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Road and walk on to Primrose Hill, close by, to see the view from 1ts
summut, or by a gate at the south-east corner of the Gardens, which
opens mto the Broad Walk of the Regent's Park On summer even-
ngs this 1s a very favourite promenade

Pleasure-grounds and Gardens have of late years been lad out by
the Govfrnment, which greatly add to the beauty and interest of this
very pretty walk.




Parr III—ROYAL PALACES AND CELEBRATED
MANSIONS

ROYAL PALACES

\GWREYLTHOUGH London contams no such magmficent royal
‘ ‘(%D residences as those of Paris and the chief cities of Italy,
'4 :;?: /§) the town palaces of our Sovereign are rich m histo-

SR pical associations and art-treasures, and will well repay
attentive study  On the most ancient mte of the royal palaces 1s

‘‘‘‘‘‘

The Banqueting House of Whitehall, now used as a royal chapel,
and only open for divine service on Sundays, Tuesdays, and Fri-
days This 1s all that remamns of the famous building erected on the
ate of York House, which was the residence of the monarchs of
England, from the reign of Henry VIII to the time of William III
The orgmal York House, an inegular Tudor buildmg with galleries
and courts, a tenms yard, cockpit, and orchard, a large hall, chapel,
&c , was built by Hubert de Burgh in the time of Henry III, and by
him bequeathed to the convent of the Black Fuars m Holborn, who
sold 1t 1n 1248, to Walter de Grey, archbishop of Youk, from whom
1t derived 1ts name

‘Wolsey, the last archiepiscopal owner, made large additions to 1t,
mcluding a White Hall, which took 1ts name from 1its cleanly
appearance as compared with the old buldings surroundingit On
the great cardmal’s disgrace his mansion passed mto the possession
of Henry VIII, and 1ts old title was laid amde for that of Whitehall

In the feign of James I a great part of the old palace, mcluding a
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banqueting house added by Ehzabeth, was pulled down, and a stately
building erected m 1ts place, but 1t was destroyed by fire 11619,
and it was then that the king, calling in the assistance of Imgo Jones,
commenced the present buildng The fame of the great architect
rests principally on the plan he presented, and had 1t been carried
out, Whishall would have been one of the finest buildings of the age ,
unfortunately, however, the banqueting-house alone was completed
The master-mason employed was the celebrated Nicholas Stone, the

S ST = — e

THE BANQUETING-HOUSE, WHITEHALL

sculptor of some of the best monuments 1n Westminster Abbey In
the origmmal plan the space covered was 874 feet (east and west) by
1,152 (north and south) In the reign of Wilham III all that still
remamed of the Palace of Whitehall, except the new banqueting
house, was destroyed by fire and no attempt was made to rebuild 1t
The chief historical events connected with the present structure are
the marmage of Charles I and Henrietta Mana, the death of CharlesI
who passed to execution through a passage m the wall and was
beheaded beneath 1ts windows, and the restoration of Charles II
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The mterior has“been used as a royal chapel smce the tmme of
George I It was thoroughly repaired and restored between 1829-37
by Sir Robert Smirke, and 13 considered one of the finest buildings
of London It 1s m the style mntroduced by Palladio, the great Italian
architect, and 1s 111 feet long by 55 feet 6 inches wide, and 55 feet
6 mnches high Above the door 18 a bust of the founder, James I,
ascribed to Le Sceur A lofty gallery runs along three sides of the
hall the most noteworthy detail, however, 1s the ceiling, adorned with
paintings on canvas, representing the Apotheosis of James I, panted
by Rubens The walls weie to have been pamted by Vandyck

On Holy Thursday the Queen’s bounty 1s distributed to a number
of poor old men and women 1 this hall

A statue of James II by Grinling Gibbons, in the court at the
back of the banqueting house, should be exammed

ST JAMES'S PALACE

Rures or Apmissiox —St James's Palace can only be wsited by
permssion of the Lord Chamberlain, which s only granted under
specual crrcumstances, to distinguished foreigners for wnstance, who must
apply through thew ambassadors. Dauly service wn the Chapel Royal
at 10 am, 12 noon, and 530 pm  Admission by ticket only, to be
obtarned from the Lord Chamberlain and the Bishop of London
Service also at 10 o'clock on Sundays, when no ticket s mecessary
The guard 15 changed daly at a quarter to 11, when the band plays for
a short trme

(T JAMESS PALACE, at the bottom of St James's
Y Street, 18 & fine but quamt old building on an irre-
\ guler plan by an unkunown aichitect, 1t occupies the
site of St James's Mano: House, which was origmnally a
hospital dedicated to St James for female lepers, and was converted
mto a palace by Henry VIII, of which, however, nothing now remains
but the old'gateway towards St James’s Street, no longer used, the
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chapel adjoinng it , and the Presence Chamber It was from the old
manor house that Charles I passed to his execution

From the burning of the palace of Whitehall, m the time of
Wilham III, until the present reign, 1t has been the constant abode of

SAINT JAMES'S PALACL

royalty, and the scene of many important events m Enghsh history
Queen Mary I., Henry, eldest son of James I , and Caroline, wife
of George II, died here, and James IL’s son, the old Pretender,
and George IV , were born here

The State apartments of St James's Palace are on the first floor,
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with wmdows facing ‘the park A wide staircase leads up to the
Guard Room, which gives access to the so-called Tapestry Room, the
old Presence Chamber, on the chimney-piece of which are the mmtials
of Henry VIII and Anne Boleyn The Ball and Drawmg Rooms
contamn several fine but not very celebrated pantings.

The Chapel Royal, m which Queen Victoria was married, has a
very handsome roof, said to have been designed by Hans Holbem
The Eucharstic plate 18 extremely beautiful, and should be examined
On the Feast of the Epiphany her Majesty presents gold, frankincense,
and myrrh, to the altar of this chapel

On the west of St James’s Palace 1s Clarence House, which has
been lately greatly altered and mmproved, to fit 1t for the residence of
their Royal Highnesses the Duke and Duchess of Edinburgh

BUCKINGHAM PALACE

Rures or Apmissiox —Buckingham Palace can be visited wn the
absence of the Royal Famaly from town, by permission of the Lord
Chamberlan, which 1s, however, granted, only under special circum-
stances, such as those mentwned above mn speaking of St James's Palace

NAHJUCKINGHAM PALACE, n St James’s Park, 15 a
S large building 1n the revived classic style, occupymg the
» site of old Buckingham House , 1t was commenced by Nash
m 1825 and completed by Blore n 1835 The exterior
1s wanting alike in grandeur and harmony, but the imterior contans
much that 1s mteresting and beautiful We pass from the portico mto
a lofty hall surrounded by a row of double columns of vemed white
marble with gilded bases and capitals rnsing from an elevated basement.
The floor 18 of variegated marble, and on the left 18 a grand stawrcase of
white marble, with decorations by Lowis Gruner Directly opposite the
entrance 18 the Sculpture Gallery, chiefly filled with busts of emmnent
or royal persons, and beyond 1t, the Library or Council Room, tastefully
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decorated, and opening on to a terrace  Ascending the grand staircase
we enter the State Apartments, of which the prmeipal are the Green
Drawing Room, 50 feet long by 82 feet high, named after the colour
of 1ts decorations, and sometimes used for the serving of refreshments
at State balls, &c., the Throne Room, 64 feet long, with striped crimson
satmn hemgings, a white marble frieze, designed by Stothard and executed
by Baily, and an arched ceihng richly decorated, the Picture Gallery,
contaming an extremely choice collection of pamntmgs, mncluding an
altar-piece by Albrecht Durer, “ The Assumption of the Virgin,” 8t
George and the Dragon,” “ The Falconer,” “ Pan and Syrmnx,” and
other works by Rubens, Rembrandt's ¢ Shipbuilder and his Wife,”
“ Burgomaster Pancras and lis Wife,” ¢ Noh me Tangere,” and the
“ Adoration of the Virgin,” Vandyck's ¢ Marrage of 8t Catherine,”
% Portrait of & man 1 black,” “ Queen Henretta Mana and CharlesI ,*
and “Christ healing the lame man ,” Sir D. Wilkie's “ Penny Wedding,”
and ¢ Blind Man’s Buff,” several fine portraits by Mytens, Jansen, Su
Peter Lely, and Sir Joshua Reynolds, with characteristic works by N
Maes, Hobbema, Cuyp, the Vandeveldes, Ruysdael, Paul Potter, Back-
huysen, Berghem, Both, Dow, Du Jardin, De Hooghe, Mers, the
Ostades, Steen, Tenmters, Terburg, and others From the pictwe
gallery we pass to the swte of rooms occupyimng the western o1 garden
front of the same storey, which include the Duning, Music, and Bow
Drauwwmg Rooms, &c, all beautafully and appropriately decorated
The large Ball Room on the south side 18 comparatively modern,
having been completed m 1856, after designs by Pennethorne, with
mternal decorations by Gruner, the Chapel on the same side, occupy-
mg the position of a former conservatory, was conseciated in 1843
In the palace gardens there 18 a summer house decorated with frescoes
by Eastlake, Machse, Landseer, Dyce, Stanfield, Uwins, Leshe, and
Ross, representing scenes from Milton's ¢ Comus ”

On the occasion of the opening, dissolution, or prorogation of
Parhament the procession from Buckingham Palace to Westmnster
18 well worth seemng It starts at about a quarter to two, and includes
three state carriages, contaming various officers of high rank, the
Queen's state coach, drawn by eight cream coloured horses, containing
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her Majesty or her representative,, a detachment of the Horse Guards,
the Queen's Marshalmen, the Queen's footmen, and a company of
Beefeaters or Yeomen of the Guard on foot

The Royal stables are situated behind Buckmgham Palace, and can
be seen any day from 1 to 8 o’clock by an order from the Master of
the Horse  They contam, m addition to stables for the stabe‘}):orses,
houses for forty carriages, a good sized rding school, and a very
handsome state coach, designed by Sir W Chambers mn 1762 and
decorated by Ciprian1

Kensington Palace, m Kensington Gardens, long the residence of
the Earls of Nottingham, was bought of their representative by Willhiam
III, and considerably enlarged by him and by George II The
lower portion of the present buillding formed part of the original
stiucture, but the upper storey and the orangery, a handsome detached
apartment, were bwlt by Wren, and the north-west corner was added
by George II as a nursery for the royal children  Kensmgton
Palace 18 now prmcipally devoted to the use of recipients of her
Majesty’s bounty ~Wilham ITII and Queen Mary, lis wife, Queen
Anne and Prince George of Denmark, and King George II, died
withm 1ts walls

In Kensington Palace Queen Victoria was born m 1819, and pre-
sided over her first council m 1837

Marlborough House,n Pall Mall, 8t James's, was buillt by Wren m
1709-10 for the great Duke of Marlborough In 1817 1t passed mto
the possession of the Crown and was bemg prepared for the reception
of the Princess Chailotte and Prince Leopold when the princess died
Her widower, however, lived 1 1t for some time, and 1t was subse-
quently the home of Queen Adelaide after the death of her husband,
Wilham IV It was refitted and furmished on the marriage of the
Prince of Wales 1n 1863, and considerable alterations and additions,
mecluding a new fagade towards Pall Mall, have recently been made



78 LAMBETH PALACE

LAMBETH PALACE

PSS on the southern bank of the Thames, opposite to the
‘K Houses of Parhament The Archbishops of Canterbury
!'}*\ have resded m this palace for the last five hundred

8 years
RuLes or ApmissioN, &c — Permission to see the Palace 1s not

gwen to the general public, but may be obtained on application to the

Archbrshop’s Chaplain
The Library s open free on Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays,

from10am to 3 pm throughout the year, except during the week

commencing with Easter-day, the six days succeeding Christmas-day,
and for six weeks from the lst Sept Extracts from MSS or
printed books may be made freely, but for making a copy of an entire

work, or for tracing or drawing from mimiatures or llumnated MSS ,

the consent of the Archbishop must be previously obtarned MSS are

lent by an order signed by the Archbishop, and with a bond of £50 or
£100 for thewr return unthin six months There are printed catalogues
both of the books and MSS

Lambeth Palace 15 a rambling old Gothic building, 1ts different
portions datmg from various periods of the development of the
pomnted style mm England, begmnmg with the early Enghsh portion
attributed to Archbishop Bomiface (1244-70), and closmg with
late Perpendicular  Important modern additions were made by
Archbishop Howley, after designs by Blore The great gateway,
Palace bwldings, and Lambeth Church, form a fine architectural
group The present gateway, one of the largest mn England, was
rebuilt about 1490 It has an extremely fine gromed roof resting
on four pillars  On the right 13 a low door leading ntd the porter's
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lodge, beyond which Is a small room with massive walls, from which
hang three strong rings, supposed to have been used for prisoners
Pagsing beneath the gateway we enter the outer court, with the
stone Lollard’s Tower facing us, and the Great Hall and Manu-
script Room on the right, The exterior of the Great Hall 18 of
the time of Charles IT, but the Manuscript Room and the,whole

LAMBETH PALACE

of the eastern buildings are modern, and harmomze admirably
with the ancient structure

The Great Hall 18 a very lofty and finely proportioned room,
99 feet long by 38 wide and 50 high, built by Archbishop Juxon
on the site of the old hall ascribed to Bomface  The walls are
panelled, the roof consists of an elaborate framework of timber, with
broad semi-circular arches and pendent ornaments, and has a lantern
skylight m the centre The pamted window contams numerous
relics of the did palace, mcluding a portrait of Archbishop Chicheley,
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who repaired the old hall before 1t was rebuwilt by Juxon A star-
case, with an open-work balustrade, leads up from the door of the
hall, at the top of which & screen with & gallery above 1t gives
access to a corridor leading to the new building on the rght, and
the oldest portion of the origmal structure on the left The hall
now contams the Library, consisting of some 30,000 volumes, founded
by Archbishop Bancroft, and bequeathed by him on his death m
1610 to hus successors m the see of Canterbury It 1s extremely
rich m historical records, and the manuscript room n connection
with 1t contains many rare and valuable documents, mcluding the
“Laves and Saymgs of Philosophers,” translated by Lord Rivers mn
the time of Edward IV, and printed by Caxton, an iluminated
Chromcle of St Alban’s, a magmficent MS on the Apocalypse
of St Jobn, with seventy-eight illumiations, ¢ The Lmmogen
Missal Apocalypse,” thirteenth century, ¢ Autograph Letters of
Lord Bacon,” &¢  For further details we may refer our readers to
Mr Kershaw’s valuable book on the ‘ Art Treasures of the Lambeth
Labrary,” and to the catalogues by Dr Maitland and Archdeacon
Todd From the Labrary we pass by a starcase leading up from
the vestibule to a gallery contamming portraits of bishops, from which
a door leads mto the

Guard room, a very beautiful ancient chamber referred to as early
as the time of Henry VI, and supposed to be a restoration of a
foumer guard room, with a fine panelled and carved roof, and walls
hung with portraits of the archbishops, from this room we pass
through some private apartments to the vestry of the chapel,
leading mto the Chapel 1tself, the walls of which are the oldest
portion of the palace, and me supposed to have belonged to the
origmal structure of Bomiface (about 1250) The beautiful carved
and pamted oak soreen and other iternal decorations were
added by Laud (1573-1644) The present stamed glass lancet
windows were the gift of Archbishop Howley, they replace a very
beautiful series representing the entire hstory of man which was
destroyed m the Civil Wars  This chapel and the parsh church of
Lambeth have been the burial places of all the archbishops smce the

L4
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time of Bomiface. From the chapel a grand old gateway leads into
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THE GREAT HALL, LAMBETH PALACE

the Post-room, with a flat decorated ceiling, forming the lowest storey
of the Lolfard’s Tower, deriving 1ts name from the pillar m the
G
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centre, supposed to have been a whipping-post for heretics. A low
door in the corner leads down mto the Crypt, with a gromed roof,
running beneath the whole of the chapel, n which Catherine of
Arragon 1s said to have been tried On the other side of the post-
room 18 the door giving access to the Lollard's Tower, erected by
Archhishop Chicheley (1484-45), named after the Lollards who were
mprisoned in it in the fifieenth century The small room at the top
of the tower called the prison 1s only 13 feet long by 12 feet wide
and 8 feet high  There are eight ron rings m the walls to which the
prisoners are supposed to have been chaned, and the wainscoting 1s
covered with names and mscriptions partially worn away. There are
two windows m this tower, each commanding a fine view, one of the
river and Palace of Westmmster, the other of the archbishop’s

gardens.

CELEBRATED MANSIONS

Holland House, Kensington, about two miles from Hyde Park
Corner, is a fine red brick and stone mansion m the Renaissance style,
bult by John Thorpe 1n 1607 , with a stone gateway m front desgned
by Inigo Jones and carved by Nicholas Stone, and a modern terrace
added in 1848  Holland House, so long the rendezvous of the
Whigs, 18 chiefly remarkable for its hstorical associations, 1ts collec-
tions of pictures by Munllo, Van de Velde, Hogarth, Reynolds.
Turner, Watts, &c, and 1ts fine hbrary  The art treasures can only
be seen by permussion of the owner  For full details respecting them
and the noteworthy events which have taken place m this famous
residence, we refer our readers to “ Holland House,” a book recently
written by the Princess Marie von Lichtenstem

ZLansdowne House, 1n Berkeley Square,—to be seen by permussion
of the owner, the Marquis of Lansdowne,—was built by Robert Adam
towards the close of last century, 1t contamns a very fine collection
of sculptures and pictures, mcluding, amongst the former, a * Her-
cules” found m 1750 near Hadrian'sVilla, Rome, a “ Merdury” from the
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Appian Way , Canova's last work “ A Woman Asleep;” and a statue
of & child by Rauch, and, amongst the pamntings, Hogarth's * Peg
Woffington,” Reynolds' “ Strawberry Gurl,” ¢ Portrait of Laurence
Sterne,” and ten other works from the same hand ; Landseer’s “ Deer
Stalkers returmng from the Hills,” several pamtings by Leshe,
Newton, and other English artists, Raphael's ¢ St, John P:

m the Wilderness,” one of hs earhest works, and portraits by
Sebastian del Piombo, Murillo, and Velasquez

-
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APSLLEY HOUS¥K
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Apsley House, Iyde Park Corner, erected m the early part of the
present century, 1s the town residence of the Duke of Wellmgton,
and can be seen by lis permission only A considerable portion of
the present bwlding, mcluding a gallery mmety feet long, was bult
for the Great Duke It was m a large room facing Hyde Park on
the same floor as the drawmg room that the Waterloo banquets were
held for so many years The fine a1t collection mncludes Correggio’s
celebrated picture of “ Christ on the Mount of Olives,” Velasquez's
“ Watersel®r ,” the scarcely less famous Temers' “ Peasant's Wed-
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ding ;" Ostade's “Bobrs Drinking,” Wilkie's “Chelsea Pensioners
reading the account of the Battle of Waterloo,” and his portraits of
George IV, Wilham IV, Lady Lyndhurst, and others, Sir E Land-
seer’s “ Highland Whisky 8till” and “ Van Amburgh and the Lions,”
o bust of Sir Walter Scott by Chantrey, one of Pitt by Nollekens,
a cologsal statue of Napoleon by Canova, and many other valuable
works by great sculptors and pamters )

e

STAFFORD HOUSE

Stafford House, n St James’s Park, built mn the early part of the
present century for the Duke of York, son of George III, was
sold, on his death, to the Duke of Sutherland It 1s one of the finest
private mansions of London, but can only be seen by favour of the
Duke umself The dining room 1s especially fine, and the so-called
Sutherland Gallery, 126 feet long by 32 wide, contains many exqusite
gems of art, mcludng Raphael’s “Christ bearmg His Cross,” a
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“ Magdalen’s Head,” by Gmdo, three portraits by Titian, and hs
¢ Mercury giving Cupid a reading lesson ™ and ¢ Bt. Jerome m the
Desert,” Munllo’s “ Prodigal Son” and “ Abraham and the Angels ;"
“ A Head of a Young Man,” by Parmigiano ; Albrecht Durer’s “Death
of the Virgin,” Honthorst's “ Christ before Pilate,” Vandyck’s fine
portrait of the Earl of Arundel, Delaroche’s well-known § Lord
Strafford on lus way to execution blessed by Archbishop Laud,”
Wilkie's “ Breakfast Table,” with numerous other masterpieces,
mcluding examples of the best style of Tintoretto, Zurbaran,
Velasquez, Terburg, Lawrence, Bird, Etty, Martin, Landseer, &c.

Devonshire House, T8, Piccadilly, only to be visited by permission
of 1ts owner, the Duke of Devonshire, was built in the latter half of
last century by Wilham Kent  Its most important contents are the
fine series of portraits by Tmtoretto, Lely, Kneller, Dobson, and
Reynolds, the Devonshire collection of gems, and the interesting
eaily editions of Shakespeare, originally the property of John Philip
Kemble The fine modern marble staircase with a glass balustrade
18 worthy of notice

Grosvenor House, Upper Grosvenor Street, the town residence of
the Duke of Westminster, an old mansion with a modern screen in
the classic style, contams the Grosvenor Gallery of Pictures, which
mncludes an extremely fine series of the works of Rubens and Claude,
with other masters, these may be seen in the months of May and
June only, by permission of the Duke of Westminster

The following are the most celebrated pictures —ten landscapes
by Claude, Rubens’ “ Sarah turming Ishmael away,” a small land-
scape, “ The Wise Men's Offermng,” and four large pictures
panted 1 Spain, Titan’s “ Tribute Money,” P Veronese's
‘ Annunciation ” and “ Marriage at Cana,” Gudo’s “ Infant Christ
sleeping ,” two portraits by Rembrandt, and lus “ Salutation,” with
other important works by Murillo, Velasquez, Salvator Rosa, N and
G Poussm, Le Brun, Vandyck, Paul Potter, Dow, Cuyp, Snyders,
Temers, Wouvermans, and other foreign masters, Sir J Reynolds’
“ Mrs Sidds as the Tragic Muse,” Gamnsborough’s famous “ Blue
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Boy;” a lsndscape by Wilson, and West's * Death of General
Wolfe,” “ Cromwell disgolving the Long Parhament,” and other works.

Bath House, 82, Piccadilly, erected m the early part of the pre-
sent century by the first Lord Ashburton, contans & splendid collec-
tion of mictures, principally Dutch and Flemish, which are only shown
to visitors by the special permssion of thewr owner The followmng
are among the most noteworthy —Rembrandt’s portraits of himself,
and of Lieven von Coppenol, G Dow’s “ Hermit kneehing before a
Cruaifix ,” Terburg's “ Gurl m a Yellow Jacket,” Metzu’s ¢ Girl
m a Scarlet Jacket,” Netscher's “ Boy blowmg Soap Bubbles,”
% An Ale House,” by Jan Steen, Teners’ celebrated * Seven Works
of Mercy,” and several other fine works, “ A Village Alehouse,” by
Ostade, two groups of cattle by Paul Potter, fine examples of the
style of Philip Wouvermans, Cuyp, Backhuysen, Van Huysum, and
other Dutch masters, Rubens’ celebrated “ Wolf Hunt” and *Rape
of the Sabines,” numerous portraits and a * Holy Family ” by Van-
dyck, a “ Madonna and Infant Christ with attendant Angel,” as-
cribed to Leonardo da Vinci, a group of samts attmbuted to Cor-
reggio, “A Young Girl and her Lover,” by Giorgione, *Christ
on the Mount of Olives,” by Paul Veronese, Murillo’s “ 8t Thomas
with Beggar Boys,” a “ Madonna and Child with Angels,” and “ Christ
gazmng up to Heaven,” and “ A Head of Aradne,” by Sir Joshua
Reynolds

Bridgewater House, St James’s, opposite the Gieen Park, a fine
modern building by S Charles Barry (1851), the town house of
the Earl of Ellesmere, contamns the celebrated Brdgewater Gallery,
which 1s open to the public on Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays,
and Fridays from 10 to § Catalogues are sold m the gallery
The followmng are among the most valuable and interesting of
the pictures m this famous collection —Raphael's “Vierge au
Palmier” (1506), and his “ Vierge au Diad®me,” Titian's ¢ Diana
and Acteon,” “ Birth of Venus,” “ Four Ages of Life,” and
% Diana and Cablisto,” a very fine female head by Ium, S del
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Piombo's “ Entofabment;” ¢ Salvator Rosa's “HAugures,” An
Caraccr's “ Vision of St. Francis,” “ 8t John the Baptist,” ¢ St
Gregory Praying,” and * Christ on the Cross,” L. Caraccr’s “ 8t
Francis,” a “ Pietd,” and “ Dream of St. Catherme,” Guercmo's
“ David and Abigail,” and ¢ Samts m Adoration ,” Gwdo’s “ Infant
Christ asleep on the Cross,” Tmtoretto’s ¢ Entombment” ande’ Pre-
sentation mn the Temple,” Velasquez’'s portraits of himself and of
Phiip IV of Spam, Rubens’' * St Theresa” (a sketch), and his

BRIDGLWATLR HOUSE

“ Mercury and Hebe,” a “ Madonna and Child,” by Vandyck, four
landscapes by Claude, five by Berghem, six by Ruysdael, two by
Backhuysen, and six by Cuyp, mcluding the famous “ Landing of
Prince Maurice at Dort,” several fine sea pieces by Vandevelde,
mcluding two naval battles, Jan Steen’s “ Schoolmaster” and his
“ Fishmonger ,” Teniers’ celebrated * Village Fair,” ¢ Alchymist
s Study,” “ Village Wedding,” and other fine works, A Ostade’s
% Trc Tracy’ “ Dutch Courtship,” « Lawyer,” “ Village Alehouse,”
&c , Dow’s * Interior, with portrait of himself,” &c , with examples
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of Metzu, Wouvermans, and other continental masters, and some few
works by Enghsh artists, such as Turner's * Gale at Sea,” and
Dobson’s “ Portrait of the Duke of Cleveland.”

Hertford House, Manchester Square, one of the finest private
mansions m London, 18 the residence of Sir Richard Wallace, who
has lately built 2 magnificent gallery for ns celebrated collectzon of
pictures  These he generously lent for three years to the Bethnal
Green Museum, where they attracted many thousand visitors. The
gallery can be seen only by permission of the owner

Dudley House m Park Lane 18 the resadence of the Earl of Dudley,
who possesses one of the finest private picture-galleries in England
It may sometimes be seen by card, to be obtammed of Messrs Smith,
187, New Bond Street Montague House, near Whitehall Gardens,
the town residence of the Duke of Buccleuch, Chesterfield House,
South Audley Street, the town house of the Earl of Chesterfield, the
home of the celebrated writer, Lord Chesterfield, and Lord North-
brook's house, known as the Barmg Gallery, 41, Upper Grosvenor
Street, are also remarkable for the beauty of thewr art collections,
which may be sometimes seen by favour of their noble owners
Among the most magmficent mansions recently erected are Dor-
chester House, Park Lane, the residence of Mr Holford, designed
by Lewis Vulhamy, and Brook House, Park Lane, the residence of
Sir Dudley Coutts Majoribanks
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THE CLUBS

HE Clubs of London are so far-famed and the buildings

are, architecturally, of so much importance that ¥e have

deemed 1t advisable to give & hst of the most m-

portant Permission to view the mterior of any of the

clubs can only be obtammed by the personal introduction of & member

The Umted Service Club-House, at the corner of Pall-Mall and
Carlton Place, was erected m 1826 from designs by Nash, members
must not hold rank unde: that of major mn the army, or of commander
m the navy  There are about 1,500 membe1s

!
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THE ATHENZEUM CLUB-HOUSE

The Atheneum Club-House, at the opposite corner of Carlton
Place, was opened m 1830 The design 13 by Decimus Burton, and
1s remarkable for the frieze which runs round the whole of the upper
portion of the building, the only example of the kind 1 London, the
statue over®the entrance 1s that of Minerva Membership 18 exclu-
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uvely hmited to mndividuals known for thewr hterary or scientific
attamments, artists of emmence, or gentlemen distingmshed as patrons
of literature, science, and art There are 1,200 members The
library 18 one of the best in London.

The Travellers Club-House, 106, Pall Mall, next the Athensum,
was buflt mn 1831 from designs by Barry The Pall Mall front is
said to be an improved version of the Palazzo Pandolfin: at Florence,

THE REFORM CLUB-HOUSE

but 1t 18 1 the garden fiont that the architect has displayed his origi-
nality, and produced a charmmg and graceful composition  The
club numbers 700 members, and, as the name imphes, foreign travel
18 a necessary qualfication for membership

The Reform Club-House adjoms the preceding and 1s also by

Barry, erected mn 1839 The fagade, which 15 much admired, re-
sembles somewhat that of the Farnese Palace at Rome, "The build-
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ing 18 more lofty than either of the before-mentioned club-houses,
having an additional storey which 18 let out m private chambers to
members. The nterior 18 very spacious, especially the large hall,
which occupies the entire height of the ground and prmcipal floors,
and 1s lighted through the core m 1ts cellmg The water supply 1s
from an arteman well, 360 feet deep There me 1,400 members,
all of whom belong to the Liberal party m politics

The Carlton Club-House, next to the Reform, was ongmally
bult by Sir Robert Smirke, but was entirely rebwlt and much7en-
larged by Mr Sydney Smirke 1n 1856 The fagade 1s very strik-

THE CARLTON CLUB-HOUSE

g, the polished gramite pillais giving 1t an extremely rich and noble
appearance  The design 1s Italian of two orders, Doric and Iomc,
and resembles the east front of St Mark’s Libiary at Venice The
material 1s Caen stone , the gramte of the columns and pilasters came
from Peterhead, and was polished by machmery On the ground-
floor 15 a coffee-10om of large propo:tions, surmounted by a glezed
dome, and on the first floor are a sumptuous drawing room, bilhiard
room, and dining room , and above are smokmg rooms and servants’
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dormitories, The club numbers 950 members, who are Conservative
1 politics

The Ozford and Cambridge Club-House follows next the Carlton
It was built in 1837 by Su Robert and Mr Sydney Smirke, and 1s of
joint Greek and Itahan desmign  There are 1,000 members 500
from ea¢h Umversity

The Conservative Club- House, m St James's Street, was opened 1
1845 It was built from designs by Basev:1 and Sydney Smirke, and

S TTIITIITITER
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THE OXFORD AND CAMBRIDGF UNIVERSITY CLUB-HOUSE

with the exception of the Carlton and the Reform 1s, in many respects,
the most splendid edifice of its kind  The fagade 1s of two orders, of
which the upper 1s much admned, the lower or basement 1s
common-place, and there appears to be a total want of umty n
the two divisions, But 1t 1s for its mteror and decorations
that this club-house stands pre-emment  The central hall,
starcase, saloon, drawing room, and card rooms are gmbellished
with encaustic pamtings by Sang  The hall 18 the most striking fea-
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Union Club-Hotse, Trafalgar Square and Cockspur Street, erected
from designs by Sir Robert Smirke, chiefly for merchants, lawyers,
members of parhament, and others

The Garrick Club, 18 and 15, Garrick Street, Covent Garden,
founded m 1831, the present bwilding was erected in 1860 The
club 18 composed of literary men and actors A large number of
portraits of theatrical celebrities, chiefly collected by the late Charles
Matthews, adorn the walls, some of them are extremely nteresting
These may be niewed every Wednesday (except during September,)
between 11 and 8, on the personal mtroduction of a member

= = = =
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THE UNITED UNIVERSITY CLUB-HOUSE

Whate's Club-House, 38, St James's Street, established m 1736,
was previous to that time a chocolate house which dated back to 1698
Horace Walpole and George Selwyn were members In 1814 the
club entertamned the Emperor of Russia and the King of Prussia at a
banquet, and a few weeks later, the Duke of Wellington

Brooks's Club, 60, St James’s Street, was originally founded n Pall
Mall in 1764 The present house was built mn 1778, from designs
by Hollan. Sheridan was black-balled three times by George
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Selwyn, because his father had been on the stage. Both this and
Whate's club are managed on the * farming ™ principle.

The following club-houses should also be mentioned —
Alpne, 8, St. Martin’s Place, Trafalgar Square,
Arthur's, 69, St James's Street
Boéile's, 28, St James's Street
Burlsngton Fane Arts, 17, Savile Row
Cuty Carliton, 83, King Wilham Street
Cuty Inberal, 71, Queen Street, Cheapside
Cuty of London, 19, Old Broad Street
Cwil and Milstary, 316, Regent Street
Cocoa Tree, 64, St James’s Street.

Devonshire, 50, St James’s Street

Farmers, Sahsbury Square, E C

Grafion, 10, Grafton Street

Gresham, Gresham Place, City

Hanover Square (Cercle des Nations), Hanover Square
Juntor Army and Navy, 13, Grafton Street
Junsor Atheneum, 116, Piccadilly,

Junior Conservative, 29, King Street, St James’s
Junior Naval and Military, 68, Pall Mall,
Marlborough, 52, Pall Mall

Natwnal, 1, Whitehall Gardens

Naval and Mslitary, 94, Piccadilly

New Unwersity, 57, St James’s Street
Orwental, Hanover Square

Pall Mall, 7, Waterloo Place

Portland, 1, Stratford Place, W

Ralewgh, 14 and 16, Regent Street

Royal Thames Yackt Club, Albemarle Street
8t James’s, 106, Piccadilly

8t Stephen’s, 1, Bridge Street, Westmunster
The Arts, 17, Hanover Square

The Turf, 4, Grafton Street

Verulam, 54, St James’s Street

Whatehall, Parliament Street

Windham, 11, St James's Square



Parr IV.—PLACES OF PUBLIC WORSHIP.

ST PAUL'S CATHEDRAL

Rures or ApmissioNn —St Paul's Cathedral s open darly, and
nisitors may wnspect the interior except during the hours of divine service,
whch 18 performed regularly at 8 am wn the chapel, at 10 am , and
4 past 3, 0r 4 p m ,wn the ehowr on week-days and on Sundays at 10 30
am, 315 pm, and 7T pm Dbeneath the dome, a space mn which
5,000 persons can be accommodated For visiting those parts of the
Cathedral not to be seen without a gurde, the follounng fees are charged
The Whispering, Stone, and Golden Galleries, 6d , the Ball, 1s 6d ,
¢he Library, Great Bell, and Geometrical Starcase, 6d , the Clock,
2d , the Crypt, with monuments, 6d —maling wn all 3s 2d

HE present St Paul's Cathedral, which occupies the site

of a Gothic church destroyed by the Great Fire of 1666,

was commenced three years after that event, and com-

pleted m 1710 It 18 the largest and finest Protestant

cathedral of the world, and 1s considered the masterpiece of 1its
architect, Sir Christopher Wren

The ground plan of St. Paul's 1s a Latin cross, with nave, chorr,

and transepts It 18 500 feet long from east to west, by about 250

feet wide at the transepts The outside consists of two orders, one

over the other, and the western entrance has a poitico of twelve

Cormthian cdumns supporting an entablature, from which rise eight

H
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composite colamns crowned by & second entablature, surmounted by
» pediment enriched with sculptures and statues by Francis Bird, who
also executed the statue of Queen Amme before the western door.
The western towers, about 250 feet high, are decorated with Corin-
thian columns The dome, the principal feature of the bmlding, 18 &
triple ptructure, conmsting of three domes, one withmn the other, the
part seen from the outsde springs from a base 250 feet high from
the pavement, the summt 18 404 feet lgh The semicircular
porticos, north and south, are very besutiful, and harmomze well
with the dome and western portico Unfortunately, St Paul's 1s
too closely surrounded by houses to appear to advantage, even from
1ts chief approach, Ludgate Hill, but the view from the river or from
Blackfriars Bridge 15 magnificent

The Interior of the building at present suffers from want of deco-
ration, but 18 not hikely to do so much longer, as the best plan for sup-
plymng the deficiency 18 now warmly discussed Another drawback
18 the insufficiency of hght, as from the floor of the church the pantings
on the cnpol::. can scarcely be distingmished The architect 18 not,
however, responsible for either of these faults, for 1t 18 known that
hus first design was for a large central dome enclosed by eight smaller
cupolas, prolonged at the west end by another cupola with a fine
portico The dome and the eight supporting arches of this design
were alone carried out, and Sir Christopher 1s saxd to have wept when
he was compelled to adopt the long nave and side aisles of a Roman
Cathohc cathedral The best views of the interior are to be obtamed
from beneath the dome and from the western doors  The pantings.
in the dome, eight n number, are by Sir James Thornhill, and repre-
sent the chief events in the hife of St Paul Of the few pamted
windows at the west end, the greater number are from Munich, the
gift of private persons The partial gilding of the dome, and the use
of the space beneath 1t for public worship, are due to the enhghtened
hiberality of Dean Milman The following details of the choir, &e
should be noticed before proceeding to ascend the dome and mspect the
monuments the carvings of the choir stalls by Grinling Gibbons, the
pulpit, demgned by Mylne and executed by Wyatt, the organ, built
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by Bernhardt Schmidt in 1694, and then considered the finest n
England, the new pulpit by Penrose, consisting of different coloured
marbles, and, perhaps most mteresting of all, the mscription to
Wren, .St monumentum queris, circumspice” (“If you would see
Ius monument, look around you”), on the mner porch of the north
transept.

+ The Ascent to the Dome —A. door m the south aisle, near the
circle, opens on to a winding staircase leadmg to the long galleries
above the aisles of the cathedral, with massive rafters of timber over-
head In the southern gallery 1s the Library, founded by Bishop
Compton, contaimng 7,000 volumes The decorations of this room
are extremely beautiful The floor consists of 2,300 small pieces of
oak of various colours artistically arranged, and the gallery 1s sup-
ported by huge brackets of oak finely carved At the end of this
gallery 18 the Geometrical Statrcase designed by Wren, and on the lefs
a steep flight of steps leads to the Clock Room, mn the south-west
tower, with the great bell on which the hours arestruck The bell was
cast m 1716 , 1t 18 about ten feet 1n diameter, and weighs 11,474 1bs

On 1t 18 the mserption  “ Richard Phelps made me, 1716 The
dial on the outside of the clock 18 §7 feet 1n circumference, the
minute hand 1s 8 feet long, and weighs 75 lbs , the hour hand 1s
§ feet 5 inches long, and weighs 44 lbs The bell 18 christened
4 Great Tom,” and 18 never used except to ring out the hour or to
toll forth the tidings of the death or funeral of some royal person, or
of a Bishop of London, a Dean of 8t Paul’s, or a Lord Mayor who
has died m office In the northern gallery 1s the model of the first
design for St Paul's, over the abandonment of which Wren shed
tears Returming towards the dome after our examation of the
northern and southern galleries and the clock room, and ascending
another flight of steps, we reach the

Whispering Gallery, so called from the fact that the faintest
whisper uttered i one spot may be heard across the huge circle
to a spot exactly opposite  From this gallery the best view 18 to
be obtamed of the pamtings m the dome, which are, hoWever, much
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myured by the damp. Leaving the Whispering Gallery, we agam
ascend, the steps gradually becommg narrower and narrower, and
reach the

Stone Gallery, 228 feet above the pavement, encirchng the base
of what has been called the “great colonnaded pedestal” of the
dome, 1t consists of an outer gallery with a stone breastworky com-
manding a fine view of London, and also of the statues in the
pediment of the west front, and the western toweis of the cathedral
itself. Higher yet and higher we ascend, gamning the

Outer Golden Gallery, so called on account of the gilt railings,
from which a yet more extensive view may be enjoyed on a clear
day In the early morning m summer time we may see far over
the Hulls of Highgate and Hampstead on the north, over many score
of miles of the flat country of Essex, with the Thames widemng as 1t
approaches the sea, on the east, the Crystal Palace and the range
of Surrey hills beyond 1t on the south, and all the marvellous array
of the West End streets and squares, with Hyde Park and Kensng-
ton Gardens looking hike httle fields, stretchmg far away along the
banks of the river to the west

The remamnder of the ascent 13 through the upper portion of
the second of the three domes before alluded to, which 1s of brick
work and rises above the imner dome mn the shape of a cone, sup-
porting the lantern, ball and cross, and surrounded by the third
dome, which 1s of wood enclosed m lead, and 15 that seen from the
outside  Leaving the last of the steps, we are compelled to chmb
by perpendicular ladders, the last of which brings us to a narrow
aperture leading mto a small room mn the dome exactly under the
ball and cross A strong nerve 18 now required to complete the
arduous ascent, as 1t has to be made by chmbmng up projections m
the masonry on one sde of the room, and squeezing through a
small circular opening at the top, which gives access to a platform
open on all sides to the sky Above rises the dark ball, 6 feet 2
mches m diameter, weighmmg about 5,600 Ibs, surmounted by a
gided cros® 15 feet high, weighing 3,360 Ibs The effect of the
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organ, when heard from below, on the way up or down the dome 18
extremely grand Returning to the floor of the Cathedral,

The Monumengs are most of them interesting rather on account
of the great men they commemorate than from an artistic pomt of
view, the prmcipal are those to Nelson, by Flaxman, R A , to
Lord €ornwallis, by Ross1, to Major-General Houghton, by Chantrey,
the Cadogan and Bowes monuments, and the statue of Sur Polteney

PLAN OF SAINT PAUL’S

Malcolm, by the same artist, the monument to Sir Ralph Aber-
cromby, by Sir R Westmacott , those to Sir John Moore, Howe,
Rodney, and Colingwood, statues of Sir Wilham Jones, the
orentalist, Earl St Vincent, Astley Cooper, Dr Babmngton, and
above all, the statues of John Howard and Dr Johnson, by Bacon,
of Sir Joshua Reynolds, by Flaxman, and the kneelng figure of
Bishop Heber, by Chantrey The Duke of Wellington's monument,
by E Stephens, 18 not yet fimshed , this will be the finest work of
its kind 1n England, and will rival if not surpass the far-famed
tombs of Italy and Germany
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The Crypt contns the tomb of Wren, a smple unostentatious
monument, and the sarcophagus of Nelson, placed 1n the centre of a
circle of pillars immediately beneath the dome, the effect of which
18 very striking when the piers and arches are dimly hit by the guide’s
lantern  Thus sarcophagus was prepared by Cardinal Wolsey for hus
own burial, but his death, in disgrace, prevented its bemng used for
that purpose  Nelson's eoffin was made of part of the wood’ of the
ship L’Orent, which was engaged n the battle of the Nile Dr.
Boyce, the musician, George Dance, the architect; Sir Joshua
Reynolds, Sir Thomas Lawrence, Benjamin West, John Opie, James
Barry, J M. W Turner, Sir E Landseer, all artists, the great
Duke of Wellington and Lord Colhngwood are also buried in the
crypt, before leaving 1t the visitor should turn to a dark recess
n the eastern wall, containing the imnteresting relics of several of the
monuments of old St Paul's, includmg effigies of Sir Nicholas Bacon,
Dean Colet, Sir Christopher Hatton, and Dr Donne, the poet, by
Nicholas Stone, one of our earhest sculptors, The last named,
the only statue 1n anything like good preservation, 18 a genume work
of art

The wisitor to London should endeavour to be present at the
“ Festival of the charity children,” held beneath the dome m St Paul's
Cathedral, on the first Thursday 1n June, when five or six thousand
young children are assembled The charge for admission 18 25 6d.,
and the money collected 18 given to the chanty

The space immediately round St Paul's Cathedral and burial
ground 18 known as 8t Paul's Churchyard
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WESTMINSTER ABBEY.

Rurgs or ApmisioNn —The Abbey and Chapter House may be
seen from 11 to 8 wn the winter, and from 11 to 8 and 4 to 6 w the
summer, every day except Sundays and the great Church festwals
There 18 choral service darly from 10 to 11 am and from 8 to 4 pm ,
during which wisitors are not allowed to wander about the Abbey
The chowr, nave, transepts, and clowsters are free, but suxpence s
charged for admission to the rest of the Abbey, over whick the visitor
18 conducted by a guide .

NNVENERAL Surver —The origmal stone structure of
‘Westmnster Abbey (or the Minster west of St Paul's)
18 supposed to have been bwlt by Edward the Con-
fessor between 1055-65, for a Benedictme monastery,
and to have occupied the site of an old Saxon church datmng from
the time of King Sebert, in the seventh century  All that 1s now left
of the Confessor’s buildings, however, are a few traces about the choir
and the substructure of the dormutory, and the Pyx house, or chapel
of the Pyx (not shown to ordnary visitors), m which the sacred
vessel contaimng the Eucharistic elements was kept, on the south
of the Abbey But few relics of Norman work, and those of un-
certain date, remamn  The choir and transepts of the present building
are Early Enghsh or Early Pomted, and were built by Henry III and
openedn 1269  The present Henry the Seventh's chapel occupies the
site of a chapel to the Virgm, also erected by Henry III  The work
was carried on by Edward I, who added the four eastern bays, which
belong to the transition period, between early English and decorated
Gothic The greater part of the existing building, however, belongs
to the 14th and 15th centuries, having been added under successive
abbots. The west front and window were begun by Richard III
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and completed by Henry VII., to whom also we owe the beautaful
chapel known by hus name The two western towers, which unfor-
tunately do not harmomze well with the rest of the building, were
added after designs by Sir Christopher Wren m the 18th century, so
that with the exception, perhaps, of the Norman, about which some
uncertginty prevais, we have & specimen m Westmmster Abbey of
every style of architecture which has obtained in England from
Anglo-Saxon to early Renassance.

‘Westmmster Abbey as 1t now stands 18 m the form of a Latin cross ;
1t is 511 feet long by 208 wide across the transepts, the nave and
asles are 74 feet wide, the chowr 88 and Henry the Seventh’s chapel
70 feet wide The best views of the outside of the Abbey are from
the open space before the west front, and from the top of Parhament
Street.

The Abbey may be entered erther from Poets’ Corner, the north
transept, or the great west door The last named 1s the best for
& first vimt, as on steppmg through 1t a very fine general view of
the mterior may be obtamed

‘We propose considering first those parts of the abbey which are
open free to the public—viz , the choir, the nave, and the transepts

The Chorr, a beautiful specimen of Early Enghsh architecture,
has been fitted up with decorations in the style which prevailed in
the rexgn of Edward IIT  The stalls and fronts of the pews, &c.,
are all elaborately fimshed. The mosaic reredos above the high
altar, representing the Last Supper, 18 modern, and was designed
by Messrs. Clayton and Bell, the pavement m front of the altar,
however, 18 old, having been laid down by Henry III (1268) The
eight windows m the Lantern, or Central Tower, above the centre
of the choir, are modern, and represent angels, forming part of a
design 1llustrative of the Te Deum, whilst at the east end of the
chorr there exist m the upper windows six figures, fragments of
ancient stamned glass, representing Christ and Mary, Edward the
Confessor, 8t John the Evangehst, 8t Augustine, and S8t. Melitus,
Bishop of London  Other objects of mnterest m the chowr are the
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tombs of Sebert, kittg of the East Saxons, of Anne of Cleves on the
night of the altar, and of Edmund Crouchback, Earl of Leicester,
and Aymer de Valence on the left. The last named 1s an especially
fine specimen of decorated Gothic architecture We must also call
attention to the 1etabalum at the back of the sediha over King
Sebert’s tomb, a beautiful specimen of 18th century srchlt)ectpre,
found by Mr Blore in the Ishp Chapel about thirty years ago

The coronation of our Enghsh sovereigns has taken place m the
eentre of the choir beneath the central tower ever since the building
of the cathedral

The North Transept —Immediately on entermg by the north
door the visitor will note the following monuments On the mght
hand —

Admiral Sir Charles Wager (1743), by Scheemakers

Wilbam Pitt, Earl of Chatham (1778), by Bacon

Lord Palmerston, in the robes of the Garter (1865), by Jackson

Lord Robert Manners, and Captains Bayne and Blair, killed mn

action (1782), by Nollekens, and

Lord Mansfield, Chief Justice (1793), by Flaxman
On the opposite side —

John Holles, Duke of Newcastle (1711), by Bird

George Canning, statue by Chantrey (1827)

‘Willam Cavendish and Duchess (1676)

Sir John Malcolm, by Chantrey

Sir Peter Warren (1752), by Roubihac, and

Sir Robert Peel, by Gibson.

In the Western Aisle, the most interesting monuments are those to —

Sir Eyre Coote, by Banks

Warren Hastings, by Bacon

Ehzabeth Warren, seated figure holding an infant, often termed

“Charity,” by Westmacott
Admiral Balchen, Admiral Watson, General Percy Kuk, and Lord
Aubrey Beauclerk, all by Scheemakers

This aisle also contamns a window to the memory of those who

were lost m HM 8 ¢ Captam,” and a small lancet window to the
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memory of Briga-
dier Adrian Hope,
CB,, killed durmg
the Indian Mu-
tiny.

The east side of
the north transept
was formerly di-
vided mto three
chapels by screens,
but 18 now one
continuous  pas-
sage, this portion,
however, 18 shown
with the other
chapels on payment
of a small fee

Here the visitor
will find the cele-
brated tomb of Sir
Francis de Vere,
—s0 good that 1t
has been sad to
be from a design
by Michael Angelo,
and the remark-
able monument to
Mr and Mrs
Nightingale, by
Roubihac, together
with a full length
statue of Mrs Sid-
dons as Lady Mac-

Campbell,
Telforg the engi-
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neer, by Bailey, and Admiral Kempenfelt, lost with 900 others
in the foundering of the “ Royal George "

The rose window 1n the north transept was erected n 1722, and
represents our Saviour, the twelve Apostles, and four Evangehsts
Beneath are six lancet windows to the memory of officers who fell
m the Todian Mutiny of 1857-8

The South Transept —The name of Poets’ Corner has been given
to a large portion of this transept on account of the number of
monuments to great poets which 1t contamns, the following are
among the most mnteresting —On the south side, Ben Jonson and
Milton, both by Rysbrack , Samuel Butler, author of * Hudibras,”
and Gray, author of the “Elegy in a Country Churchyard,” by
Bacon, Wilham Shakespeare, by Scheemakers , Edmund Spenser,
Thomson, author of *“ The Seasons * John Gay, whose short epitaph
written by limself, has been censured by some for its lewaty , and
Olwver Goldsmith (over the entrance to the chapel of St Blase),
the latter by Nollekens

On the west side, Addison (buried m the north amsle of Henry
the Seventh’s Chapel), by Westmacott, David Garrick, by Webber,
and Handel, by Roubihac

On the east side, beneath a memorial window, the visitor will
note the tomb of Geoffrey Chaucer, ¢ the father of Enghsh poetry,”
surmounted by a Gothic canopy erected m the reign of Edward VI,
but now much defaced The window was executed i 1868 from
designs by J G Waller Close by 18 the monument to John
Dryden, by Scheemakers Beneath the pavement lie Samuel John-
son, Macaulay, and Charles Dickens, the two latter immediately
under the monument to Addison Beaumont rests in an unrecorded
grave beneath the monument to Dryden

Other noteworthy monuments are those to Matthew Prior, by
Rysbrack, Shadwell, Michael Drayton, Cowley, Campbell, and
Southey  On the south side we note also the monument by
Roubiliac, to John, Duke of Argyle and Greenwich, n which the
figure of El8quence 1s much admired
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Busts of W M Thackeray, and George Grote, the historian,
both of whom are buried here, are also on the west side of this
transept

The painted window at the south end was executed in 1847

The Nave —The nave, as a whole, presents an extremely striking
appeaffance, with 1ts clustered columns, lofty roof, long rows of
clerestory windows and galleries of double columns above the smde
aisles The great west window, dating from 1735, 18 filled with
paunted glass representing Abraham, Isaac, Jacob, and other
Old Testament worthies The organ screen, designed by Blore,
was erected in 1831, the organ, which formerly stood m the centre,
was entirely rebuilt m 1848 The screen contans the monuments
of Sir Isaac Newton (1726), and James, Earl Stanhope (1720), both
by Rysbrack  On the right of the western door 1s the monument to
John Condwt, Master of the Mint, by Cheere, above that to Wilham
Pitt, by Westmacott, on the left hand Admiral Hardy, also by
Cheere, and close by 18 James Cornewall, by Taylor

In the south aisle the principal monuments are —
Wilham Congreve, the dramatist
Admiral Tyrrel, by Nathaniel Read
Major-General Fleming and General Wade, by Roubihac
Lieut -General Townsend, by Carter
8ir Godfrey Kneller, by Rysbrack
Major André (shot as a spy during the American wai), by Van
Gelder, and nearly opposite (on the organ screen),
Thomas Thynne, by Quellin, also
Sir Cloudesley Shovel, by Bird, and Sir James Outram (bust),
by Noble
In the north awsle the chief monuments of mterest are —
Charles James Fox, by Westmacott
Right Hon Spencer Perceval (shot i the lobby of the House of
Commons), also by Westmacott
‘Wilham Horneck and Dr Woodward, by Scheemakers
Captain Montague, killed m Lord Howe's victory (1794), by
Flaxman
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Vintors should also note a full length figure of Wilham Wilber-
force (in the chowr asle), by Joseph, and a seated figure of Su-
Thomas Fowell Buxton, by Thrupp There are also tablets to the
memory of Henry Purcell, Willam Croft, John Blow, Samuel
Arnold, and Charles Burney, the composers

In the nave are also the tombstones of Dr Hunter, Robert
Stephenson, the engmeer, Sir Charles Barry, architect of the Houses
of Parhament, and Tompion and Graham, mnventors of the chrono-
meter, next to the latter, a black marble slab marks the spot where
David Livingstone 18 buried, and close by Sir Cohn Campbell (Lord
Clyde), and Field-Marshal Sir George Pollock  Recent interments
have been those of Sir W Sterndale Bennett, the composer, and 1n
the nave Sir Charles Lyell, A window on the north asle1s erected
to the memory of Sir Isambard Kingdom Brunel, the engineer

In the south clerestory of the nave there are s1ix modern windows
(1856-60), the figures mn which, representing the prophets, and
executed by Messrs Clayton and Bell, are nearly 10 feet hugh, this
18 the largest work i stamed glass which has been produced n
England during the present century.

In the Baptstery 18 a statue of Wordsworth, by Lough, and a
small, but elegant, monument to John Keble, the author of * The
Christian Year ”

TrE CHAPELS —1 Chapel of St Benedict —This chapel cannot be
entered by visitors, but 1t may be seen from Poets’ Corner On
the south wall there are remams of ancient decorations The chief
monuments are those to Simon Langham, Archbishop of Canterbury
(d 1876), the Countess of Hertford (d 1598), Dean Goodman (d 1601)
and Cranfield, Earl of Middlesex (d 1645) and lus wife  Before en-
tering the next chapel we notice & much mutilated mosaic decora-
tion commemoratmg the children of Henry IIT, who died mn 1257

2 Chapel of St Edmund —Dedicated to Edmund, king of the
Angles, killed by the Danes about 870 In this chapel the chief
monuments rare those to Wilham de Valence, Earl of Pembroke,
murdered 1296, the most ancient existng example of the use of
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" enamel for mopumental decoration m England , John of Eltham, son
of Edward II, died 1334, n his nineteenth year; Frances, Duchess
of Suffolk, mother of Lady Jane Grey, and Ehzabeth Russell Ed-
ward Lytton Bulwer, Lord Lytton, 1s buried 1n this chapel (d. 1873)

8 Chapel of St Nicholas —Dedicated to the so-called “Boy
Bushop}” Nicholas, Bishop of Myra, the patron of youth (d about
892). This chapel contains monuments to Philippa de Bohun,
wife of Edward Plgntagenet (d 1443), Lady Cecl (d 1591),

CHAPEL OF SAINT NICHOLAS

Mildred, wife of the great Lord Burghleigh, and thewr daughter,
Anne, Duchess of Somerset, wife of the “ great Protector” (d 1587)
In the centre of the chapel stands the handsome monument to Sir
George Villiers (d 1618) and s wife the Countess of Buckingham,
(d. 1632), by Nicholas Stone, who left this memorandum ¢ In 1631
I made a tomb for the right honourable lady the Countess of Buck-
mgham, and sett 1t up m Westminster Abbey, and was payed for 1t
five hundred and sixty pounds.”

4 Henry the Seventh's Chapel —The sculptures of the arch, passing
from Henry the Fifth's tomb, over the steps of this chapél are cited



WESTMINSTER ABBEY, 113

by Flaxman as one of three typical examples of Enghsh sculpture at
this period  The statues withmn the chapel 1tself, which origmally
numbered 3,000, but of which few now remam, are considered the
finest works of Enghsh sculpture produced i the reign of Henry VII

HLNRY THE SEVENTH'S CHAPEL

The chapel consists of a nave, two asles, and five smaller chapels at

the east end, and 1s, mn fact, a contmuation of the chowr of the abbey

itself This peculiar arrangement 1s borrowed from the French

chevet, termmation or apse, surtounded by chapels The chief

beauty of this chapel 18 the fan tracery roof, allowed to be the
I
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richest specimen of the Tudor style of vaulting in England. “This
muracle of the world,” says the old writer Leland, 18 the glory of 1ts
style and age,” and a modern author, Washington, thus describes
1t “ By the cunning labour of the chisel, stone seems to have been
robbed of 1ts weight, suspended aloft as 1f by magic, and the fretted
roof achieved with the wonderful minuteness and airmess of a cob-
web " The chapel 1s entered by twelve steps, the gates are of oak,
with profuse brass and gilt ornamentation, extremely fine examples of

HENRY THE SEVENTH'S TOMB

English brass work of the period of their erection  The banners and
stalls i the chapel are those of the Knights of the Bath  The prn-
cipal monuments are the tomb to Henry VII and s wife, n the centre
of the chapel (by Torregiano, the celebrated Itahan rival of Michael
Angelo), beneath which James I 18 also buried, and the monument
to George Vilhers, Duke of Buckingham, m the nave In the south
aisle are monuments of Mary Queen of Scots, with an effigy of that
sovereign, Margaret of Richmond, mother of Henry VI1 (by Torre-
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giano). In the north ausle are the monuments to Queen Elizabeth,
beneath which Queen Mary 1s also buried,, to Sophia, mfant daughte:
of James I, beneath which James I, Anne of Denmark, Henry, Prince
of Wales, the Queen of Bohema,and Arabella Stuart are also buried,
and a white marble sarcophagus, supposed to contain the bones of
Edward V and s brother Richard, Duke of Yoik, brought®uther
from the Tower CharlesII, Wilham and Mary, and Queen Anne, he
heneath the east end of the south aisle, George II and Queen Caro-
lIime, Frederick, Prince of Wales, and William, Duke of Cumberland,
beneath the central asle, Addison the poet rests in the north asle

5 The Chapel of Eduard the Confessor 1s entered from the
ambulatory or cloister dividing 1t from the chapels of St John,
St Paul, &  The centre 1s entirely occupied by the shrine of
Kiwng Edward the Confessor, which shares with those at Ely and St
Alban’s the honour of being one of the only three existing example<
of the shrines which were once numerous in Great Britain ~ This
shrie was erected by Henry III; the material 1s Purbeck marble
and 1t was originally decorated with glass mosaics, now destroyed
or stolen The lower portions are pierced with miches, in which
sick persons were left mn the might i the hope of a cure bemg
cffected by the samt’s intercession, the panels above these mches,
which are filled in with mosaics, &c, enclose the body of St
BEdwaid The wamnscoting on the upper part was added under
Queen Mary Near to the shrine on the north are the monuments
to Ilenry III and his wife Eleano1, the recumbent effigics on which
are the earhest existing specimens of English metal statuary, the
work of Wilham Torell, the altar tomb of Edward I, of plamn and
1ough workmanship, was opened 1 1774, when the king’s body was
tound almost entire, on the south the tomb of Edward III, one
of the richest monuments m the Abbey, the features of the gilt
brouze effigy are smid to have been cast from a mould taken after
death, the tomb of Queen Philippa, wife of Edward III, of very
beautiful Flemish workmanship, the effigy on which 1s supposed to
be a good postrait, on the east the tomb and chantry of Henry V',
the latter richly decorated with figures, above which are the helmet
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saddle, and shield, used by that king at the battle of Agincourt,

A \
U

the small tomb of Margaret
of York, infant daughter of
Edward IV and that of Ehza-
beth Tudor, mfant daughter
of Henry VII. The Con-
fessor's chapel also contans
the coronation chairs still used
for the coronation of our
Enghsh sovereigns, mn one of
which 18 enclosed the famous
stone of Scone called the
¢ fatal stone,” or “ stone of
destmny,” on which all the
kings of Scotland had sat for

CEESS

CHAPEL OF SAINT PAUL,

therr coronation, and of which Edward I. took posspssion m the

spohiation of Scotland mn 1296,

The stone 18 merely a piece of
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sandstone of a reddish-grey colour, fastened on to the bottom of
the chair with iron cramps  The surface 15 supposed to have been
decorated with elaborate desmigns The second coronation chawr 18
more modern and was
first used for the coro-
nation of Mary, wife of
‘Wilham III A screen,
dating from the reign
of Henry VI divides
this chapel from the
choir

6 St Paul's Chapel
—The chief objects of
mterest m St Paul's
Chapel are the huge
portrait-statue of Watt,
by Chantrey, and the
monuments to Viscount
Dorchester, Lord Cot-
tington, Lord Bourchier
and Sir Gales Daubeny

CHAPLL OF ST JOHN THE BAPTIST

7 The Chapel of St Erasmus leads to 8 The Chapel of St John
the Baptist, m which many of the earhest abbots of Westminster
are burted The chief monuments m this chapel are those to Henry
Cary, Loid Munsdon, Cecil, Earl of Exeter, and Colonel Popham
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9. Chapel of * Abbot Ishp,” above which 18 a chantry containing
the old funeral trappings of great people buried n the Abbey The
chapel 1tself contamns the tomb of Abbot Ishp,d 1532, who took some
share m the bulding of Henry the Seventh’s chapel and the west front
of the cathedral, and the monument to Sir Christopher Hatton  Just
outeide this chapel m the aisle of the Abbey 1s the monument by
Wilson, to General Wolfe, killed at the taking of Quebec

We have now completed our mtroduction to the mside of the
Abbey, and leaving 1t by the door on the south aisle of the nave
we enter the Clowsters, built partly by Henry III and partly by
Edward I, and completed late m the fourteenth century  The part
erected by Henry III 1s actually within the walls of the Abbey, and
forms a lower storey to one of the aisles of a transept, the eastern
wall being carred, however, a little beyond the closter, to foom an
entrance to the chapter-house and dormutory Edward I carried
on the north walk of the cloister, and the other and outer bar are
exact 1mtations of his work In the south cloister axe the nearly
destroyed effigies of Vitahis (d. 1087) and Crispmus (d 1117), which
are among the very earliest 1elics of English monumental a1t , n the east
cloister monuments to Sir E Godfrey and Lieutenant-Geneiral Withers,
i the west cloister monuments to George Vertue and Woollett, and
m the north the graves of Sn John Hawkms and others, but no
monuments of mmportance The doorway from the church mto the
closter 1s extiemely fine but much mjured At the south-east corner
are the chapel of the Pyx and other1elics of the original Anglo-Saxon
building already referred to The Pyx house 1s supposed formerly
to have contamned the 1ecords of the Treasury, &, and can only be
visited by the special permission of the Lords of the Tieasury

Adjoimng the south-west towei, and httle inferzor 1n interest to
the Abbey 1tsclf, 18 the Jerusalem Chamber It was built between
1876-86 by Nicolas Lithyngton, abbot of Westminster The
large square north window contamns some fine specimens of ancient
glass which are of much earher date than the room 1ts'elf Henry
IV died mn this room, and Edward V 1s said to have been born
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m 1t It 18 now vised for sittings of the Upper House of Convo-
cation, and 1s not open to the pubhc

The Chapter House 1s situated on the south side of the Abbey, and
18 entered fiom the east closter by a magnificent double doorway
with a finely decorated pediment, the sculptures of which are said
to have been coloured, traces of colouring still remain ghefore
speakmg of the chapter-house itself, we must mention a curious
10om but httle known to the pubhe, and erroneously called the
Chapel of St Blaise, situated betwcen the south transept and the
entrance to the chapter-house, and approached by a doorway said to
be covered “with the skins of Danes tanned” The100fof this room
18 lofty and finely gromed  The east end was evidently a chapel, and
contams fiagments of sacied sculpture and pamtings There exist
other curious chambers m connection with the chapter-house, the
origmal use of which has not been determimed

The chapter-house 1tself 1s a fine octagon Gotlic building, exected
m 1250 by Hemy III and has been carefully restored by Sir Gulbert
Scott The ongmal central pillar of Purbeck maible still exists
and 15 said to have been used as a whippmg post for refiactory
monks  On the walls there are remams of a pamting of “ Chnst
suriounded by the Cluistian Vitues,” dating from the fourteenth cen-
tury, with otheis of a ruder charactel, representing scenes from the
Apocalypse  The floor of the chapter-house 1s considered one of the
finest specimens of encaustic paving now existing The fiist meeting
of the ITouse of Commons was held m this building, 1t having been
given up to Parhament by the monks of Westminster i the time of
Edward I In the time of Edward VI, on the tiansference of Pai-
hiament to St Stephen’s Chapel, 1t became a public record office
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THE PRINCIPAL CHURCHES OF LONDON.

THE TEMPLE CHURCH

Is sutuated a hitle to the east of Temple Bar, and between Fleet Street
and the Thames  The verger 1s in attendance daly from 10 tll 12
am and from 1 tll 4 p m., and wrll expect a small fee for showng
the buwlding  Strangers can only be admtted to divine service on
Sundays and Festivals by the wtroduction of a member of the Inner
or Middle Temple The keys of the Church are w charge of the
porter, whose lodge 1s at the top of Inner Temple Lane

¢HE Temple Church, dedicated to St Mary, origmally
) belonged to the Kmghts Templats, and 15 divided mto
Y two paits, a circular portion known as the “Round,”
formerly used by lawyers to receive their chents, bwlt
m 1185, n the transitional Norman style, and an oblong portion,
consisting of & nave and side aisles in the Early English style, com-
pleted m 1240 The Round 1s especally interesting, as theie are
but four churches in England of a similar form The quiet unpre-
tending Norman doorway 1s finely carved, and as we enter 1t we are
at once arrested by the beauty of the view of the iterior, the black
marble pillars of the circular building contrasting with the tender
colourmng of the surrounding walls and of the rchly decorated 100f,
to which the long aisles, the gromed vaulting, and the beautiful east
wimdow of the choir, form a fitting background  The Round, which
had suffered much from decay, neglect, and 1ll-treatment, has been
well restored at the expense of the Benchers of the Temple, to
whose enhghtened liberality we owe the fine Purbeck marble pillars,
the beautiful tesselated pavement, and the restoration of the effigies
now ranged along either mde of the central avenue, which are
valuable not only as genuine works of art, but as bemfy the best
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exsting authorities for the costumes worn by mihtary men in the
twelfth and thirteenth centuries

Before entering the choir the visitor to the Temple should walk
along the low aisle encircling the Round, and note the fine marble
pillars with Norman capitals supporting pomted arches (thus mark-
ing the transition from the Romanesque to the Gothic style), grich
rise from the stone seat running along the lower portion of the wall
of the whole church, and the low, richly-carved arcade also springing
from the seat, decorated with sculptwied heads, some of which are
characteristic, and fascinating

PLAN OF THE TEMPLE CHURCH

The choir, which was restored between 1839-42 at a cost of £70,000,
15 one of the most beautiful eawting examples of Ealy Enghsh
architecture  The groned roof, supported by dark marble pillars
(which were long encased mn whitewash to protect them from the
1conoclasts of the Reformation) 1s elaborately decorated, and the east
end, with a central window, contaming a serles of designs from the
hfe of Christ, 15 one glow of coloww  On the left of the altar 18 a
monument m white marble to Selden (died 1654) , Oliver Gold-
smith 15 buried m the cemetery east of the choir  Of the 1emaming
details of the church the most noteworthy are the tombs of Plowden
the lawyer and Howard the letter-wniter, m the tiforrum, to which
a narow wfndmg-bta.lrcase leads up from the rotunda, the bell-
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ringer’s cell on the mde of the circular staiwrs, supposed to have been
a pemtential cell, the carved benches, and the portraits of the kings
decorating the upper part of the archways dividing the rotunda from
the chancel

The organ of the Temple Church was built by Father Schmydt,
and cgntawns 3,334 pipes It has been played by both Blow and
Purcell, the present orgamst 1s Mr. Hopkms, the well-known
composer and musician  The chowr boys are specially retained for
service in the Temple, and are only permitted to sing elsewhere by
royal 1equest The mcumbent of this church 1s called the Master of
the Temple

St Saviour’s, or St Mary's Overy, Southwark, 1s a very fine ex-
ample of Eaily English architecture, second only m beauty to West-
minster Abbey It occupies the site of an Anglo-Saxon building,
some small fragments of which were discovered m 1847 The pre-
sent building 15 m the form of a cross, and consists of a lady chapel,
1estored n 1832, a chorr, restored n 1822, and nave, restored n
1840, about 300 feet long, with northern and southern transepts,
extending about 40 feet from their pomt of junction with the nave
The chief pomnts to notice are the tower, a good example of thuteenth-
century architecture, with external tiaces of the style prevalent
the sixteenth century, the 11chly-decorated altar-screen m the Flond
or Tudor style, on which the pehcan, the device of the donor,
Bishop Fox (d 1328), 15 scveral times repeated, and the side win-
dows in the south transept, filled with exquisite Early English tracery
The modern window 1n the north t1ansept, to the memory of the late
Prince Consort, 15 also worth examination The chief monuments
m this chmich are those of Gower the poet (d 1402) and Bishop
Andrewes (d 1626), and we may also mention those to John Tre-
hearne, John Bingham, and Lockyer, all of the scventeenth century,
which are rather quamt thar beautiful ~Edmund Shakespeare,
brother of the poet (d about 1607), Ph Henslowe (d about 1615),
John Fletcher (d 1625), and Massinger, the dramatic poet (d 1638
or 1639), are buried here without monuments Several important
lnstorical ceremonies have taken place m this church, the marrmage
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of James I of Scotland to Jane Beaufort , and the obsequies of Bis-
hop Gardimner (1555)
and of the Duke of \ 1 Y i " -
Norfolk (1554) ; muﬂ“g‘“m“"l “
il 7

St Bartholomew
the Great, West
Smathfield, 18 one of
the oldest and most
interesting of the
churches of London
It 1s all that now re-
mains of the church
of the priory of
St  Bartholomew,
founded about 1102
by the comt singer
Rahere, the friend
of the Saxon Here-
ward, who long op-
posed Wilham the
Conqueror The
church as 1t now
stands consists of a
chorr and one tran-
sept, with one bay
of the old nave su-
mounted by a towez,
which bears the date
of 1628 uponit The
greater part of the
church 18 Norman,
with some details 1n
the Perpendicular
and Early English styles St Bartholomew’s was restored in 1865-69,
and 1ts most noteworthy feature 1s the eastern apse (Norman), consist-

CHOIR ARCHES —ST BARTHOLOMEW
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g of four massive round arches supported by huge columns, leading up
to three similar but wider arches on yet larger columns, forming the
present choir, the effect of which 1s, however, considerably spoiled by
the square end of an adjoming workshop jutting out above the altar

The roof 18 of wood with Perpendicular detauls, the clerestory 1s Early
Enghigh, as 15 also the fine external gateway with the dog-tooth enrich-
ments characteristic of the latter style 'To the north of the altar 1s
the tomb of Rahere (mentioned above), erected, long after that hero’s
death, n the Perpendicular style, with a baldacchmno and effigy

This chuich also contams monuments to Sir Walter Mildmay (d

1589), founder of Emanuel College, Cambridge, and to James Rivers
(d 1641), the latter attributed to Hubert Le Seur St Bartholo-
mew's gate faces the open space which was once the scene of so
many martyrdoms, tournaments, fairs, and other exciting shows of
Old London  Beneath the ground immediately mn front of the
church, a number of charred human bones were discovered i 1849

The Chapel Royal, Savoy Street, 1s situated between the Strand
and the niver, and was formerly the chapel of the hospital of St John
the Baptist It 18 in the Perpendicular style, and was built in the
reign of Henry VII, on the site of the Old Palace of the Savoy
It was the first chapel in which the Laturgy was performed in England
after Queen Elizabeth restored the use of the vernacular tongue
It belongs to the Crown, bemng withm the Duchy of Lancaster, but
18 used as a district church  In 1864 the roof and all the iternal
fittings and decorations were destroyed by fire, but 1t was carefully
restored at the expense of Her Majesty i 1865, and the present
cellng 18 an exact copy of the one which was burnt, 1t contains 138
compartments decorated with sacred symbols and the arms of various
Dukes of Lancaster ~The pamted window at the east end, represent-
mg the “Crucifixion,” 18 by Willement, and 13 a memorial to the
Prince Consort, presented by _the Queen  The sand glass m the
pulpit, replacing one used m Puritan times, was also presented by Her
Majesty, and the font commemorates the two great artists, Peter de
'Wint and W Hilton, who are buried in the churchyard { recumbent
figure of the Countess Dowager of Nottmgham (d 1681), with
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several mteresting brasses and tablets, were amongst the relics
destroyed by the fie The Savoy Chapel 1s mteresting as having
been the scene of the “ Savoy Conference” on the Laturgy mn 1649
On account of the smallness of the bwlding, two services are per-
formed on Sunday morningg, one at 10 and one at half-past 11

St Ghles, Cripplegate, one of the oldest and finest churc‘ixes of
London mn the Gothic style, built mn 1545, and one of the few to
escape the Fire of 1666 Restored mn 1864 The burial place of
Milton, Speed the chronicler, and J Fox the martyrologist The
tower has a peal of fourteen bells, one of the most musical in Lon-
don  The chimes are played cvery three hours Oliver Cromwell
was married m this chuich

St Pancras-in-the-Fuelds, a very mteresting old church, near the
Midland Railway Termmus, m the Anglo-Norman style, greatly
enlarged m 1848 by A D Gough and Roumieu, with a cemetery
which has been used for Christian burial for 700 years, but has lately
been irreverently pierced by a 1mlway tunnel The followmng
account of St Pancras, quoted from Mackeson’s “ Guide to the
Churches of London,” may be mteresting “St Pancras-mn-the-
Fields 1s a prebendal manor i Middlesex, and was granted by Ethel-
bert to St Paul’s Cathedial about 603 It was a parsh before the
Conquest  Its ancient church, which Stuckeley states occupies the
site of & Roman camp, was crected about 1180, consisting of a na-e
and chancel built of stones and flints, and a low tower with a bell-
shaped roof ” The following noted men are buried m the church
Wilham Woollett, the engraver (d 1785), John Walker (d 1809),
author of the Dictionary, and Paoh, the Corsican exile (d 1809)

St Helen's, Bishopsgate Street — A very mteresting old Gothic
building, restored by Imgo Jones (1632-33) This chwch origmally
belonged to the priory of the nuns of St Helen's, founded about
1216 by Wilham Basing, dean of St Paul’s The outside presents
a strange agpearance, consisting, as 1t apparently does, of the bodies
or naves of two churches side by side, with a small turret rsmng
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from the pomt of mtersection The mnsmde 18 equally pecuhar, and
the double nave, with the wrregularity of the detais, such as the
windows, &c , suggests the conclusion that the present building org1-
nally formed two churches The most noteworthy of the numerous
monuments are those to Sir John Crosby (d 1475) and lus wife, a
fine altar tomb with recumbent figures, Sir Thomas Gresham (d
1599), John Seventhorpe (d 1510), Sir W Pickermg and his son
(d 1542 and 1594), with recumbent figure and marble canopy , Sn
Andrew Judd (d 1558), with three fine male and female figures, and
Sir Julius Casar (d 1636), the last-named by Nicholas Stone

St Cathermne Cree, Leadenhall Street —A fine old Gothic building
of uncertamn date, the name Cree, a contraction of Christ's Church,
supposed to occupy the site of a church 1emoved with three others
to make way for the Priory of Holy Trimty, Christ Church, founded
by Matilda, wife of Ilenry I  Imgo Jones 1s said to have had some-
thing to do with the restoration  The long row of pomted windows
1s especially admired, and the confusion of Gothic and Corinthian
details of the interior 1s not otherwise than picturesque  Unfortu-
nately the western window, which, judging from the tracery at the
top, must be very beautiful, has been walled up Hans Holbemn, the
pamter, 18 buried erther within the church or i the burial ground,
and of the numerous old monuments, we may name that to Sir
Nicholas Throckmorton

Beneath a house near the pump at Aldgate, and close to St
Catherme Cree's, 1s a beautiful crypt, supposed to have belonged to
St Michael's, another of the churches pulled down for the erection of
the priory mentioned above

St Olave's, Hart Street, Mark Lane, a fine church in the Perpen-
dicular Gothc style, date about 1400, remodelled by Wren, restored
by A W Bloomfield, and reopened in 1871

All Hallows Barking, Great Tower Street, a very old church (date
unknown), m the ancient Gothic style, with Tudor details pdded about
1634, founded in the time of the Normans by the Abbey of Barking,
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whence 1t derives 1ts name  Archbishop Laud was buried here, but
his body was subsequently removed to Oxford

Of the churches built entirely or partly after Wren's design, the
prmcipal are

St Mary-le-Bow, Cheapsiude, known as Bow Church, occupymg
the site of an old chwich destroyed m 1666, and completed, as & now
stands, 1n 1680, the mternal fittings were restored and the galleres
removed 1n 1867 The crypt and vaulted arches supporting the super-
structure are Norman, and were incorporated by Wren m lus new
bwlding The former 1s now filled with coffins, but was once used
for the sittings of the “ Court of Arches,” so called fiom the bows or
arched vault of the ciypt The steeple, which 1s 235 feet high, 1
greatly commended by Fergusson The tower contams a balcony
overlooking Cheapside, said to have been suggested to Wren by the
old shed from wlich our kings used to overlook the merrymakings m
Cheapside  The far-famed “ Bow bells,” of wluch there are ten, are
still rung at nmme o'cdock pm, as they were m the muddle ages
People born within the sound of Bow bells are considered true Lon-
doners, or *“ Cockneys ”

St Michael's, Cornhill, with a classic tower, a copy of the cele-
brated Chapel Tower of Magdalen College, Oxford, and a carved
Gothic gateway, both by Wien, 1s a very fine building, and has been
admurably restored and decorated under Sir G Scott (1860) The
reredos of marble and granmte, with figures of Moses and Aaron, by
Straiker, the large wheel window, and the ca1vings of the pulpit, by
W G Rogers, with pelicans by Grmling Gibbons, are the chief
details of the interior worthy of note  Appheations for seeing the
church should be made at the porch m St Michael’s Alley

St Mary, Aldermary, Bow Lane and Queen Victora Street,
opposite the Mansion House Station (the name signifying Mary the
elder of the churches so dedicated 1n London) 1s one of the finest city
churches, and was built by Wren on the plan of an old Gothic church,
retamning the. clustered pillars and fan-tiacery roof of 1its proto-
type, adding a steeple such as he alone could design Near the
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original church stood the tavern of Richard Chaucer, father of the
poet, who 1s supposed to be buried beneath the present church

St Stephen’s, Walbrook, behind the Mansion House, is remarkable
chiefly for its mterior It 18 mn the so-called cinque-cento (15th
century) style, and mn 1ts arrangements Wren 1s said to have tried
Iis design for St Paul's on a small scale, eight Cormthian columns
of stone support an entablature, fiom which spring eight arches
surmounted by a cupola of timber and lead greatly emiched, which
covers mn the central space The effect 18 extremely hght and
graceful On the north wall 18 West’s celebrated pamting of the
¢ Martyrdom of St Stephen,” the largest east window by Willement,
representing the “Ordmation and Death of the first Martyr,” and
the smaller windows, by Gibbs, are also very fine The organ, by
G England (1760), rebuilt by Hill (1872), 1s a handsome structure,
harmomzing well with the architecture of the mterior

St Bride, or St Bridget, Fleet Street, was completed i 1703
The steeple 1s especially admired, and 1s considered second only m
beauty to that of St Mary-le-Bow  The mterior 1s also very beau-
tifu), the dark oak pews haimomzmg well with the white pillars and
carvings, and the deep subdued colours of the east window, which 1s a
copy, by Moss, of Mr Rubens’ “ Descent fiom the Cross ” Like many
city chuiches, St Bride has a spacious vestry, capable of accommo-
dating a large meeting of vestrymen The chief celebrities buried
within 1ts walls are Richard Baker, the author (d 1645), Richard
Lovelace, the poet (4 1658), and Richardson, the author (d 1761)

St Dunstan-in-the- East, Great Tower Street, 1s a fine church m
the Perpendicular Gothic style, occupyng the site of an old church
destroyed m the Fire of 1666, of which the font now m use 1s the only
existing relic It was restored mn 1822  The tower and steeple are
by Wren, the latter, an extremely hight and graceful structure, rest-
g on four arched supports, springing from the corners of the tower,
18 said to have been designed by Miss Jane Wren, and 18 also
said to have been the result of a first attempt to erect a steeple upon
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quadrangular column$ m England (See Kmght's “ London,” vol v
p 189) The vestry contans some carvings by Grinhng Gibbons

St Lawrence Jewry, by Guildhall, Gresham Street, 158 m the Itahan
style (1671), decorated and rearranged by Blomfield n 1867, with a
fine series of windows by Clayton and Bell, Heaton and Butler, and
Cox Between the east windows of the chancel there 1s a mogaic of
the “ Ascension ”

St Mary Abchurch, Lombard Street, chiefly noticeable on account
of the finely-carved altarpiece by Grinling Gibbons, and the pamntings
m the cupola by Sir James Thornhill

St Magnus, London Briudge, on the Basilical plan, has been par-
tially rebuilt, but without alteration of the origmal design Tt hasa
handsome mterior , the most noteworthy details of which are the fine
altarpiece, and the monument to Miles Coverdale, once rector of the
parish, who published the first Enghsh Bible

Other city churches are —

St Mary Woolnoth, Lombard Street, bmlt mn 1716, 13 considered
Hawksmoor’s finest work It 18 1n the Revived Classic style, with a
handsome and harmonious exterior, and a beautiful interior, some-
what marred by the pews and galleries, which do not accord well
with the Greek columns and entablatures

St Swithwn's,! London Stone, Cannon Street, contans on 1ts south
front the celebrated “London Stone,” supposed to have been a
Roman milliary It 1s a lazge mass, nearly buried, the ground having
accumulated from 15 to 20 feet

St Bartholomeu's-the- Less, near the hospital of the same name,
by Hardwicke, one of the finest modern churches of the metropolis,
with exceptionally aitistic internal decorations

St Botolpl's, Bishopsgate, 1s a favourable specimen of the less-
pretending churches of the time (George I) It 1s the only known
work of 1ts architect, James Gold

' 8t Switlyn was Bishop of Winchester, and tutor to the great King

X
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8t Sepulchre’s, Newgate, 18 chiefly remarkable for 1ts handsome
tower and porch, the latter of which escaped the great fire of 1666
The tower has lately undergone restoration

St Andrew's, Holborn, was 1n great part rebwlt by Wren, 1t has
fine organ, and a good east window by Price

St ¢ Dunstan-in-the- West, Fleet Street, 18 a modern octagon church
1 the Gothic style, by J Shaw, completed 1n 1833, occupymg the
site of the old church of St Dunstan, the clock of which, now in a
villa in Regent's Park, was so famous the hours and quarters bemg
struck by clubmen on a bell suspended between them The tower of
the present church 1s handsome, and the mterior extremely pleas-
mg  The lines of architecture lead the eye up to the central pendent
ornament, and the arrangement of the galleries and pews 13 very
effective  The altar, surmounted by a window by Willement,1s at
the north end 'We may add that the vestry, a spacious apartment,
contams a picture of the old church, and several interesting rehics,
such as a brass mace-head, &c

St Clement Danes, Strand, escaped the Great Fire, but age and
decay led to 1ts reconstruction in 1680, when Wren gave hus services
gratwitously The church, according to some, derived 1ts name from
being the burial place of Harold Harefoot A great number of dis-
tinguished persons he buried here

St Mary-le-Strand, next to St Clement’s, was built by Gibbs be-
tween 1714-17

The principal west-end churches are —

St Martw's-in-the- Fields, Trafalgar Square, considered the finest of
Gibbs's works, was completed i 1726 The exterior, with 1ts fine
Cormthan portico, 13 very generally admired, but 1t 1s after all only
a farly accurate copy of a classic design, and the steeple, though a
handsome and well-proportioned structure m 1tself, does not harmonize
with the rest of the bulldmg  The mterior has an arched roof, sup-
ported on Cormthan columns, with an entablature broken and dis-
torted to make room for the galleries The chief persons of note
mterred mn or near this church are Nell Gwynne, the celebrated
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beauty (d 1687), Hilhiard, the mimature pamter (d 1619), Dobson,
the pamter (d 1646), Boyle, the philosopher (d 1691), Nicholas
Stone (d 1647), Roubihac, the sculptor (d 1762), John Hunter, the
surgeon (d 1793), Jack Sheppard (d. 1724), and Farquhar, the
dramatist (d 1707) In the parish 1egister 1s recorded the baptism
of the great Lord Bacon

St Paul's, Covent Garden, a fine modern building 1n the revived
Tuscan style, by Hardwick, was completed 1n 1798, the intertor, re-
arranged by Butterfield, was reopened 1n 1872 1t occupies the site
of a church by Imgo Jones, burnt 1n 1795 Samuel Butler, author
of “ Hudibras” , Robert Carr Earl of Somerset (d 1645), Sir Peter
Lely, the pamnter (d 1680), Grmhng Gibbons, the sculptor and
carver (d 1723), Dr Arne, the composer (d 1721), Robert
Strange, the engraver (d 1792), Thomas Girtn (d 1802), founder
of the Enghsh school of water-colour pamting, Edward Kynaston
(d 1712), and Wilham Wycherley (d 1715), both dramatists, aie all
buried n the cemetery of §t. Paul’s

St Margaret's, Westmunster, the church of the Houses of Parlia-
ment, side by side with Westminster Abbey, occupies the site of a
church founded by Edward the Confessor 1t has been twice rebuilt,
once 1n the reign of Edward I and agam m the time of Edward IV,
whence we may date the present structure, which was thoroughly re-
stored 1n 1808 The remans of the ancient building are beautiful
and interesting, especially the east end of the chowr, with 1its fine
frescoes, panelled niches, and gromned roof The chief attraction,
however, 15 the east window, representing all the mcidents of the
“Crucifixion,” a true masterpiece, originally panted for Henry the
Seventh’s chapel i the Abbey, by order of the magistrates of Dort ,
the monarch having died before 1t was finished, the window passed into
the hands of the Abbot of Waltham, who retamed 1t until the general
dissolution of the monasteries It was rescued from the hands of the
1conoclasts by General Monk, and after many a narrow escape, was
finally purchased by the House of Commons from a Mr Conyers, of
Epping, mnto&vhose possession 1t had fallen
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8t James, Piccadrlly, a fine church by Wren (1682-84), with an
unpromising extertor but a beautiful interior, arranged to hold
2000 persons and to allow of each one seemg and hearing the
preacher. Theroof and galleries rest upon hght and graceful pillars,
and the details of the rest of the building are extremely artistic and
harmgnious , note for instance the fohage above the altar and the
marble font, both by Gibbons, and the comparatively modern-pamted
cast window (1846) by Wailes, of Newcastle The chief persons of
note buried mm St James’ are Charles Cotton, the friend of Izaak
Walton, the two Vandeveldes, Dr Sydenham, the physician, Tom
d'Urfey, the dramatist (d. 1723), Henry Sydney Earl of Romney
(d 1704), whose monument stands i the chancel, Dr Arbuthnot
(d. 1734) , Mark Akenside, the author , Sir W Jones, the orientahst,
Sir John Malcolm, the warrior and diplomatist, James Gullray, the
caricaturist, Dodsley, the bookseller, and Yarrell, the naturahst
In the vestry hang a series of fine portraits of rectors, mcluding
several celebrities

St George’s, Hanover Square, completed m 1724, was bult by
James, and has a classic portico, second only m beauty to that of
St Martin’s-mn-the-Fields ~ The mterior, which contans all, and
more than all, the orders, was redecorated by Terry m 1871  The
three pginted windows are old (about 1520), and weie brought from
Mechlin A fine pamnting by Sir James Thornhill also deserves
notice but St George's 1s chuefly famous for having been the scene of
so many fashionable marrages In the burial ground (of this parish),
on the road to Bayswater, Lawrence Sterne, author of * Tristram
Shandy,” 1s interred

St Qiles-in-the-Fields, with a tall and slender spire, 15 a modern
bwlding (1734) by Fhitroft, a pupil of Gibbs, and 15 considered hs
best work The imterior 18 especially beautiful, and has an arched
celling, supported on Jomc pillars The so-called “Resurrection
Gate” at one corner of the churchyard, with a representation of the
Resurrection n the upper part, 18 much older than the present church,
and dates from 1687 It belonged to an old place of wérship, rich i
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historic monuments Flaxman, the sculptor, Chapman, the trans-
lator of Homer , and Andrew Marvel, the poet and patriot, are
buried beneath St Grles '

St Mary-le-bone, Marylebone Road, a modern church by Hard-
wick (1813-17), n the Classic style, occupymng the mte of a very old
buildimg, the chief pomnt of mterest in which 15 an altar-prage by
Wren, presented by lumself to the former building

St Pancras, Euston Road, a modern church by Inwood Brothers
(1819-22), 1n the pure Giecian style, the body, which 1s of Portland
stone, bemg a copy of the Erechtheum at Athens, and the steeple
an mmtation of the Temple of the Winds  The portico 1s Ionie, with
six columns, the galleries mside are supported by columns taken
fiom casts of the Elgm Marbles in the British Museum  Above the
altar are six verd-antique Tonic columns, with bases and capitals of
white marble, copied from the Temple of Minerva, the cething 1s co-
loured as that of Greek temples 1s supposed to have been, we must
also call attention to the ground-glass windows, with rich borders
and to the pulpit and 1eadimg desk made of the Fairlop oak

St Alban-the-Martyr, Brook Street, Holborn, a fine modern
building by Butterfield (1861-62), mn the Revived Gothic style
(Middle Pomted or Decorated), containing some noteworthy frescoes
by Preedy, after designs by Le Strange  The services in this church
are of an advanced rituahstic character

All Saints, Margaret Street, the well-known rituahstic church,
a modern bulding by Butterfield m the Revived Gothic style, with a
fine spire and costly internal decorations, mcluding gramte pillars
with carved capitals m white alabaster, a choir screen of white
alabaster, frescoes by Dyce, and pamnted windows by Gerente The
marble font and baptistery were presented by the Marquis of Shgo

St Luke's, Chelsea, a handsome structme by Savage 1824, m the
Perpendicular Gothuic style, with a western tower 142 feet high

St Peter's, Bankside (1840), St Mary's, Southwark (1842), and
Christ Church, Westmnster (1843), are three fine modern churches
in the Revived Gothic style.
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St Stephen’s, Westminster, a fine modern building by Terry
(1849) m the Perpendicular Gothic style, with a handsome staned-
glass window by Wallement

The number of churches of the Church of England m London and
1ts :1mmediate neighbourhood 18 now 786 It has been therefore found
quite ;mposslble to describe more than a few of the most mteresting

Of the places of worship n London not belonging to the Church
of England the most important are —

The Catholic Apostolsc Church (Irvingite), Gordon Square, a fine
modern Gothic bulding by Brandon in the form of a cross, with a
choir 1 three tiers, on the lowest of which are the lecterns, on the
second the stalls of the “elders” with the throne of the “ angel,”” who
corresponds with the pastor of other denommations , and on the highest
the altar  The sect of the Irvingites, called the Catholic Apostohic
Church, was founded about thirty-five years ago by the followers of
Irving (1792-1834), the great Scotch preacher

Wesleyan Chapel in the City Road, close to Bunhill Fields Ceme-
tery, contammg a tablet to Charles Wesley (d 1788), the first
follower of the great John Wesley (d 1791), the founder of the
Methodists, whose tomb 18 behind the chapel

Rowland Hrils, or the Surrey Chapel, m Westmmster Road, built
m 1873 m the stead of the one erected for Rowland Hill in Black-
friars Road, but now removed

Whtefields Chapel m Tottenham Court Road, bmlt m 1756 by
the followers of Whitefield, founder of the sect of Calvimstic
Methodists The chapel contamsthe graves of Mrs Whitefield(d 1768),
with an mscription to her husband, and of Bacon, the sculptor

The Tabernacle, near the Elephant and Castle, built for the Rev
C H Spurgeon by W. Pocock , a large building m the\Itaha.n style,
capable of holding 6,500 persons, with a Cormthian portico, and a
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platform mstead of a pulpit, from which the great Baptist mmster
addresses his congregation

The City Temple, a Congregational chapel on the Holborn Viaduct,
bult for Dr Parker, and opened m 1875

The chief Scotch Churches are —

The Scottish Free Church, Regent Square, built for Edward
Irving, and the scene of the first manifestation of the so-called gift of
unknown tongues

The National Scotch Church,Croum Court, Long Acre, services
at 11 am and 6 30 pm on Sundays

The Presbyterian Church, Swallow Street, Piccadilly

The chief Roman Catholic churches are —

St George's Cathedral, at the corner of St George’s and West-
mmster Roads, a largebmlding n the Revived Gothic style (Decorated)
after a design by A W Pugm It 18 capable of holding 3,000
persons, and 18 the largest Roman Catholic place of worship erected
m England since the 15th century, The Petre Chantry to the
memory of the Hon Ed Petre (d 1848), the lngh altar, the pulpit,
and the font, all richly decorated, are the most noteworthy features

The Pro-Cathedral, Newland Terrace, Kensington Road

The Oratory, Brompton Road

The Roman Catholic Chapel of St Mary, m East Street, Finsbury
Berkeley Mews Chapel, close to South Street, Berkeley Square
The Bavarian Chapel, Warwick Street, Regent Street

The Sardinian Chapel, Duke Street, Lmcoln’s Inn Fields

The Italian Church, Saffron Hill, Hatton Garden.

Spanish Chapel, Spamsh Place, Manchester Square.

The former Chapel of the Embassies,m York St , St James’s Square.
The French Chapel, Little George St, King 8t , Portman Square

High masg, n most of these places of worship, begs at 11am,
and Vespers at 6 pm
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We must also name the followng foreign places of worship of
various denommations —

The German Lutheran Church m the Savoy, Strand

The German Evangelical Church, Halton Road, Islington

The. French Protestant Anglican Church, m Bloomsbury Street,
Bloomsbury

The French Evangelical Church, St James's, close to Marlborough
House

The French Protestant Church, m St Martin's-le-Grand, opposite
the General Post Office

The Dutch Church, m Austinfriars The nave of a fine old build-
mg m the Decorated Gothic style (1248), the chon and transepts of
which were destroyed n the reign of Henry VIII  Presented by
Edward VI (1550) to the Dutch residents in London, pai1tially burnt
m 1862, but admirably restored

The Greek Chapel of the Russian Embassy, entered through a
private house, 32, Welbeck Street , a domed building 1n the Byzantine
style, with corresponding decorations

The Greek Church between 81 and 84, London Wall

The Swedish Church, Prince’s Square, Ratchff Highway, the bunal-
place of Swedenborg (d 1772)

The Great Central Jewrsh Synagogue, Great Portland Street, a
fine building m the Arabesque style, and

The Jewrsh Synagogue, Great St Helen's, St Mary Axe, Leaden-
hall Street, 1n which Divine Seivice 18 performed every Friday, com-
mencing one hour before sunset A visit should be paid at Easter,
when the Passover 1s celebrated



137

THE CEMETERIES OF LONDON

®) dead beyond the abodes of the hving. The Kbmans

Y and Britons had therr graveyards m Goodman's and
< Spital Fields, and later on, Aldermanbury, Lothingbury,
and Bucklersbury were the burial places of London In the middle
ages the mischievous plan of burymg in and around the churches
was largely followed, Inthe seventeenth century the City of London
had a graveyard in Bunhill Fields, and many of the large parishes
opened places of mterment m the outskirts, but London grew
beyond what could have been forseen, and these intended extra-
mural cemeteries soon became mtramural nusances Pievious to
1832, however, there had been a growing desire for the establishment
of suburban cemeteties upon the plan of Pére Lachaise in Pars,
and 1n that year the General Cemetery Company was formed, and a
large piece of land purchased at

Kensal Green, on the road to Harrow This cemetery may be
reached from either the Mansion House or Broad Street terminus, and
also by ommbus Her Majesty has purchased a vault here, and
here are interred IIR H the Duke of Sussex, and the Princess
Sophia, as well as a great number of the arstocracy of England, and
many emment m war and council, and i hiterature, science, and the
arts,, among others Sir C Rowley, Sir Wilham Anson, Sir A Biooke,
Sir J Cockburn, Sir Moore Disney, Sir Hector Maclean, Sir Joseph
Planta, Sir George Murray, Lord Granville Someisct, Chief-Justice
Tmdall, Right Hon P H Abbot, Sydney Smith, Allan Cunning-
ham, Thomas Hood, J C Loudon, George Dyer, the historian of
Cambridge , Dr Birkbeck, founder of Mechanics’ Institutes , John
Murray, the publisher, Su W Beatty (Nelson’s surgeon), Sir An-
thony Carhsle, Dr Valpy, Sir A W Calcott, R A, T Damel, R A |
there are als here the tombs of Ducrow, the equestrian,, Laston, the
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actor ; George Robins, the auctioneer, Ann Scott and Sophia Lock-
hart, daughters of Sir Walter Scott, and John Hugh Lockhart, his
grandson

The Brompton Cemetery, m the Fulham Road, near the Chelsea
and West Brompton Railway Stations, will also repay a visit Here
are uferred many members of the theatrical and musical pro-
fessions, T P. Cooke, who was with Nelson at Copenhagen, and after-
wards obtammed considerable celebrity as an actor of sailor’s parts,
Alfred Mellon, and many others Here also he buried Sir Roderick
Murchison, the friend of David Livingstone, and Field-Marshal Sir
John Burgoyne There 18 also a conspicuous monument, with a
lion couchant and curious mscription, to Jackson, a pugihist, and
another to Robert Coombes, a Thames waterman

Highgate Cemetery, to the north, and Nunkead on the south,
each occupy most picturesque situations, commanding fine views of
the giant City lymg below

Norwood Cemetery, on the southern range of lls, has a pic-
turesque situation, David Roberts, R A, 18 bured here

Abney Park Cemetery, at Stoke Newmgton, on the northern side
of London, has some fine trees A statue of Dr Isaac Watts, by
E H Bailey, R A, 138 n memory of hs residence m the house,
now mcluded 1n the cemetery, and after which 1t 1s named

Other cemeteries are at Funchley and Willesden Lane

Bunhill Fields burying ground was opened as a subuiban cemetery
m 1665, at the time of the Great Plague, and may be termed the
Campo Santo of the early Dissenters There 18 no tomb of artistic
pretensions. Here are buried John Bunyan, author of “ The
Pilgrim’s Progress,” Damel Defoe, author of “ Robmson Crusoe,”
Dr Isaac Watts, Joseph Ritson, the antiquary , Geoige Fox, the
founder of the Quakers, Dr Thomas Goodwimn, who attended
Cromwell n his last moments, General Fleetwood, son-mn-law of
Cromwell, Thomas Hardy, tried for sedition in 1794 Thomas
Stothard, R A , Wilham Blake, and others of lesser note



Parr V.—PUBLIC BUILDINGS AND CIVIfJ
INSTITUTIONS

THE HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT

Rures or ApwmissioN —The public are admatted to the Houses of
Parliament on Saturdays between 10 am and 4 pm  tickels may be
obtained grats at the Lord Chamberlan’s office behind the Victoria
Tower The House of Lords 1s also open to strangers until 4 pm
during the hearing of Appeal cases A peer's order 1s necessary for
admassion to the stranger’s gallery to hear+the debates wn the House of
Lords, and one from a Member of Parlament for those in the House
of Commons., Ladies are excluded, except from a very small gallery
Jrom which hitle can be seen or heard As the accommodation for
strangers 18 very limted, they are admitted wn the order of thewr arrival

The doors open at 4 p m , and when an mportant debate 13 expected
they are besieged long before that hour by holders of orders The
best nights for attending debates are Mondays and Thursdays On
Wednesdays the House sits from noon t1ll 6 p m only

PHE chief public entrances to the Houses of Parhament
are through Westmnster Hall or by a doorway m Old
Palace Yard, both of which lead into the Central Octagon
Hall The royal entrance 1s beneath the Victoria Tower
The private entrance for members 1s from New Palace Yard, con-
nected with Westminster Bridge Station by a covered passage, and
separated from the road by lofty iron railings

GB’NERAL,SURVEY —The Houses of Parhament, also known as the
New Palace of Westmmster, occupy the site of the Old Palace
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destroyed by fire m 1834, part of which is skilfully incorporated
with the new buildings, which are i the Revived Gothic style, after
designs by Sir Charles Barry, who, however, owed much of hs
success m thewr erection to the able co-operation of Mr Welby
Pugmn, the architect, Mr J Thomas, the sculptor, and to Messrs
Ballantgne, Minton, and Hardman, who were employed on the details
m therr several capacities The works were commenced m 1837, and
the outside was completed 1n 1867, but much stall remains to be done
m the way of mternal decoration The material employed for the
outer masonry 18 magnesian limestone from Anston, in Yorkshire ,
the river terrace 18 of gramite The entire area occupied by
the Houses of Parhament and the buildings connected with them
18 about eight acres The chief front, that to the river, 15 940 ft
long, the Jand front 18 not yet completed The palace itself
contains 1,100 rooms, 100 staircases, and some two mles of passages
The entire bulding 18 fire-proof, the wooden ceilings concealing
incombustible vaultng  The roof 18 covergd with galvamzed iron ,
the steam warming pipes are no less than sixteen mles in extent,
and the arrangements for ventilation are the best known to science
The principal rooms are the House of Lords and the House of
Commons, occupymg the centre of the buildings, and divided by the
Octagon Hall, from which one passage runs to the House of Commons
on the north, and another to the House of Lords on the south,
beyond which are the royal apartments The entrance to the
Octagon Hall 1s through a passage called St Stephen’s Hall, which
commumcates with Westminster Hall, now incorporated with the
Houses of Parhament and forming their northern vestibule

The Ezxterior —The best view of the Houses of Parhament 18
from the river, they also present an imposing appearance from
Westminster Bridge and the adjoming thoroughfares, forming, with
Westmmster Abbey, one of the finest architectural groups of the
metropolis The beauty of the sky-hne 1s especially admred The
chief points of the exterior to be noticed are —

The Royal or Victoria Tower, at the south-west corner, one
of the largest structures of the kind m the world , 1t1s 75 feet square
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and 340 feet igh, with a handsome arched gateway, and a porch with
a finely carved gromned roof contanmmg statues of the patron stants
of England, Scotland, and Ireland, in mches

The Clock Tower on the north-east, 320 feet high, contamning a
clock constructed under the supervision of Mr Airy, the Astronomer
Royalswith four dials, each 30 feet in diameter, a great bell known
as Stephen, weighing over eight tons, and seven smaller bells

The Interior —Entermg erther by Old Palace Yard, or through
‘Westminster Hall, we find ourselves in S¢ Stephen’s Hall, 95 feet
long by 30 feet wide, occupyng the site of the old St Stephen’s
Chapel, with a fine roof, the apex of which 1s 56 feet from the floor,
and, having exammed the twelve statues of great statesmen lming
its walls, mcluding Falkland, by Foley, Clarendon, by Marshall,
Hampden, by Bell, Fox and Pitt, by McDowell, &c, we go down
through a door mn the western side of the hall mto the old St
Stephen’s Crypt, which has been beautifully restored and skilfully
mcorporated with the new buildings, and having examined the fine
old pullars, the wondeiful carved bases of the vaulting, one of which
represents the martyrdom of 8t Stephen, the richly decorated floor,
&c, we return to the Upper Hall, and pass through 1t mto the
Central or Octagon Hall, a sumptuously decorated eight-sided
apartment, 80 feet high, with four grand entrances, each adorned
with statues in miches of kings and queens of England, and a gromed
stone roof, the 250 bosses of which are richly carved Fiom this
Hall a passage on the right of the entrance from St Stephen’s
Hall leads to the House of Lords, one on the left to the House of
Commons , and another, opposite to the latter, to the committee
rooms Beneath the four large windows of the Octagon Hall are
entrances to apartments closed to the pubhc Between 4 and 7
pm on the days of an interesting debate, the Octagon Hall 1s
crowded with Members of Parhament passingn and out, or receiving
therr constituents, Leaving 1t by the door opposite to that by
which we entered, we find ourselves 1n the Lower Waiting Hall,
from which we pass mto the Conference Hall, on the‘river side of
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the building, m which deputies of both Houses meet to consult,
with the peers’ and commons’ hibraries and committee rooms extend-
ng along the front of the Houses on either side, beneath which are
the apartments of the Speaker, the Sergeant-at-Arms, the Usher of
the Black Rod, and the
Lords’ hLbraman, after a
glance down the corridois,
which have an unbroken
length of more than 700 feet,
we ascend a much-admired
octagonal staircase and enter
the Upper Warting Hall or
Poefs Hall, which 18 m
course of decoration with
eight frescoes, the subjects
all taken from Enghsh
poets, mcluding a scene from
Chaucer’s “ Griselda,” by C
W Cope, “Lear and his
Daughter,” from Shakes-
peare, by J R Herbert,
“ Satan wounded by the
gpeat of Ithuriel,” from
Milton’s ¢ Paradise Lost,”
by J C Horsley, and “St
Ceala,” from Dryden, by
Tenmel Returning to the
Central Hall, we now take ST STEPHLN'S CRYPT
the passage on our ught

leading to the ITouse of Commons, and noticing, as we pass along,
the fine frescoes on the walls, mostly by E M Ward, mcluding the
“ Last sleep of Argyle before lis Execution,” the * Capture of Alice
Lasle,” &c, we enter the Commons’ Lobby, and pass from 1t mto the

House of Commons, 62 feet long by 45 feet broad, and 45 hugh,
contaming el‘ght rows of seats rising one above the other, with the
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Speaker's chair at the north end The decorations of the House of
Commons are of a very sumple but appropriate character The
panels of the ceiling are of glass, and the House 18 hghted by gas
jets above them There are twelve windows filled with stamned
glass, the walls are hned with richly carved oak, spreading upwards
mto shafts and brackets supporting galleries Above the Speaker's
charr 18 the Reporters’ Gallery, and above that agam the Ladies’
Gallery, while opposite to 1t, on the south side, are deep galleries
for members of the diplomatic corps or of the House, and for
Strangers The mimsters sit on the right hand of the Speaker,
and the leading members of the Opposition on the lefts+ Members
enter the House erther through the public approaches, or a private
door and staircase from the Star Chamber Court, already men-
tioned The dimng-hall, libraries, and smoking-room connected
with the House of Commons, can only be entered under the escort
of a Member of Parhament From the Ilouse of Commons the
wisitor should proceed to the Cloister Court, which 1s one of the
most beautiful parts of the bulding It 1s shut m by a closter of
two storeys, with a very fine fan-tracery roof, a restoration of part
of the old chapel of St. Stephen’s, of the time of Henry VII, which
occupied the site of the present court Returning once more to the
Central Hall, we start for the House of Lords, and passing through
a corridor similar to that leading to the Commons, decorated with
equally fine frescoes, such as Pickersgill’s  Charles I planting his
standard at Nottingham ,” and Cross’s “ Speaker Lenthall asserting
the privileges of the House of Commons,” we enter the Peers
Lobby, the decorations of which have all more or less reference to
the glories of the House of Lords,—with one door on the east (the
left from the door by which we entered), leading to the fine Dining
Hall and Library, closed to the public, and another opposite giving
access to the Peers' Robung-room, contamng the fresco of “ Moses
bringing down the Law,” by J R Herbert, we now pass mto the

House of Lords, 97 feet long by 45 feet wide, and 45 high, the
grandest room mn the whole bulding  The House of J.ords may be
divided into three parts, the southern, contamnng the Throne of the
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Sovereign and the Pr:nce of Wales's chair, the central, the Wool-
sack for the Lord Chancellor, president of the House, and the seats
of the peers, and the northern, behind the bar, for the accommodation
of members of the House of Commons, and the counsel employed mn
legal investigations Facing the throne s the Reporters’ Gallery, and
above 1t the Strangers’ Gallery The northern and southern wall are
adorned with magmficent frescoes, three at either end The  Bap-
tism of Ethelbert,” by Dyce, ¢ Edward III conferring the Order of
the Garter on the Black Prince,” and “ Henry, Prmce of Wales, com-
mitted to prison by Judge Gascoigne,” both by Cope, above the throne,
and the “ Spirt of Religion,” by Horsley, 1n the central compartmen
above the Strangers’ Gallery, with the “ Spirit of Chivalry,” and the
“ Spirat of the Law,” both by Machse, on either side  There are also
twelve stamed glass windows hghted at might from the outside, and
between them are eighteen niches, with statues, by Thomas, of ¢ The
Barons” who obtamed the Magna Charta We next enter

The Victoria or Royal Gallery, 110 feet long by 45 feet wide and 45
high, through which the Queen passes on her way to Parhament It
contains the celebrated frescoes, by Maclise, representing on one side
the “Meeting of Wellington and Blucher after the Battle of Wate:-
loo,” and on the other the “ Death of Nelson” Thence we enter

The Princes Chamber, not much inferior in the beauty of 1its de-
corations to the House of Lords, 1t contains Gibson’s marble group
of the Queen supported by * Justice” and ¢ Mercy,” and portraits of
various British sovereigns And then retracing our steps through
the last-named room, and the Royal Gallery, we may pass into the

Queen’s Robing-room, decorated with frescoes fiom the legend of
King Airthur, by Dyce, from this room a door communicates with the
Norman Porch, decorated with statues of the Norman kings of
England, leading mto the Victoria Tower, already noticed

The entire sum expended on the Houses of Parhament smce thewr
commencement 1 1837, amounts to nearly three millions sterhng

’
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WESTMINSTER HALL

AZAS origmally the hall of the Old Palace of Westmmster,
/2 part of which was destroyed by fire 1n 1834 , 1t was erected
#A by Richard IT between 1397-99 on the site, or rather
— on the actual foundations of the hall built by Wilham
Rufus mn 1097 It 15 110 feet lgh, and 290 long by 68 wide,
with a carved timber roof of the kind known as hammer-beam, con-
sisting of thirteen ribs of timber, and considered to be the finest
existmg example of this species of construction m England or indeed
m Europe It 18 the largest wooden roof unsupported by pillars in
the world

Westmmster Hall 13 mtimately associated with the lustory of
England from the earhest times to the present day Here was
held ‘the remarkable coronation feast given by Henry II to the son
whom he chose to have crowned in his hfetune, at which the'heir-
apparent was waited upon by the reigming monarch, here Edward
IIT received the Black Prince and his prisoner the King of France,
on their pubhe entry mto London, here took place the first meet-
mgs of Parhament before that august body became divided mnto
lords and commons, and here was read the renunciation of the throne
by Richard II, not long after the Hall had been rebwilt by hum at
so vast a cost Yet more thrlling, however, 1s the interest of the
State Trials which have been held within 1ts walls , the names of the
great Chancellor More, tried mn 1535, of Lady Jane Grey, the
Earl of Strafford, King Charles I, the seven bishops of the reign
of James II , and Warren Hastings (1778), stand out from a host
of others as those of illustrious prisoners who have here been arraigned
before the High Court of Justice,

The Law Courts are on the mght-hand mde of this Hall. They
are open to the pubbic when trals are gomng on
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LAW COURTS AND INNS OF COURT

HE prmeipal bwldings in London at present connected
with the admimstration of justice are Westmmster Hall,
the Common Law Courts at Guldhall, the Court of
Chancery at Lincoln's Inn, the Central Criminal Court

m the Old Bailey, the Middlesex Sessions House at Clerkenwell,
and the Surrey Sessions House m Newington Causeway

The Law Courts —It was 1 1224 that the four great Law Courts
of England, the Court of Chancery, the Court of Queen's Bench,
the Court of Common Pleas, and the Court of Exchequer, were first
estabhshed 1m Westmmster Hall, and although they are no longer
held mn the body of the hall, they aie accommodated mn rooms
runmng along the northern side, these bwldings are a great draw-
back to the beauty of the exterior of the Houses of Parhament and
are to be removed when the New Palace of Justice, now i course
of erection near Temple Bar, 1s completed. The Court of Chancery
adjoming Westmmster Hall 18 now chiefly used for the new Court of
Dhvorce, presided over by Sir J Hannen

The Court of Chancery, held m the old hall of Lincoln's Inn, 15
presided over by the Lord Chancellor and two Lords Justices, who
g1t together This hall has lately been adapted for the full and
final court of appeal created by the new act of 1878 The publec
are readily admtted during the hesring of causes. In Lincoln’s
Inn, also, are the courts of thepthree Vice-Chancellors

The Central Crimmal-Goust m the Old Bailey, adjommg New-
gohe Prison, contams two courts, known as the old and new, for the
hearing of criminal causes, the jurisdiction of which extends over
London for a distance of about ten mules from St Paul's The
sittings are monthly, and the public are adnutted to witness the
trmals, the best mode of obtaming a good seat 1s (by appheation
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to the sheriffs for an ;)rder The Old Court 18 devoted to the hear-
g of great tmals, such as murders, and the New Court, a com-~

LINCOLN'S INN HALL AND L1BRARY

paratively modern hall, 1s reserved for mmor criminal causes This
court 18 nomfhally presided over by the Lord Mayor or one of the
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aldermen, but the trials are really conducted by the Recorder or the
common-serjeant of the corporation of London

Clerkenwell Sessions House —The Middlesex Sessions aire held
m a modern building on the west side of Clerkenwell Green, erected
m 1782 m place of the celebrated Hicks' Hall, built m 1610,
‘“as 4 sessions-house for Clerkenwell,” in which many great trials
were held

Inns oF Court

The Inns of Court are colleges for the study of the law, each of
which 15 governed by its own Benchers, or ancients, at Lincoln’s
Inn the governing body 1s called the council, at the Temple the
parhament The Inns of Court, formerly called hostels, are Lancoln’s
Inn, the Inner Temple, the Middle Temple, and Gray's Inn

Lwncolw’s Inn, named after Henry Lacy, earl of Lincoln, has a
chapel by Imgo Jones, partly Gothic and partly Classic, the mteror
of which 1s very fine , and a handsome hall and library added n 1846,
after a design by Mr Hardwicke, the former contamng Watt’s cele-
brated fresco of the ¢ School of Legislation,” and Hogarth’s picture
of “Paul before Fehx,” and the latter numbering amongst its trea-
sures the fourth volume of Prynne’s Records, and the valuable MS,
&c, bequeathed by Su Matthew Hale The gateway in Chancery
Lane 18 the oldest portion of the existing bmldings It was erected
m 1578

The Inner Temple and Middle Temple derive their names from
the Kmghts Templars, who settled m this neighbourhood n 1185
The bmldings belonging to them passed mnto the possession of the
students of the common law after the violent abolition of their order
by Pope Clement V 1 1312

In the reign of Henry VIII the membeis of the Temple became
divided mmto the two societies known as the Inner and Middle
Temple, each having a hall and hbrary of 1ts own, but sharing the
possession of the church ! '



LAW QOURTS AND INNS OF COURT 151

The Inner Temple Hall, the refectory of the old kmghts, after
escaping the Great Fire of 1666, was partly destroyed by another
fire m 1678-9, and was almost entirely rebuilt by Sydney Smirke 1
1870, although some few traces of the ancient structure still remam,

MIDDLE TEMPLE HALL.
such as the gromned Gothic arch formmg the roof of the present
buttery and the gromed ceiling of the adjommng room  The new
hall has a fine open roof, and 1s 94 feet long Dinner 18 daily served
m 1t durng term, at which many curous old customs are still
kept up  The Inner Temple Library 1s on the terrace towards the
river, and 15 8 handsome room 96 feet long by 42 feet wide.
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The Middle Temple Hall was built m the reign of Elizabeth, mn
place of the old hall which was then divided mto chambers, and 18
considered one of the best existing examples m England of the
architecture of that period. The roof and the screen mn the Renais-
sance style are especially admwred. The Middle Temple 15 entered
fronse red brick gatehouse, by Wren, n Fleet Street The famous
Temple Gardens, facing the Thames, so often referred to by Shake-
speare, Dickens, and other great Enghsh authors, stall exist, and are
generally bright with chrysanthemums in the autumn

Gray's Inn, which takes 1ts name from the Lords Gray of Wilton,
18 on the north side of Holborn, and was completed in 1560 The
hall 18 & very fine room with a mchly-decorated timber roof The
present chapel and hbrary of this Inn are modern Gray’s Inn
Walks, or Gray's Inn Gardens, were fiist laxd out i 1600, and were
once & fashionable resort of the notabilities of the metropolis The
name of Lord Bacon, especially, 1s mseparably connected with them
In connection with the Inns of Court there were formerly eight Inns
of Chancery, which were schools of law, bearing the same kind of
relation to their several Inns of Court as Eton School does to King’s
College, Cambridge

Subsidiary to the Inner Temple were Clifford’s Inn, origmally
Clements Inn, and Lyon’s Inn To the Middle Temple belonged
New Inn end Strand Inn  To Lmcoln's Inn, Thaves' Inn and
Furmval's Inn, and to Gray's Inn, Staple Inn and Barnard’s Inn

Porice Courts

The principal Pohce Courts are at the Mansion House , Guildhall,
Worship Street, Finsbury, Bow Street, Covent Garden, Great
Marlborough Street, and in the Broadway, Westmmster  Those
the City are presided over by the Lord Mayor, or the sitting Alder-
man The others are under the control of the Home Secretary,
and are presided over by Barristers, who st daily to hear and dis-
pose of cases. !
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THE GUILDHALL

Rures or ApmissioNx —The Library and Reading Room of the
Guildhall are open free daxly from 10 to 5, except from the 6th to the
12th of November, both days wnclusive The Museum of local ants-
quatres 1s open free daly from 10 to § from the 1st March to e 1st
October, and from 10 to 4 from that date until the 1st of March.

* HIS mmportant public building, the scene of so many civic
banquets, was origmnally erected mn 1411, i the time of
" Henry IV, but was almost entnely destroyed by the

Great Fire of 1666, all that was saved having been part
of the walls, two windows, and the crypt, which 1 one of the most
extensive ancient subterranean vaults in London It is divided mto
aisles by clustered columns, supporting a gromed roof, with richly
carved bosses, &c, and has a fine Early Enghsh entrance archway
The Guildhall was rebwlt m 1ts present form mn 1789 by Dance, but
the true restoration of the interior was not completed until 1867, when
M: Horace Jones replaced the temporary ceihng of the Gieat Hall,
a fine apartment 153 feet long by 48 wide, by an open oak roof with
a central lantern and a spire At about the same time the front
towards King Street was restored, many of the old windows were
re-opened and filled with stamed glass, and a new stone floor was
mtroduced There are several monuments 1n the great hall, but 1ts
most celebrated contents are the gigantic statues known as Gog and
Magog, carved by Richard Saunders and placed here m 1708

The Guldhall 1s the place of meeting of many important courts
of law, such as the Court of Common Council, the Court of Alder-
men, the Chamberlamn’s Court, &c , the 100ms devoted to them are
very handsome apaitments, contamming amongst other imteresting
objects, some fine portraits by Reynolds, Opie’s “ Muder of James I
of Scotland,” a large folding screen panted, &e.

The new Library and Museum are at the east end of the Guldhall,
and consist pf two halls, one above the other, round which cluster
reading and committee rooms The Museum, which contamns a most
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mteresting collection of local antiquities, discovered in excavations
1n various parts of London, 18 on a level, and 1n direct communica-
tion with the crypt and hbrary Above the Museum 18 a hand-
some and rchly decorated hall, divided into naves and asles, con-
taming a valuable hibrary of reference, which includes many rare
booksgand manuscripts

The Law Courts —Adjomng Guldhall are several apartments de-
voted to Courts of Law , these will be closed as soon as the new
Palace of Justice, near Temple Bar, 18 completed

THE ROYAL EXCHANGE

HE present Royal Exchange, 1 the centre of the city,
was designed by Wilham Tite, and opened by Her Majesty
the Queen on the 28th October, 1844 It 1s the third
which has been erected on the present site, both the pre

vious buildings having been burnt, the first mn the great fire of 1666,
and the second mn 1838 It 13 a stone building of Grecian archi-
tecture, with a fagade of Cormnthian columns, the sculpture m the
pedmment executed by Westmacott, on the architrave there aie
the following mscriptions, “ The earth 1s the Lord’s and the fullness
thereof ,” the City motto, “ Domme dirige nos,” and “ Honor Deo ,”
and the motto of Sir Thomas Gresham, the founder of the first
Exchange, “ FoRTVA A MY,” 1n the centre

The busmess of the Exchange 15 conducted 1n an open quadrangle
surrounded by a colonnade There 13 a marble statue by Lough
of Queen Victoria mn the centre, besides statues of Sir Thomas
Gresham, Sir Hugh Myddelton, and Queen Elizabeth

Lloyd’s Subscription Rooms are on the upper floor, where the
great business of marme 1nsurance 1s carried on by a company of
gentlemen called underwriters Here merchants and all interested
m ships obtain early intelligence ¢
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THE MANSION HOUSE,

HE Palace of the Lord Mayor of London, in the very
)/ heait of the City, was built by Dance 1n 1739-41 * It s
‘ *q a stately buillding of oblong form, with a Cormnthian
% portico, surmounted by a pediment enriched with sculp-
tures The chief rooms of the Mansion House are the Egyptran

A\

TNVZIL TRV

THE MANSION HOUSE

Hall, .n which the Easter Monday and other banquets are held,
designed 1n accordance with a description of an Egyptian chamber
by V)truvw.’s, with a lofty vaulted 100f supported on columns,
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and rows of miches along the walls, contaimng statues or groups of
sculpture by Foley, Bell, Marshall, Bailey, and other great English
sculptors, the Drawwmng Room and Ball Room, which aie very
finely decorated , the Justice Room, m which the Lord Mayor sits
daily, the Picture Gallery, and the Kuitchen, which 1s & vast vaulted
hall, gontaming every modein mmprovement for the cooking of vast
quantities of food, mncluding huge spits worked by machimery, &c

BANK OF ENGLAND

AHE buildings of the Bank of England cover an area of
more than thiee acres, which 1s bounded on the north
Y by Lothbury, on the south by Threadneedle Street, the
west by Princes Street, and the east by Bartholomew
T.ane The Bank was founded in 1694, and was carried on in the

BANK OF ENGLAND

Grocers' Hall tall 1736, when 1t was removed to the present site
The buildings as they now stand were chiefly built by Su* John Soane
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The stone copmgs were, however, added 1n 1848 as a defence after
the Chartist meeting By far the most graceful portion of the bmld-
mg 18 the north-west angle, smd to be copied from the Temple of
the Sibyl at Tivoh, of which we give a representation  The
management of the bank 1s conducted by a governor, a deputy-gover-
nor, gad twenty-four directors, by whom nearly a thousand persons
are employed Amongst the various weighing machines are some
ingenious mstruments mvented by Mr Cotton They aie used for
weighing sovereigns, and are so contrived that all those of light
weight are separated from those of the correct value The machine
for printing bank-notes 1s a wonderful prece of mechamsm

Visutors are permatted to walk through the public rooms, hall, rotunda,
&c, but a specral order must first be obtained from the governor
or deputy-governor w order to see the Bullion Office, §¢

THE CITY CORPORATIONS AND THEIR HALLS.

PHERE aic twelve great and several mmor City Corpora-
tions , the halls m which their meetings are held are
many of them worthy of a visit Those belonging to
the twelve companiess are

Mercers Hall, m Cheapside, between Ironmonger Lane and
Old Jewry, the hall and chapel occupy the site of the cele-
brated hospital church of S8t Thomas of Acon, and are but httle
altered since then erection m the time of Henry VIII  The hall
contamns portraits of Dean Colet and Sir Thomas Gresham The
Mercers’ Company was mcorporated m 1393

Grocers’ Hall, n the Poultry, a comparatively modern building
erected 1n 1802, on the site of two former halls, the pro?erty of the
Grocers’ Company, mco: porated 1 1345
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Drapers' Hall, in Throgmorton Street, City, a fine modern
restoration of an old hall by Jarman, consisting of a quadrangle
enclosed within an arched colonnade, adjommng which 1s an old
garden formerly attached to the house of Thomas Cromwell, Earl of
Essex the house was destroyed m the Great Fire of 1666, and
the present hall was erected on its sste  The property of the ,great
earl passed into the hands of the Drapers’ Company on his attamder
m 1541 Incorporated in 1439

Fushmongers' Hall, at the noith-west foot of London Brdge, 1s
the third hall bwmlt by the Fishmongers’ Company on this mte,
1t 18 & very handsome structm e by Roberts (1830-33), with a balus-
trade terrace facmng the river, and an Jome portico and pediment
rising from a gramte basement There are several fine portraits
m this hall, which also contams a statue of Sir W Walworth, by
Pierce, and an origmnal drawmg of part of the ceremony connceted
with the election of Sir J Leman, a fishmonger, as Lord Mayor of
London Incorporated m the reign of James 11

Goldsmiths' Hall, Foster Lane, Cheapside, belonging to one of
the richest and most ancient of the City compames, which has
the privilege of assaymg and stamping all gold and silver aiticles,
15 a fine modern building, by Hardwick (1832-5), in the Italan Re-
nassance style, and contams, in addition to many interesting portraits
and busts, a Roman altar supposed to have been dedicated to Diana,
which was discovered in making the excavations for this building
Tncorporated m 1327

Skinners’ Hall, Dowgate Hill, 1s an old building with a modern
front, by Jupp, contaming httle of interest except a portrait of Sir
A Judd, founder of the large school at Tunbridge, under the
patronage of the Skinners’ Company Incorporated in 1327

Merchant Taylors' Hall, m Threadneedle Street, built by Jarman
on the site of that destroyed by the Great Fire, the property of one
of the most aristocratic of the City companies, 18 a handsome building
containing soveral fine portraits by Lawrence, Ramsay, Hoppner,
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‘Wilkie, and others Visitors are admitted to hear the master’s
address 1 this hall by order from the master, on apphcation to his
clerk Incorporated mn the reign of Edward I

Haberdashers' Hall, m Cheapside, behind the Post Office, the
property of a company incorporated m 1578, 1s a modern building
erected m 1855, on the site of one ascribed to Wren, with a lofty
dining room containing numerous portraits of more or less interest

Salters Hall, Oxford Court, St Swithin’s Lane, the property of
the Salters’ Company,1s a modern building by Henry Carr, completed
n 1827, contamning amongst other portraits one of Roubihac the
sculptor Incorporated mn 1558

Ironmongers' Hall, Fenchurch Street, 13 a handsome structure,
erected by Holden (1748), on the site of three former halls, the
property of the Ironmongers (incorporated mn 1464), with a banquet-
g halldecorated in the Elizabethan style, contaming, amongst other
portraits, one of Admiral Hood, by Gamsborough

Vintners' Hall, m Upper Thames Street, a modern building of
Little mterest, the property of one of the oldest of the City compames

Clothu orkers’ Hall, Mincing Lane, Fenchurch Street, a very fine
and richly decorated modern bulding, erected on the site of the old
hall of the Clothworkers (incorporated in 1482), by Angell (1860)

We have now noticed the halls of the twelve gieat original City
compamnes, the following, the property of other guilds, aie also well
worth seemng —

Stationers’ Hall, Stationers’ Hall Court, Ludgate Hall, the property
of a company mncorporated i the reign of Mary, in whose books
published works are registered by their proprietors as a protection
agawmst piracy

Saddlers Hall, Cheapside, close to Foster Lane, with a fine old

doorway enriched with fretwork, and an iron gate, the property of
the Saddlers Incorporated i the 1eign of Edward I



CITY CORPORATIONS AND THEIR HALLS 161

Coachmakers' Hall, Noble Street, Foster Lane, i which the
“Protestant Association™ of 1778, which mstigated the Gordon
riots, held 1ts meetngs  origmally the property of the Scriveners,
but sold by them to the Coachmakers

Cordwamers' Hall, Cannon Street, with a stone front enriched
with sculpture, by Adam, and contaming a sepulchral urn and
tablet, by Nollekens Incorporated in 1410

Apothecaries’ Hall, Water Lane, Blackfiiars, erected m 1670, for
the Company of Apothecaries Incorporated m 1617

Carpenters’ Hall, on the south side of London Wall, one of the
few City halls which escaped the Fire, 1t has an entrance hall added
by Jupp about 1780, enriched with bas-rehef portraits of Imgo
Jones, Wren, and others, by Bacon, m the great hall 18 a ceiling
dating from 1716, and four fresco pamtings m distemper said to be
of the time of Edward IV

‘We must also mention the Council Chamber, with a roof by Imgo
Jones, n Monkwell Street, City, which 1s all that remams of the
old Barber Surgeons’ Hall, Holbem's celebrated pictme, “ Henry
VIII presenting the Charter to the Barber Surgeons,” hangs mn this
chamber
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THE GOVERNMENT OFFICES.

BPEOST of the important Government offices are situated in

{ Whitehall and Downing Street  The grand block of
buildings of Italian architectmie built by Sir Gilbert Scott
extending from St James's Park to Whtehall contains
the Foreign, Home, Colomal, and India Offices, as well as the

Passport Office, Medical Department, Local Government Board, and
Educational Department.

The Forewgn Office, which occupies the north-west corner, 18
richly decorated The grand staircase 1s of marble, the Con-
ference room 1s sixty-six feet m length

Passports, which are still of much use i travellng on the Conti-
nent, are 1ssued at the Foreign Office

In the Home Office 18 transacted all busmess relating to the office
of the Secretary of State for the Home Department, ¢ ¢ Great Britain
and Ireland

The Colomal Office 18 on the east side of the quadrangle, next to
Whitehall Here 18 transacted the busmness between England and
the whole of the Colomes.

The India Office occupres the south side of the building, and 18
entered from Charles Street Formerly the government of India was
vested 1n the East India Company (origmally mcorporated mn 1600),
but was absorbed by the Crown in 1858, and 18 now conducted by a
council of twelve members, presided over by the Secretary of State
The East India Museum formerly occupied a portion of this block of
buildings, but 1s now removed to South Kensmgton.

The Ezchequer Office, for the admmstration of taxes, 18 n
Dovwning Street.
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The Treasury, the principal office of the Government, of which
the Prime Mimster 1s the head, 18 1n Downing Street, a small turning
out of Whitehall The next range of buildings, the fagade of which
was built by Sir Charles Barry, contamns the Prioy Council Office,
the Education Office, and the Board of Trade

The Horse Guards, where the Commander-in-chief of the army
now has s office, was originally a guard-house, erected in 1641 for
the security of the neighbouring palace of Whitehall The present
building dates fiom 1753, and 18 saxd to be by Kent The archway
of the Horse Guards forms the principal entrance to St James's
Park from Whitehall on each side of the gateway a mounted soldier
15 stationed on guard

The Paymaster-General's Office 18 between the Horse Guards and
the Admiralty Here 18 transacted all busimess relating to payments
of army, navy, and civil service salaries and pensions

The Admralty, where the management of the navy 18 chiefly
carried on, comes next The present building occupics the smite of
Wallingford House, and was bwlt by Ripley about 1726 The
screen, however, 1s later, having been erected by the brothers Adam
m 1776 The official residence of the First Lord adjoms the mamn
buwlding There are also residences for three or four of the Jumior
Lords 1n the northern portion of the building

The Office of Works and Public Buildings 18 at 12, Whatehall
Place, nearly opposite the Horse Guards

The Office of Her Majesty’'s Woods and Forests and Land Revenues
18 at 1 and 2, Whitehall Place

Metropolitan Board of Works The office 18 1 Spring Gardens,
near the entrance to St James’s Park Here all work connected
with metropohtan mmprovements 1s decaded on, and to this Board we
owe the magnificent Thames Embankments

The War sOffice, where the civil admimstration of the army 1
conducted, 13 at 86, Pall Mall
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Somerset House, a handsome building between the Strand and
the Victoria Embankment, was erected m 1786 on the site of the
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Sir Thomas Chambers was the
It con-
tamns numerous public offices, viz, the Exchequer and Audit Office,

architect, with wings added by Smirke and Pennetho’ne

palace of the Protector Somerset.
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the Inland Revenue, the Ojfice of the Registrar-General of Births,
Deaths, and Marriages, a portion of the Admralty, and the Pre-
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rogative Will Office, which was removed from Doctors’ Commons
n 1874 Inethis office visitors can, on payment of a fee of one
shilling, search the calendars, and, for an extra shilling, examine the
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onignal wills, in the Department for Laterary Inquiry, the copies of
wills made before 1700 are allowed to be read free of charge Here
may be seen, amongst those of many men of note, the origmal will
of Shakespeare In the basement there are rooms for stamping
legal and commercial documents, and also for printing postage
stamt)s

The statue of *“ Father Thames ™ mn the quadrangle 1s by Bacon

Record Office, Fetter Lane —This important public office 1s a large
fire-proof bulding, designed by Pennethorne (1856), and contamns all

THE ROYAL MINT

the valuable records, &c, formerly kept in the Tower, the Chapter
House at Westminster, and elsewhere, mncluding the State papers
relating to the Exchequer, Secret Service, War Office, Admiralty,
Crown and other Royal expenses, &c, the Domesday Book, various
Royal and other deeds, charters, &c, which are arranged m rows of
grated safes one above the other

Visitors are admutted to the Record Office on signing their names
m a book at the entrance, and copies of the 1ecords may be made
freely , but the State papers can only be examined on awritten order
from the Secretary of State for the Home Department



GOVERNMENT OFFICES 167

The Royal Mint, on Tower Hill, 18 an extensive bulding m the
Greek style of architecture with large entrance gateways, designed
by Sir R Smirke, R A. Here the comage of the realm 1s struck,
and the various processes through which the metals pass are carried
on by a series of ingenious machines  This establishment will shortly
be removed to the Thames Embankment

Visitors can obtain admission by applying for an order from the

THE CUSTOM HOUSE

Deputy Master, which 1s not transferable, and 18 only avarlable for
the day specified

The Custom House 18 1n Lower Thames Street, with the principal
fagade towards the river It 13 a massive building, erected mn the
year 1817 from designs by David Lang, but subsequently, owing to
the foundations giving way, the existing front was built by Sir R
Smirke The chief office, which 1s called the Long Room, 1s 190
feet m length, and more than sixty feet wide Here all the custom
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dues of the Port of London are levied, which exceed twelve millions
sterling per annum

The General Post Office and the Telegraph Office are m St
Martin's-le-Grand, at the corners of Cheapside and Newgate Street
Both offices are under the supervision of the Postmaster-General
The mam bwlding m which the admmistiation of the postal arrange-
ments 18 conducted, was built from the designs of Sir Robert Smurke,
R A, m 1829, the supplementary building facing 1t, built m 1873,
18 devoted to the Electric Telegraph Depaitment The manage-
ment of the Money Order Offices and the Post Office Savings Banks
18 also carred on in the same building

The Trimty House 18 a handsome stone building, standing on one
side of Trimty Square, on the north of Great Tower Hill It
was built by Samuel Wyatt, and belongs to a company founded by
Sir Thomas Spert mn the year 1515 The corporation consists of a
master, deputy-master, thirty-one elder biethren, and an un-
hmited number of yeunger brethren The object of the corpora-
tion 18 the encouragement of navigation, erecting lighthouses and
sea-marks , appomting efficient pilots for navy and mercantile ser-
vice, and, i fact, the general management of all nautical affairs not
mmmediately connected with the Admiralty The Duke of Edin-
burgh 18 Master

PV

The Stock Exchange 1s 1 Capel Court, immediately opposite the
Bank of England  There 1s also another entrance to the Exchange
1n Shorter’s Court, Throgmorton Street ~This great money market
was removed to 1its present position from Change Alley mn 1802
The members of the Stock Exchange are about 850 i number
There 18 a notice at every entrance to the effect that none but
members are admitted, and a stranger 18 soon detected and 18 1mme-
diately made to quit the building

The Corn Ezchange 18 m Mark Lane, City It was opened n
1747, and partly rebwlt m order to enlarge 1t m 1827 Market
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days—Monday, Wednesday, and Friday Hours of business, 10
to 3 Monday 18 the principal day

The Coal Ezchange 1s 1 Lower Thames Street, nearly opposite
Billingsgate  The building was opened by Prince Albert, 1849 In
making the foundation a Roman hypocaust was discovered It has
been arched over and 1s still visible

THE DOCKS

The West India Docks he between Lunehouse and Blackwall
The office of the cumpany 1s at No 8, Bihter Square The best
way of 1eaching these docks 1s by the Blackwall Raillway

The East India Docks are a little lower down the river than the
West India, and are considerably smaller The gates are closed at
3 m the winter, and at 4 mn the summer months

St Catherne's Docks he near the Tower Twelve hundred and
fifty houses, mcluding the old hospital of St Catherme, were pur-
chased and pulled down to make 100m for this magmficent under-
taking, of which Telford was the engmeer In 1863 the St Cathe-
rine’s and London Docks were amalgamated, and consequently placed
under one management

The London Docks are situated on the left bank of the Thames,
between St Cathermne’s Docks and Ratchiff Highway The first
and largest dock was opened 1n 1805, 1t comprises an area of ninety
acres, of which thirty-four and a-half are water ~The entire struc-
ture cost £4,000,000 As many as 3,000 labourers have been
employed m, these docks m one day This 15 the great depot for the
stocks of wine belonging to the wine merchants of London
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Mode of Admission —The basm and shipping are open to the
public, but an order must be obtamed from the secretary at the
London Dock House 1n order to mspect the vaults and warehouses
Ladies are not admitted after 1 pm

The Commercial Docks, five 1n number, are on the south side of

the hames They have an opemng nearly opposite the King’s
Arms Stairs, in the Isle of Dogs

The Victoria Docks, on the south side of the river, below Black-
wall Large quantities of guano from Peru are housed 1n these docks

The Surrey Docks adjomn the Commercial New Docks

The Millwall Docks, near the West India Docks 1 the Isle of Dogs

HOSPITALS

HERE are so many hospitals, mfirmaries, and asylums for
the sick 1 the various parts of London, that 1t 18 1m-
possible to give, here, more than a brief account of the
prmcipal institutions, these mclude —

St Bartholomew's, West Smithfield Founded by Prior Rahere m 1102,
and enlarged n 1547 There are a few valuable pantings in the Court
Room Visiting-days Sundays, 2 to 3, Tuesdays and Fridays, 3 to 4 pm

St Thomas's, Albert Embankment Origmally founded by the Prior of
Bermondsey 1 1213 The new buildings, designed by H Currey, were
opened by Her Majesty m 1871 Visiting-days Sundays, Tuesdays, and
Fridays, from 3 to 5

Guy's, St Thomas’s Street, Borough. Founded by Thomas Guy, a
bookseller,1n 1768 Taking-in day, Wednesdays, at 10 30

London, Whitechapel Road. Visiting days Tuesdays, Fridays, and
Sundays, from 8 to 5 pm

Middlesex, Charles Street, Berners Street Cancer patients at all tumes
without letter

Westmnster, near Westminster Abbey  Visiting-days Sundays, be-
tween 2 and 4 , Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays, between 3 and 4 pm

Unwersity College, or North London, Gower Street With a Home for
incurable patients at Hampstead
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Kmg's College, Portugal Street, Lincoln’s Inn Fields Out-patients daly,
atlpm

Charing Cross, Agar Street, Strand Visiting days Tuesdays, Thurs-
days, and Sundays, 3 to 4

Royal Free, Gray's Inn Road  For the relief of the sick, without letters
of recommendation

8t George's, Hyde Park Corner With a Convalescent Home atéWim-
bledon

8t Mary's, Cambridge Place, Paddington, W  Visiting days Tuesdays,
Thursdays, and Sundays, from 3 to 4

[ ALl the above have Medwal Schools attached ]

Great Northern, Caledomian Road  Visiting-days Sundays, Tuesdays,
and Fridays, from 2 to 3

West London, Hammersmith Road

Metropolitan Free,Devonshire Square  Visiting-days Sundays, Wednes-
days, and Saturdays, from 2 to 4 pm

German Hospital, Alma Road, Dalston  Chiefly for Germans and those

speaking the language. Visiting-days Sundays, from2 to3 30 p m , Thurs-
days,2to 5 pm

FOR WOMEN AND CHILDREN

Hospual for Women, Soho Square

Hosputal for Women and Children, 4, Vincent Square, Westmimster
Visiting  daily, from2to5pm

Royal Infirmary for Women and Children, Waterloo Bridge Road  Visit-
mg-days Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Sundays, from 2 to 3

East London Hospital for Children, and Dispensary for Women, Rawchff
Cross  Visits may be made daily

Chelsea Hospital for Women, 178, King’s Road Patients may be visited
daily, from 2 to 4, except on Tuesdays and Fridays

Samaritan Free Hospital, Lower Seymour Street, Portman Square For
women, and at branch Hospital, 1, Dorset Street, Manchester Square, for
women and children

Home for Swh Children, Great Ormond Street, Bloomsbury, W C , and
Cromwell House, Highgate

Evcina Hospual for Swk Children, Southwark Bridge Road, SE
Visiting-days Sundays and Wednesdays, from 2 to 4

Belgrave &lospital for Chaldren, 1, Cumberland Street, Eccleston Square,
SW Visiting-days daily, from 1 to 2 pm
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LYING-IN HOSPITALS, &c

Oty of London, City Road. In-patients must attend at the hospital on
Wednesdays at 10, out-patients at 12

General Lying-wn, York Road, Lambeth

Queen Charlotte's Lying-in, 191, Marylebone Road Visiting-day Fri-
day,.com 3to4 pm

Brutwh Lying-in, Endell Street, St Gules’s

Royal Maternsty Charity, 31, Finsbury Square

CONSUMPTION AND CHEST DISEASES
Royal, City Road
Brompton  For Consumption and Chest Diseases, Fulham Road
Cuty of London, Victoria Park  Visiting-days Mondays and Thursdays
from 3to 5

FOR LUNATICS

Bethlehem, Lambeth Road For curable cases of the educated classes
St Luke's, Old Street, for relief of the middle classes

FEVER

London Fever, Liverpool Road. Open at all times for poor persons
(not paupers)

OPHTHALMIC
Royal London, Blomfield Street, Moorfields  Visiting-days Mondays
and Thursdays, from 3 to 4
Royal South London, St George’s Circus, Southwark
Central London, Calthorpe Street, Gray’s Inn Road
Royal Westmnster, Chandos Street, Charmg Cross

DISEASES OF THE SKIN

Hosprtal for Diseases of, Stamford Street, Blackfriars

St Jokn’s, Leicester Square
British, 56, Great Marlborough Street, East Branch, 12A, Finsbury Sq

Natwonal Institution, 227, Gray’s Inn Road, and 10, Mitre Street, Aldgate
Western Duspensary, 17, Duke Street, Manchester Square
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MISCELLANEQUS

Paralysis, Queen’s Square, Bloomsbury.

Cancer Hospital, Brompton ~ Office, 167, Piccadilly

Stone and Urinary Diseases, St Peter's, 54, Berners Street

Smallpox, Metropolitan Asylum District, Stockwell Office, 37, Norfolk
Street, Strand

Throat, 32, Golden Square Daily at 1 30

Royal Sea Bathung Infirmary, Margate (for Scrofula only)

Female Lock Hosputal and Asylum, Harrow Road, Paddington

London Homeopatkw Hospital, 52, Great Ormond Street

Brompton Homeopathw Dispensary, 68, Fulham Road

[4il the above Hospitals recerve cases of Accident and urgent cases at
any tume ]

PRINCIPAL CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS

%2YS Mr Low's “Handbook to the Charities of London™
M) tells us there are more than mne hundred mnstitutions of
S a benevolent kind 1n the metropolis, 1t 1s evident that we
can only name a few of the most important

The Foundling Hospital, Gulford Street, was founded by Captam
Coram m 1739 It 1s “an hospital for exposed and deserted
children ” In the committee room are some pictures by Hogarth,
Reynolds, and Gamsborough

The French Hospice, Victoria Park, South Hackney, 1s for the
aid of French Protestant 1efugees

Magdalen Hospital, Streatham and 19, Gower Street

The Seaman’s Hospital now occupies the wfirmary m Greenwich
Hospatal
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Chelsea Hospital —A fine red brick building by Wren, over-
looking the Thames, founded by Sir Stephen Fox and Tobias Rusbat
about 1681 for the accommodation of old and disabled soldiers, and
supported since that time by the army, at a cost of more than
£8,000,000 , containing i addition to the wards, &c, of the hospital
itself a fine hall and chapel, the most noteworthy objects mn which
are the colours taken in different parts of the world by the British
army We must also call attention to the altar-piece in the chapel,

CHELSEA HOSPITAL

by Sebastian Rice1, the equestrian portrait of Charles IT, by Verrio
1n the hall, and the bronze statue of the same monarch by Grinlng
Gibbons, 1 the centre of the large quadrangle

The Royal Humane Sociely, office 3, Trafalgar Square For the
recovery of persons from drowning There 18 a receiving house on
the banks of the Serpentine in Hyde Park

School and Asylum for the Indigent Blind, m St George's Fields,
Lambeth
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London Society for teaching the Blnd to read, Upper Avenue
Road, St John's Wood

Asylum for Deaf and Dumb Children, Old Kent Road

Royal National Lifeboat Institution, John Street, Adelphi

Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Anwmals, 105, Jermyn
Street, St James's

MARKETS

HE principal maikets of London are —
Metropolitan Cattle Market, m Copenbagen Fields

by The scene here at five o'clock on a Monday mornmng 18 very
characteristic  Fifteen acres of ground are filled with cattle and
sheep, mixed up with owners and purchasers The babel of sound
13 ndescribable

Metropolitan Meat Market, Smithfield Desgned by Horace Jones
in the Renaissance style This immense building has been lately
erected on the smte of old Smithfield, the scene of 80 many events
of historic interest, and where the once celebrated ¢ Bartlemy Far”
was held It includes a Poultry Market

It was in Smuthfield that Sir Wilham Wallace, the great Scottish
chieftain, was executed mn 1305, and Roger Mortuner mn 1330  Here
Sir Wilham Walwoith, then Lord Mayor of London, struck down
the rebel Wat Tyler, and here, in the times of Queen Mary and
Queen Elizabeth, more than 800 martyrs suffered for then rehgious
opmions The stake at which they were burned was fixed near the
celebrated old church of St Bartholomew

Covent Garden Market, for fimt, flowers, and vegetables, 18 a
little to the north of the Strand This market 18 well worth a visit
m spring arfl summer time, when the flowers are at their best
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Leadenhall Market, Gracechurch Street, 18 chiefly celebrated for
poultry, game, &c. The bwlding itself 18 of the meanest descrip-
tion

Bullingsgate, the great fish market, 18 1n Thames Street, a httle to
the east of London Bridge This 1s one of the oldest markets of
London, datig back as far as the fourteenth century The market
opens at § o’clock mn the morning

There are several other local markets of mmor importance

BILLINGSGATE MARKET



Pagr VI —NATIONAL MUSEUMS AND PLACES OF

PUBLIC INSTRUCTION

THE TOWER OF LONDON

RurEs oF ApMissioN, &c ~—The Tower 13 open darly from 10 to 4,
free on Mondays and Saturdays Visitors may make the circuit of
the wnner and outer wards, without entering any of the buildwngs, un-
accompaned by a gurde, and we would recommend them to do so exther
before or after gowmg the usual round with the warder and his party
The principal entrance to the Tower s by the Lwn Gate on Tower
Hull  Tiuckets for the Armoury and White Tower (6d) and for the
Crown Jewels (6d) are to be obtawned wn the office at the entrance
Guide books may be bought, price 6d  Visutors have to wait untl a
party of twelve 15 assembled, when they are conducted over the Tower
by one of the warders, who stll wear the costume of the Yeomen of the
Guard of the time of Henry VII

GENERAL SURVEY.
HE Tower of London, on the left bank of the Thames

«3 (twenty mmutes’ walk from Mansion House Station, and
about the same distance from the Royal Exchange), 1
one of the oldest, most picturesque, and most mnteresting buildings
of London It was orgmally a feudal fortress and palace, then a
State prison, and 18 now a Government store-house and armoury It
occupies a space of between twelve and thirteen acres, and consists
N
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of a central donjon or keep, 92 feet lugh, with walls 16 feet thick,
known as the White Tower, dating probably from the time of Wilham
the Conqueror,—although tradition ascribes 1t to Juls Cesar ,—sur-
rounded by barracks, armouries, &c , of modern date, enclosed within
a double lme of fortifications, the outer somewhat lower than the

THE TOWER —A ROYAL VISIT

mner, and the whole encircled by a moat called the Tower Ditch,
which 18 now dry, but can still be flooded by the garrison The cas-
tellated walls date from various periods, having been added from time
to ime by the different monarchs of England In 1841 a fire broke
out m the Tower, m which many of the modern armounies, &c , were
destroyed
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Before jommg the warder and his party we will briefly notice the
prmeipal towers, &c, of the outer and mner wards, few of which are
shown to visitors After taking a long look from Tower Hill at the
vast pile of buildings nsing gloomily from the river,—the massive
White Tower, which bears unmistakable impress of 1ts great antiquty,
towerng above the double circle of ramparts,—we begmn our circui®at
the south-west corner of the fortress with the Middle Tower, formerly
called the Martin Tower, the prmcipal entiance, this gives access
to a stone bridge thrown acioss the moat, replacing the ancient diaw-
bridge, with the Byward Tower at its other end, passmg beneath
which we find ourselves n the Outer Ward o1 ballium, with a narrow
street which runs round the fortress on our left A lttle beyond the
Byward Tower we pass on the right St Thomas's Tower and the
Trator’s Gate openmng on to the river, so called because by 1t State
prisoners were brought mto the Tower This tower and gateway
were restored in 1866 by Salvin  Opposite to them 1y the Blcody
Tower, by which visitors enter the mner ward, but before giving
up our freedom to the warder let us contmue our progress round
the outer ward and reach the 1ches of the Cradle Tower, a vaulted
gateway much mjured, the upper portion entirely gone, beyond
which are the Well Tower, of wch the lower part, a vaulted room
15 feet long by 10 feet wide, alone remains, and the Develin or Tron
Gate Tower, a modern erection retammng some fragments only of the
old fortification of that name At the south-east corner of the outer
wall there was formerly a tower leadmng to an 1ron gate on the other
side of the moat, and two strong ramparts which coriesponded with
this tower, called the Brass Mount and the Legge Mount, still exist at
the north-east and west corners of the outer ward This completes
our review of the defences of the outer ballum The space between
1t and the mner ward was formerly almost entirely occupied by the
buildings of the Royal Mint, which were removed 1n 1810, when that
mstitution migrated to 1ts new home on Tower Hull

The towers of the imnner ward are more numerous than those of the
outer We gige them m the order of their succession, beginning with
the Bloody Tower, so called because the murder of the infant sons of
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Edward IV 1s supposed to have been committed there (1483), this
15 connected with the Record or Wakefield Tower, m which the
prisoners taken on the field of Wakefield (1460) were confined, one
of the most ancient and the largest of the towers of the ramparts,
ascribed to the time of Wilham Rufus (1087), the massive walls are
thuteen feet thick, and contamn several octagonal 10oms In 1t the
Records of the nation were formerly kept A little beyond the Record
Tower, on the right, stood the Lantern Tower, 1ts site now occupied by
the Military Store Office At the south-east angle of the inner ward,
opposite to the site of the Tower of the Tron Gate imn the outer
ballium 18 the Salt Tower, a very ancient structure, formerly a prison,
on the walls of which 18 a zodiac, the work of a certain Hugh Draper,
of Bmstol, confined for sorcery m 1560 Further on we pass the
Broad Arrow Tower, now so shut mm by buildings as to be scaicely
recogmzable, which was connected with the old palace, and used as
a prnison, the Jewel or Martin Tower, at the north-east angle of
the wner ward, opposite the Brass Mount, with the name of Anna
Boleyn imscribed on one of its walls, m which many prisoners
were confined 1 the time of Henry VIII , also used as a stronghold
for the royal jewels, the Brick Tower, n which Lady Jane Grey
15 said to have been imprisoned, the Bowyer Tower,m which the
fire of 1841 origmated, formerly the remdence of the master provider
of the king's bows, and said to have been the scene of the diowning
of George, Duke of Clarence, 1n a butt of Malmsey wine i 1474,
the Flint Tower, called the Lattle Hell on account of its narrow
dungeons, of which the foundations alone are old, the original stiucture
having been replaced by a new stone bullding eaily mn the present
century, the Devercur Tower, at the north-west angle of the iner
ward, opposite the Legge Mount, named after Robert Devereux,
Earl of Essex, the favourite of Queen Elzabeth, who was imprisoned
m 1t before his execution on Tower Green, the Beauchamp Tower,
of which full details are given below, 1t being one of those shown to
visitors, and the Bell Touer, at the south-west angle of the mner
ward, opposite the Byward Tower of the outer ballium-so called from
the alarm bell of the garrson having been once suspended above 1t
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—formerly a dungeon, m which the Bishop of Rochester, the Princess
Elizabeth, and Lord Nithsdale are said to have been mmprisoned

We now place ourselves under the guidange of the warder, who
leads us through the Middle Tower, across the brndge, and under the
Byward Tower, mto the outward bail, and after having noticed the
Bell Tower, now part of the governor’s house, m which 1s the Council
Chamber—the scene of the tnal of Guy Fawkes and his accomphces
—St Thomas’s Tower, the Tiaitor's Gate, &c, to which we have
already referred, we pass beneath the Bloody Tower, with 1its grim
old portcullis above our heads, and enter the mner ward, and, after a
glance at the massive Record Tower on our right, and at the mmer
buildings of the governor’s house on our left, we follow our gwmde
mto the

Horse Armoury, on the south of the White Towe, a gallery 150
feet long by 33 wide, erected 1n 1826, and contaming a most nterest-
mg and complete colleetion of ancient arms and armour arranged
by the late Sir 8 Meynck, Mr J R Planché, and Mr Hewitt

The whole of the middle of the room 1s occupied by a magmficent
collection of figures on horseback and on foot, m complete suits
of armour, chronologically amanged, dating from the reign of
Edward I (1272), to that of James II (1685), with the armorial
bearmgs of the great houses to which they belonged pamnted on the
wall above a row of columns supporting pomted arches which runs
along the entwre length of the gallery behmd the statues These
figures are so distinctly labelled and are moreover sure to be so care-
fully pomnted out by the warder m attendance, that any detaied
account of them would be superfluous here, but we may note as
especially remarkable, an equestiian figure of Hemy VIII m a swit
of armom belonging to that monarch, with a foot soldier beside him ,
near to which 1s an equestrian figme of Charles Brandon (1520),
and m a recess m the south wall a second efligy of Henry VIII m a
very curious swit of armour, said to have been presented to that
monarch on his marmage with Catherme of Arragon In glass cases
are arianged examples of the weapons and mmor details of the armour
of the same period as the complete suits, all of the greatest value and
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nterest, but, like the statues, so distinctly labelled and admirably ar-
ranged that we may leave our readers to examme them alone,—only
begging them to glance up at the windows, which contamn specimens
of ancient stamed-glass, representing scriptural scenes and armorial
bearings,—before leaving the vestibule at the east end of the gallery
and ascending the stans, at the foot of these stairs 15 a glass case
cox‘xtumlng the helmet and girdle of Tippoo Sultan of Mysore, with
other Orental trophies

The staars give access to an apartment of conuderable size, divided
by arow of arches into twoparts, the outer devoted to various troplues
and relics of great mterest, such as the cannon captuied at Wateiloo,
kettle-drums taken at Blenheim, a smt of umform worn by the
Duke of Wellington as constable of the Tower, two brass guns
teken by General Wolfe at Quebec  Along the mdes of tlus com-
partment are suits of armour, and n the northern archway an
cquestrian figure m modern Indian cham armow  On a table n the
centie of the same room 1s a beautiful model of the Tower The
mner half of this room 15 filled with <pecimens of Oriental armour, &c
Having exammed them, we make omr way back to the stans, and
descendmng, turn to the left, and find omselves agam m the Hose
Armoury, then passmg along a passage 1unmng between the aiches
belund the equestran statues and the wall of the gallery we note the
1amrods, helmets, weapons, stone shot found m the Tower ditch, &c,
end are conducted thiough a door neaily opposte to that hy wiuch
we entered to the

Whate Tower, said to have been bwlt by Gundulph, Bishop of
Rochester, 1n the time of Wilham the Conqueror, and consisting of
thiee stories, all of considerable height, several vast vaults on the
ground floor, and numerous watch towers and turrets on the battle-
ments In this tower the court of the Plantagenets was held, and 1t
1s associated with many stirring memories, some of which will be
alluded to as we proceed The first room shown mn this celebrated
old keep 1s

Queen Elizabeth's Armoury, a small apartment on the first floor,



THE TOWER OF LONDON 183

with a vaulted Norman roof,—the distance from the mternal walls to
the windows of which will give some 1dea of the massive character of
the masonry of the entire keep,—contammng at the upper end an
equestrian figure of Queen Ehzabeth, and on foot one of a page m

8T JOHN's CHAPEL IN THF WHITE TOWER

the costume of her reign, and far more mnteresting than any fancy
representation, however good, the actual block on which Lord Lovat
was beheaded m 1747, the axe with which the Earl of Essex was
beheaded, #hd numerous instruments of torture, such as the iron
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collar, called the “ cravat,” thumb-sciews, &c, and a model of a
rack with a female effigy fastened on to 1t On the north side
of this room 18 the low doorway of a cell 10 feet long by 8 wide,
without windows or means of ventilation of any kind, m which Sir
Walter Raleigh 18 said to have been imprisoned, and to have wrntten
lns “ History of the World,” and near to the entrance are mscribed
the names of Rudston, Fane, and Culpepper, who were concerned mn
the rebellion of 1553, which brought Lady Jane Grey to the scaffold
Leaving Queen Elizabeth’s Armoury, we are next conducted to the
chapel of 8t John by a winding stair, at the foot of which 1s a
tablet marking the spot where the bones of the murdered prmnces are
said to have been found. This chapel, m which divine service was
performed for many centuries by a Royal chaplamn, 18 situated im-
mediately above Queen Ehzabeth’s Armoury, and 1s one of the
best preserved and most mteresting specimens of Norman architectuie
m England It has the semi-circular eastern apse, the massive
pillars and round arches characteristic of the period of 1ts erection,
a gallery or triforium runs entirely round 1t, and hght 18 admitted to
the nave from the windows 1 the southern aisle, through the arches
supporting the triforum  The large room adjoming the chapel was
the council room said to have been the scene of the arrest of Lord
Hastings, when Richard, Duke of Gloucester, buist 1 upon the
assembled councillors The Council Room and the old Banqueting
Hall of the Palace beyond are both now used as storehouses for
small arms  The remamnng apartments of the White Tower,
which are not shown to visitors, contamn war stores, the stone
bulding adjoming 1t on the east 1s a military store office used for
keeping books, papers, &c, the lower part of which 1s supposed to
date from the fourteenth, whilst the upper was added early n the
present century

Leaving the White Tower, we are now conducted across Tower
Green, and the exact spot occupied by the scaffold on which Anne
Boleyn, Catherine of Arragon, Lady Jane Grey, and the Earl of
Essex were executed, 1s pomted out to us, and looking round we see
the substantial modern buildings of the Wellington Barracks, built n
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1845, on the mte of the Storehouse erected by William IIIL., and
destroyed n the fire of 1841 , and the church of St. Peter ad Vincula.

The Beauchamp Tower, the next bwlding shown to wisitors, 1s
supposed to have been erected between 1199—1216, and takes its
name from the fact of Thomas de Beauchamp, Earl of Warwick,
having been mmprisoned m 1t m 1897 On the walls are ver m-
teresting carvings and mscriptions, the work of some of the illustrious
prisoners who were shut up withim them at various times, including
Marmaduke Newille, Wilham Tyrrel, Pulp Howard Earl of
Arundel, John Dudley Earl of Warwick, and many others, several
of whom have shown genume artistic skill

Those who have provided themselves with tickets are next allowed
to ascend to

The Jewel House, a small circular room with a cell adjoming 1t,—
now occupied by the attendant i charge, but probably once a prison,—
and passmg through a narrow passage we find ourselves facing a blaze
of jewellery on velvet cushions within a huge cage of iron and glass,
the most noteworthy objects m which are the crown made for the
coronation of her present Majesty, contaming amongst other priceless
gems, a heart-shaped ruby of immense value, said to have been worn
by the Black Prince, the golden crown of Edward the Confessor, set
with diamonds, rubies, pearls, &c , the Prince of Wales’ crown of
pure gold without jewels, the ancient Queen's crown, the Queen's
diadem , St Edward’s staff, with a round top said to contam a portion
of the true cross, carried before the monarch at his or her coronation,
the Royal sceptre, the Queen’s sceptre, various swords of justice,
coronation bracelets, &c , a golden salt-cellar, said to be a model of
the Keep of the Tower, a golden spoon, used to receive the sacred
oil at the coronation, supposed to be the sole existing relic of the
old regalia, the Royal baptismal font, &¢ In glass cases m the
1ecesses of the walls of this room are arranged the msigma of the
Order of the Bath, Garter, &c

The Jewe) House 15 the last place shown to visitors, and we now
proceed to give some account of the chapel of St Peter ad Vincula,



186 THE TOWER OF LONDON

the church of the Liberty of the Tower, which 1s interesting rather
from 1ts melancholy associations than from any architectural beauties

It 18 a sumple stone building erected about 1272, consisting of a chancel,

nave, and one side awle, but 1t has been so constantly altered and
disfigured by restorations, that no idea can now be formed of the
appeprance of the original structure ~ 'Within 1ts walls rest the muti-
lated bodies of Lady Jane Grey (1554) and her husband, Lord Guld-
ford Dudley (1554), Anne Boleyn (1536), Katherme Howard
(1542), Robert Devereux, Earl of Essex (1600), and the Duke of
Monmouth (1685), all of whom were beheaded for political reasons

It 18 also the bumal place of Sir Richard Cholmondeley, to whom
there 18 a fine altar tomb 1n the chancel, Sir Richard Blount and his
son Sir Michael Blount, and Sir Allen Apsley, who were successively
Lieutenants of the Tower, and of Su John Eliot, who died a prisoner
(1632), and Sir Thomas Overbury, who was poisoned 1n the Tower
n 1613

On Tower Hall, the open space opposite to the principal entrance,
once stood the scaffold and gallows on which so many piisoners were
executed, mcluding Bishop Fisher (1535), Sir Thomas More (1535),
the Protector Somerset (1552), Lord Guildford Dudley (1554), Earl
of Strafford (1641), Archbishop Laud (1643), Algernon Sidney (1683),
the Duke of Monmouth (1685), and Lord Lovat (1747)

g
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THE NATIONAL GALLERY, TRAFALGAR SQUARE

RuLes oF Apmission —Open free on Mondays, Tuesdays, Wed-
nesdays, and Saturdays,—closed to the public on Thursdays and Fridays,
but open to artists and students provided with tickets ~ Entirely closed
throughout the last two weeks of September and the whole of October
Separate catalogues of the English and Forewgn Schools, containing
much valuable information, are to be obtaned wn the gallery

@HE National Gallery, a building of the revived Classic

DLuilt between 1832 and 1836, after the designs of Wil-

= king  The columns of the portico arc from the cele-
brated Cailton Honse, formerly the 1esidence of the Prince Regent
The gallery may be smd to have been founded mn 1824, by the
purchase by government of thnty-eight pictures collected by M1
Angersten  Round this nucleus gathered a succession of choice and
valuable works bequeathed or purchased at varous dates, and at the
present day, although not very cxtensive, the National Gallery of
England 1s scarcely mferior to that of any i Europe in the mtrmsic
value and beauty of 1ts pictues We must mention the Rev W
Holwell Carr, Lord Farnborough, J M W Tuner, and M1 Vernon,
as having added largely to the collection by thewr most valuable be-
quests and the nation owes a debt of gratitude to the second Sir
Robert Peel, who collected seventy-two pictures, ncluding twenty-
two fine Dutch works, which were sold to the government by lus son
for £75,000, and also to the late Sir Charles Eastlake and to Mr
‘Wornum, the present keeper of the gallery, for the valuable acqusi-
tions made under then auspices

The hall of the National Gallery contams a statue of Dawid
Wilkie, by Samuel Joseph, busts of Mulready and Thomas Stot-
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hard by Weekes, and a bas-rehef by Thomas Banks, all Enghsh
sculptors  Ascending the stairs we enter

Room I ,contamnmg specimens of early Itahan panting, chiefly of
the thirteenth century, such as the “ Battle of St Egidio,” by Paoclo
Uccello, one of the first masters to appreciate the value of perspec-
tive , *a Madonna and Child by Duccio , the “ Adoration of the Kings”
by Fra Angelico, and a “ Madonna and Child” by Cimabue, who
has been called the founder of modern Itahan pamnting

Room II, also devoted to the early Italian schools, contamns,
amongst many other mteresting works, a * Madonna and Child,”
by Benozzo Gozzoh, a “St Sebastian,” Antomo Pollajuolo’s best
work , a “Madonna and Child with Sants,” by Crivell, the “ Coro-
nation of the Virgin” with angels and saints, one of the best woiks
of Andiea Orcagna, “The Marriage of St. Cathermme,” by Am-
brogio Borgognone, and two family portraits by the same masta ,
a Madonna and Child, with SS Jerome and Sebastian, known as
the “ Madonna della Rondme,” and a “Madonna and Child with
Samnts,” by Crivell, the ¢ Madonna and Child with 8S Jerome and
Dominic 1n adoration,” by Fihppmo Lippr, and above all, Fia
Angelico’s magmficent group of “Chrmst surrounded by Angels m
the midst of the Blessed,” contaming more than 260 figures, the
faces of which are all exceedingly beautiful in form and i expres-
sion A magmficent picture of ¢ The Nativity of Christ,” by Pietro
della Francesca, has lately been added to this collection, and for the
present stands on an easel in the middle of the room

The lobby between the second and third rooms contams a marble
group of “ Hylas and the Water Nymphs,” by Gibson, a “Madonna
and Child,” by Albeitnelll, and a ‘Madonna and Child,” by
Lorenzo di Cred:

Room III 1s full of masterpicces by the gireatest artists, and
shares with Rooms IV and V' the honour of contammg specimens
of the works of all the best pamters of the golden age of pamting
(early part of the sixteenth century) In this room we have over
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the door Titian’s “ Rape of Ganymede,” and ranged on the walls his
% Bacchus and Aradne,” “ Venus and Adoms,” Correggio’s “ Edu-
cation of Cupid,” an exqusite example of that great master’s won-
derful charoscuro , Sebastiano del Piombo’s world-famous ¢ Rawsing
ot Lazarus,” the principal figure in which 1s after a still-existing de-
sign by Michael Angelo, Il Romanno’s ¢ Nativity,” his mosy cele-
brated work , I1 Moretto’s “ Madonna with Sants,” Gwmdo Rem's
“Susannah and the Elders,” a “S8t Nicholas,” by Paolo Veronese,
“Jupiter's Childhood,” by Guulio Romano, the  Vision of St
Ileronymus,” by Parmigiano, “Susannah and the Elders,” by Lodo-

THE NATIONAL GALLFRY

vico Carracc, founder of the Eclectic school, and othet important
works by artists of lesser note

In Room IV the chief attractions are the “Pieta” of Francia,
the “Virgin and Cluld, with 8t Anne and other samnts,” by the same
artist, of which the * Pietd™ was formerly the lunette or arched
upper portion, the “ Ecce Ilomo” of Correggio, Leconardo da
Viner's ¢ Christ disputing with the Doctors,” the authenticity of
whuch has been much disputed, Giovanni Bellmn's portrait of Doge
Leonardo: Loredano, an altar-piece by Pietro Perugmno, repre-
senting the Madonna and Infant Christ, the archangel Michael, and
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the archangel Raphael and Tobias, a Virgin and Child, with St
John the Baptist and Mary Magdalene, by Andrea Mantegna, a
portrait of Ariosto, by Titian, and a “ Madonna,” by Pollajuolo

Room V contamns a number of small Itahan pictures of great
value, such as the Aldobrandim or Garvagh “Holy Family,” *S¢
Cathe.mme of Alexandria,” and the * Vision of a Kmght,” all by
Raphael, the “ Head of the Saviour,” by Antonello da Messma,
the “ Annunciation,” by Filippmo Lipp1, a “Portrait of Andrea del
Saito,” by himself, an unfimshed sketch of the “ Entombment,” by
Michael Angelo, the “Holy Family” of Correggio, known as the
“Vierge au Pamer,” and the lately acquired * Triumph of Supio,”
or the “ Reception of the Phrygian Mother of the Gods amongst the
recognized Divinities of the Roman State,” an extremely fine work
n charoscuro by Andrca Montegna

Room VI contans examples of the later Italan and Spamsh
schools, including the * Rape of the Sabimme Women,” by Gho
Romano, the ¢ Ecce Homo,” by Gwdo Reni, “St John and the
Lamb,” and a “Holy Fanuly,” by Murillo, a“Xneeling Fran-
ascan,” by Zurbaran, ¢ Chnst appearmg to Peter after His
Resuirection,” by A Carracar, a “Wid Boar Hunt,” and an
“ Adoration of the Shepherds,” by Velasquez, a ¢ Landscape,” by
Salvator Rosa, and Canalett’s ¢ Grand Canal, Venice ”

Room VII 1s devoted to works of the French and German schools,
and contams a fine series of landscapes by Claude, such as his ““Sea-
port at Sunset,” the * Marriage of Isaac and Rebecca,” the “Sea-
port with the Queen of Sheba,” and the “ Embarkation of St
Ursula,” amongst which, m obedience to Turner’s will, are hung
two of that artist’s greatest works, the “ Sun nsmg i a Mist,” and
“ Dido building Carthage” Of the remaming pictures in this room
the most mmportant are the ‘Death of the Virgm,” by Martin
Schoen, the “ Madonna and Chuld,” by Memling , an * Interior, with
portraits of J Arnolfin1 and lus wife,” by J Van Eyck, and several
fine landscapes by G Poussm, of which “Dido and Zpeas,” and
“ Abraham and Isaac,” are especially remarkable
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Room VIII contains an extremely fine and valuable collection of
Dutch and Flemish pamntings, of which we can only name the prin-
cipal  the ¢ Translation of St Hubert,” by Dierick Bouts, a
“ Sunny Landscape on the Rhine,” and a “ Portrait of a Gentleman,”
by Albert Cuyp, the “Rape of the Sabmes,” a “Landscape with
Chiteau,” the *Brazen Serpent,” and the “ Judgment of P.ans,”
all by Rubens, the ¢ Portrait of Gevartius,” and “The Emperor
Theodostus refused admission mto the Church by St Ambrose,” both
by Vandyck , an “ Old Woman's Head,” * Christ blessing Lattle
Children,” a “Portrait of a Gentleman,” and the *“ Woman taken mn
Adultery,” all by Rembrandt, the “ Courtyard of a Dutch House,”
by De Hooghe , the “ Officer’s Halt,” and the “Interior of a Stable,”
both by Phihp Wouvermans , the “ Meetng of the Members of the
Congress of Munster,” by G Terburg, the “Players at Tric-Trac,”
the “Boors Drinking,” the ‘ Misers, oo Money Changers,” and
several other fine works by Temers, a “ Village Scene,” by Isaac
van Ostade, the “ Music Master,” by Jan Steen, the “ Poulterer’s
Shop,” by G Douw , the * Avenue of Middelharms,” by Hobbema,
and o ¢ Landscape with Cattle,” by Paul Potter  Ruysdael,
Wiynants, Snyders, A and W Vandervelle, Gaspar Netscher, and
Jan Lingelbach, are also well represented

Opening out of the lobby, between Rooms VII and VIII, 1s the
Octagon Room, devoted to the works of the early German schools,
such as the “ St Veromea” of Wilham of Cologne, and the * Pre-
sentation m the Temple,” by Israel van Meckenen The same
room also contams the only Greuze m om national collections—the
“ Head of a Garl ”

Room IX 1s entirely filled with Turner’s early works, bequeathed
by himself to the nation, of which the most characteristic are
¢« Zneas with the Sibyl,” ¢ A Frosty Morning m a Ploughed Field ,”
“ A Blacksmth’s Forge,” the “ Decline of Carthage ,” the “ Death
of Nelson,” * Calais Pier,” the ¢ Shipwreck ,” and “ Spithead

Room X contams Turner’s later works, also bequeathed to the
nation by %he artist, including his “Ram, Steam, and Speed,”



192 THE NATIONAL GALLERY

¢ Ulysses deriding Polyphemus,” “The Fighting Témérare tugged
to her last Berth,” the “Bumal of Wikie,” *“ Childe Harold’s
Pilgrimage ,” “ The ‘Bun of Vemce' gomg to Sea” (the “Sun of
Venice ” 18 the name of a fishing-boat), “Van Tromp,” the “ Ap-
proach to Venice,” and * Fort Ruysdael ”

Room XI 1s devoted to a series of fine examples of the British
schools of pamting, such as the six pictures known as the ¢ Marriage
2 la Mode,” the greatest work of Hogarth, the *Infant Samuel,”
¢ Studies of Angels’ Heads,” the ¢ Graces,” the * Age of Innocence,”
and the “ Holy Family,” and portraits of Wilham Wyndham, Lord
Lagomier, and Sir W Hamulton, all by Sir Joshua Reynolds, the
“Village Festival,” the “ Bhnd Fiddler,” the “Newsmonger,” and
“John Knox Preachng,” all by Wilkie, “The Cornfield,” by
Constable, “ Sancho and the Duchess,” and “Uncle Toby and
Widow Wadman,” both by Leshe, portraits of Mrs Siddons,
“QOrpm, parish clerk of Bradford,” and the “Bailie Family,” by
Gamsborough , with the * Market Cart ” and the “ Watering Place,”
by the same artist, * Happy as a Kmng,” by Collns, “Yorick and
the Gricette,” by Newton, “ Antony and Cleopatra,” by Stothard ,
“The Last In,” and “Crossing the Brook,” both by Mulready,
“View on the Banks of the Arno, near Rome,” by Wilson, a ¢ Greek
Girl,” by Sir Charles Eastlake, “The Sleeping Bloodhound,”
“Shoemng the Bay Mare,” ¢ Alexander and Diogenes,” and “ A
Dialogue at Waterloo,” all by Landseer

Several rooms havc been lately added to the Natiwonal Gallery,
and wil shortly be opened to the public The trustees of the
National Gallery are in possession of many important works of art
which, for want of wall-space, they cannot at present display
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THE BRITISH MUSEUM,
GreAT RusseLn StrEEr, BLOOMSBURY

Rures or Avmission —The Briish Museum 1s open free from the
9th of May to 8th August wcluswe, on Mondays from 10 to 8, on
Wednesdays and Fridays from 10 to 6, on Saturdays from 12 to 8,
from the 9tk to 31st August wnclusie, on Mondays, Wednesdays, and
Fridays, from 10 to 6, on Saturdays from 12 to 6, durung the re-
maznder of the year the hours of admssion are from 10 to 4

The museum s closed from January 1 to 7, May 1 to 7, September
1 fo 7 wclusive, on Ash- Wednesday, Good Friday, and Christmas Day

The Reading Room 1s open darly from 9 till dusk, except on Satur-
days, when 1t closes at 5 Admission may be obtmned by application 1n
writing to the Principal Libraran, stating the name, age, address, and
occupation of the writer, and accompanied by a recommendation from
a householder in Lond Readers must be at least 21 years of age

Artists are admatted to study wn the galleries from 9 to 4 every day
except Saturday

The Medal and Print Rooms can only be seen by special permission,
and the latter 1s enturely closed on Saturday

A general guide to the museum, price 6d , and separate descriptions
of the variwus collections may be bought 1n the museum

% 1n a private collection, made by Sir Hans Sloane, of ob-
Jects of natural history and art, with an extensive libravy
of books and manuscripts, said to have cost thewr owner £50,000 ;
which he offered to the government on his death, on condition that
£20,000 should first be paid to s farmly This condition was fulfilled,
and the collections, together with the Haileian and Cottonian hibraries
acquired abbut the same time, were removed to Montague House,
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Bloomsbury, which was purchased for £10,250 The new mstitution,
to which the name of the Brmtish Museum was given, was opened m
1759. As donations and purchases poured m upon 1t, the museum
soon outgrew 1ts first home, and after the arrival of the Egyptian
antiquities m 1801, and the Townley marbles in 1805, 1t became
necegsary to think of new buildings, and plans were prepared by Sir
Robert Smirke, but nothing was done towards their erection until
1828, when the eastern wing of the present bmlding was constructed
for the Labrary of George III, presented by George IV The
building, which 13 m the form of a square, was not finished until
1847. The Ionic order of architecture 18 adopted  The chief
front, that towards Russell Street, presents a facade 370 feet
long, and has a fine central portico, consisting of a double range of
columns, with a pediment enriched with allegorical sculpture, repre-
senting the Progress of Civilization, by Westmacott At either end
of the museum are the residences of the chief officers of the estabhsh-
ment

Many additions have been made to the origmal plan The central
quadrangle has been filled m by the magmficent Reading Room, and
galleries have been added for the accommodation of the ever-mncreas-
ing collections A new bwlding 18 m progress at South Kensing-
ton, to which the natural history collections will shortly be removed
The contents of the museum at present mnclude one of the finest
hibraries of printed books m the world, a most valuable collection
of MSS, Orental antiquities, British and medieval antiquities,
and ethnographical specimens, Greek and Roman antiqmties, the
most complete series m existence, coms and medals, prints and
drawings, natural history collections, second only m mmportance and
extent to those m Paris; maps, charts, and topographical drawings,
and 1n the Prmt Room a magmficent collection of the finest engrav-
mngs of all ages

The management of the museum 1s vested mn a body of Trustees, of
whom the Archbishop of Canterbury, the Lord Chancellor, and the
Spesker of the House of Commons are the chief The Prmcipal
Libranan 1s also Secretary to the Trustees, the collections are
divided nto twelve departments, each mn charge of a keeper



THE BRITISH MUSEUM 195

Entrance Hall —Entering the museum by the chief portico we
find ourselves m the grand hall, containing Roubiliac’s 1deal statue
of Shakespeare, and one of Sir Joseph Banks, by Chantrey We
propose commencing our tour of the collections with the Depart-
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PLAN OF THE BRITISH MUSEUM
ment of Antiquities, entered by a doorway on the left of the hall,
close to the principal entrance

The Roman Gallery contams Roman antiquities discovered
m Great Britam, moluding a remarkable altar and several sarco-
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phagi; a series of Roman bust portraits mn chronological order, some
very fine, and a few bust portraits of celebrated Greeks Next m
order are the three

Greco-Romar Rooms, devoted to statues, busts, and bas-rehefs
of the late Greek school, known as the Greco-Roman, mcluding,
m the first room, & fine head of "Minerva, a statue of Diana
Trforms, Apollo from the Farnese Palace, &c, m the second
room, the celebrated “ Townley Venus,” from Ostia, the beautiful
head formerly called the * Townley Dione,” &c , and 1 the
third room, a great variety of statues, busts, and rehefs, mcluding
the tablet i relief of the “ Apotheosiz of Homer,” the beautiful

111 BRITISH MUSIUM

female bust called ““ Clytie,” and othets The starcase adjomning
this room leads to the Greco-Roman Basement Room, contaming a
series of sculptures, &c, of secondary importance, and collections
of tesselated pavements and mosaics. After exammng these we
1eturn and enter the

Lycian Room by a door on the left, contaiming a series of monu-
ments from the ancient cities of Lycia, mn Asia Mmor, brought
to England by Sir Charles Fellowes between 1842-46, some of them
dating from as early as the sixth century 8 ¢, the most noteworthy
being the bas-reliefs from the Harpy tomb, representing the myth of
the carrymg off of children by Harpies, the arrangement and execu-
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tion of which are purely Greek, and a long series of sculptures and
architectural detals of an Iomic perstyle bwldmg, a restored
model of which 1s placed m the same room Next m order 18 the
Mausoleum Room, contamnmng the remains of the celebrated mau-
soleum from Halicarnassus, dedicated by Artemsia (about 352 nc)
to the memory of her husband Mausolos of Cara, one of the most
magmificent monuments of the kind ever erected, 1t consist®d of
a basement sixty-four feet high surmounted by a pyramd, on the
apex of which was a colossal group standing m a charot of white
marble  Scopas, Leochares, Bryaxis, and Timotheus, the fow
greatest artists of the age, are said to have taken part mn its con-
struction  From the Mausoleum Room we pass mnto the

Elgw Room, contammng the most valuable collection m the world
of specimens of Greek art at 1ts best period, which were brought to
England by the Earl of Elgin, and purchased from lum by Parliament
n 1816 for the sum of £35,000 They consist prmerpally of sculptm es
from the Temple of the Parthenon, the Erechtheum, and the Temple
of the Wingless Victory, all on the Acropolis ot Athens The
Parthenon was bwilt about 440 B¢ All the sculptural decorations
were by Phudias A model of this temple, as 1t was i the seventeenth
century, should be exammed

The sculptmes from the Parthenon mclude portions of several of
the statues from the pediments, the most mmportant bemg the
Theseus or Hercules, upper parts of the torsos of Neptune, Minerva,
and Iris, torsos ot Cecrops, King of Attica, Ceres, and Proserpme,
the Fates, heads of the horses of Hyperion, and one of the horses
of the Night, the last named and the Theseus are the most perfect,
fifteen metopes o1 tablets from the fileze, 1epresenting combats
betwcen Greeks and Centauis, and a large portion of the frieze ot
the outcr walls of the cella (as the sanctuary within the colounade
was called), which occupied a space of 524 feet m the original buld-
mg, the remains m the museum bemg 249 feet m extent  All these
works, broken and mutilated though they be, are still mnstinct with a
high degige of vitality and energy, and thewr artistic perfection m
balance and groupmng are alike unrivalled The remsamns from the
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Erechtheum, the best existing example of the Ionic order i Greece) at
the north end of the Elgin room, although not equal to those of the
Parthenon, are still extremely beautiful They consist of one of
the Canephors supporting the south-west portico, & column, and a
considerable portion of the frieze The sculptures from the Temple
of the Wingless Victory are on the east wall of the same room,
abové@the frieze of the Parthenon We must also call attention to
the colossal draped statue of Dionysos, formeily on the top of the
choragic monument of Thrasyllos at Athens (Bc 320), a hfe-
sized statue of Eros, and a torso of Asklepios Ina room at the
north end of that under notice 1s a colossal Lion from Cmdus,
supposed to be of very early date, and to have surmounted a Doric
tomb The door on the east gives access 1o the

Hellenic Room, contaming numerous Grecian antiquities of various
dates, the most unportant of which are twenty-thiee slabs of a
marble frieze sculptwied m mezzo-rehevo found amongst the runs
of the Temple of Apollo Epicurius, near the ancient Phigalia m
Arcadia  The plaster casts of celebrated antique sculptures i this

room are also very interesting The last side of this 100m opens
mto the

Assyrian Galleries, consisting of three long narrow apartments,
with a fourth room crossing the southern end, 1n which are arranged
the collections of sculptuies excavated by Mr Layaid in 1847-50, and
Mr Rassam and Mr Loftus in 1853-55, on the site of the ancient
Numeveh, with several important bas-reliefs found recently by Mr
G Smith, together with the engraved tablets, the mscriptions on
which have recently led to important discoveries respecting ancient
traditions of the Deluge and the early history of mankind

It will be well, in order to avold any break in the lustoric
sequence of the sculptures, to pass through the Niuroud Central
Saloon after leaving the Gieek galleries, and enter the

Kouyunpik Gallery, contaning the celebiated series of bas-reliefs,
dating from the sixth and seventh centuries B ¢, brought to Eng-
land 1n 1849-50 by Mr Layard from the supposed palade of Senna-
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cherib at Kouyunjik, on the site of the ancient Nmneveh, i the
centre of this room 18 an obelisk covered with small bas-rehefs re-
presenting the great deeds of Assur-izir-pal, the predecessor of
Sennacherib, and five cases on the table contain minor excavated
Assynan objects 'We may now return to the

Nimroud Central Saloon, n which begmns the series of sculjstures -
brought from Nimroud by Mr Layard i 1847 and 1850, including a
number of slabs, &c, from the supposed palace of Essarhaddon, the
son of Sennacherib (seventh century Bc), the principal bemg a
bas-relief, representing the evacuation of a town, &c, the colossal
head of a human-headed bull, and opposite to these, other slabs of
equal mterest from the central bulding at Nimroud, and the cele-
brated small obelisk 1n black marble, discovered near Kalah Shergat,
engraved with ten lmes of the cuneiform character, and sculptured
with twenty bas-reliefs, representing the offering of tribute to the
king The door on the south of this room leads mnto the

Numroud Gallery, the bas-rehefs 1n which are a continuation of
those just noticed, and mclude hunting and battle scenes, several re-
presentations of religious rites, the passage of a river, & The
tablc-cases 1 this room contain small objects discovered at Niumroud,
mcluding some very mnteresting 1vory carvings, engraved tablets, &c
At the north-west corner of this gallery a door gives access to the

Assyrman Side Room, containmng a mmscellaneous collection ot
Assynan sculptures, mostly presented by Mr Rassam, connected with
which 1s the Assyrian Basement Room, reached by a stawrcase, and
contamning a number of bas-reliefs, which date from the latest and
best period of Assyrian art, and are remaikable for their great delicacy
of execution, and freedom of grouping Returmng and recrossing
the Nimroud Gallery, we now gain the Assyrian Transept, contaimng
the continuation of the sculptures mn the Nimroud Gallery already
noticed, with some casts and sculptures from the Palace of Persepols
(about 500 B ¢ ), casts of Pehlevi mscriptions at Hadjy1 Abad, cases
of antiqmtles from Cyprus, and above all in the Khorsabad Com-
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partment, on the east sde, several monuments from the Palace of
Sargina (about 721 3¢) In the centre of this room 18 a seated
figure of Shalmaneser, found fifty miles beyond Nimroud by Mr
Layard We now pass through a door m the north side of the
traneept just examned, and enterthe

Egyptian Galleries, the collections m which vary m date from
2000 to 640 Bc, and are the most extensive and complete m any
country of Europe They were brought from Memphis, Thebes,
Alexandria, and Cairo  'We now enter the

Southern Gallery, contammg remams of the Ptolemaic or Greek
period, mcluding the celebrated Rosetta Stone, on which 15 an m-
scription n three languages, the hieroglyphic, demotic or enchormal,
and Greek, which was the key to the mterpretation of the hiero-
glyphics , with monuments of several of the latest dynasties, mclud-
g a fine sandstone group of a male and female seated In the

Central Saloon the monuments are of the age of Rameses II
(Sesostris), mcluding the colossal head of the Young Memnon from the
Memnonium at Thebes, and a gramte statue of Rameses IT, which are
among the finest existing rehes of Egyptian sculpture The sculptures
m the

Northern Gallery chefly belong to the eighteenth dynasty, and
mclude two red gramte hons from Mount Barkal, several colossal
heads, a four-sided monument with bas-rehiefs of Thothmes III, the
god Muntra and the goddess Athor, &¢ In the central rccess at
the east side of this gallery 1s the Tablet of Abydos, which 1s of
great historical value, and along the same wall are several extremely
valuable specimens of Egyptian pamnting, 1cpresenting various scenes
of ancient Egyptian hfe The

Northern Vestibule contams monuments of the first twelve
dynasties of Egyptian monarchs, ittluding some of the casing stones
of the pyramids, adjoimng which 1s the North-West Staircase, on
which are arranged Egyptian papyri, showmng the three varieties of
Egyptian wnting, hieroglyphic, hieratic, and demotic “ Ascending
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the starcase, we emsier the Egyplian Ante Room, m which smie various
casts from Egyptian bas-reliefs, and turning to the right we find our-
selves m the

First Egyptian Room, contamng the smalles Egyptian antiquities,
divided mto three sections the religious, civil, and sepulchral, the
first meluding a number of figures of divimities m wood, stone, bi®nzc,
silver, gold, porcelan, &c , the second, figures ot kings or officials
bronze, 1vory, or wood, household furmture, articles of dress, &c,
vases 1n great variety, mcluding pamnted carthenware, alabaster,
steatite, and bronze,—many covered with heroglyphics,—articles ot
food, armour and weapons, agricultural implements, musical mstru-
ments, &c , and the third, numeious mummes, some of men and
women, others of sacred animals, such as bulls, rams, and crocodiles,
sarcophagi, ornaments, amulets, and scarabe, found with the mum-
mies In the

Second Egyptian Room are sepulchral tablets, vases, wooden cofhns,
figures of the gods, the outer coverings of mummues, &c, the con-
tinuation of the sepulchral section m the first room, ranged along thc
east side, and 1 the table-cases, the latter also contammg specimens
of tiles, Egyptian glass, objects from the Christian period of Egypt,
&c , whilst the whole of the west side 18 devoted to the

Glass Collections, the finest portion of which was bequeathed to
the museum m 1868 by M1 Felix Slade These valuable collections
mclude Roman and Anglo-Saxon glass found i England, Oriental
glass, ancient Greek and Roman vases, fragments of Early Chustian
designs discovered m the catacombs, mosaics, numerous examples
of old Venetian glass, with specimens of Fiench, Spamsh, German,
and Enghsh workmanship of different dates The same room con-
tans the Witt Collection, illustrative of antique baths, mcluding tiles,
o1l vases, specimens of Roman glazed pottery and 1ed ware, and ot
Early Italan and Etruscan pottery The next two rooms, known
as the

Vase Rodms,contan amost valuable and mstructive series of pamte:]
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fictalle vases found 1n tombs 1n Italy, Greece, &c , a gmde to these
pomting out the most remarkable, may be purchased for one penny
In the second room we must call special attention to a series of
kraters in table-cases A and C, and to an amphora 1n table-case D
Next wn order 1s the

Byonze Room, contammng a collection of Greek, Etruscan, and
Roman bronzes, chronologically arranged, those in the western half
bemng Etruscan and archaic, and those m the eastern Roman or
Greco-Roman We may pomt out as especially remarkable the series
of archaic specimens 1n case B The next room, known as the

British and Medweval Room, 18 devoted to antiquities found in
Great Britain and Ireland, and to British and foreign Early
Christian and medieval remams The British antiquities include
examples of the so-called store, bronze, and iron periods , Roman
antigmties found 1n Britain, and Anglo-Saxon antiquities of great
variety, such as flint, stone, and bronze implements, weapons,
pottery, cowns, ornaments, &  Between this room and the Ethno-
graphical, 1s a door leading mto the

Gold Ornament Room, which 1s kept locked, the visitor having
to ring the bell to gamn admssion, this should on no account be
passed over, as 1n addition to a most interesting series of gold orna-
ments of every country and period, 1t contans the world-famous
Portland Vase, which was found 1n a marble sarcophagus n the
Monte del Grano, near Rome, this was some years ago broken by a
maniac, but has been most successfully restored We may also call
attention to the Greek and Roman mtaghos and cameos In the
passage leading to this room 1s a case of electrotype copies of Greek
coms of gieat mterest The next apartment 1s the

Ethnographical Room, contamning a very extensive collection of
antiquties and modern objects, illustrative of the African, Asiatic,
American, New Zealand, Melanesian, and Austrahian races, mcluding
weapons, wearing apparel, inplements of various kinds, musical -
struments, ornaments, pottery, sculptures, bronzes, 1dol s*canoes, &c,
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geographically arrgnged Owimng to want of space the pre-historic
and ethnographical collections bequeathed to the museum by Mr
Henry Christy, are for the present at 108, Victoria Street, West-
mimster They may be seen on Fridays from 10 to 4 Tickets to
be obtained 1n the hall of the British Museum They include objects
from all parts of the world, some of great value

We have now completed ow tour of the department of antiquities,
and will next take the Natwal History collections, wluch may be
entered fiom the Ethnogiaphcal Room, o1 from the principal stair-
case leading up fiom the Entrance Hall Entermg the Zoological
Galleries fiom the stairs, we begin with

1 The Central Saloon, devoted to antelopes, goats, sheep, bats,
and some few of the larger mnammalia, 1ncluding a gorilla family from
Africa, some giraffes from the same country, and a moise or walrus
from the Arctic Ocean Above the wall cases are the horns of
different species of oxen  From this room we pass into

2 The Southern Zoological Gallery, the wall-cases of wlich
contamn a further collection of hoofed quadrupeds, including oxen,
deer, camels, llamas, hoises, a most mteresting series of 1a1e ante-
lopes, such as the gigantic eland, the striped strepsiceros, and the
nylghau, seveial vaneties of anmadillo, mams, sloth, &« The
centre of this 100m 15 occupied by the Indian rhimoceros, the
Afrcan luppopotamus, the Cape buffalo, and the celebrated wild
Chillingham bull  We next enter

8 The Mammala Saloon, the wall cases of wlich contam speci-
mens of the pramates, or four-handed beasts, mcluding monkeys of
the Old and New Woild of every variety, lemurs, &c , caimvorous
quadrupeds of all sorts and sizes, maisupial ammals, mcluding the
petauns, oo flying phalangeis, the dwarf opossum mouse, kangaroos,
&c , seals of several kinds, glires, or gnawing anmmals, such as the
capybara of America, the tiowel-talled beaver, & In the table
cases of tlus are airanged fine specunens of the cluef vaneties of
corals, whilst sponges me ealubited 1 upright cases above these
From this safoon we pass mnto

\
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4. The Eastern Zoological Gallery, the wall cases of which con-
tatn collections of birds, mcluding diurnal and nocturnal birds of
prey, perching birds, slender-billed birds, passermne birds, mncluding
birds of paradise of extreme beauty and rarity, chmbmg, galh-
naceous, wading, web-footed birds, &  Amongst the perching birds
we would call especial attention to the hoopoes and sunbirds of
Afiica and Asia, and the humming-birds of America (cases 43 to 47)
Cases 107 to 109, containmmg ostriches, emus, cassowaries, and
specimens of the apteryx, the wingless bird of New Zealand, are
also of great value and interest Opposmte No 108 18 a glass case
m which 15 the skeleton of the extinct dodo, and mn case 108 1s
a picture of the lhving bird, said to have been pamted from
the Iife m the island of Mauritius, the native home of 1its race
The larger table cases of this room contam a collection of the shells
of molluscous ammals of every variety, and some very rare examples
of small quadrupeds, mcluding the aye-aye of Madagascar, and the
chlamydophorous from Chuli  In the small wall table cases are various
specimens exhibiting the structure, disease, deformities, &c , of shells
We now pass mto the

Nozthern Zoological Gallery, and find mn

Room I a collection of nests of birds, specimens of the meta-
morphoses of msects, their nests, structures, &c, and on the walls
examples of the larger reptiles, m

Room IT stuffed specimens of exotic reptiles, and batrachia of a
great variety in the wall cases, and 1n the table cases the hard parts
of radiated anmmals, including the sea eggs, sea stars, &c

Rooms IIT, IV, qnd V accommodate the

British Zoological Collection —In Room III the wall cases
contain mammaha, birds, mcluding the Great Auk, now extmet,
reptiles, fishes, &c The larger vertebrates, such as whales, arc
suspended on the walls, and large skeletons of fishes are ranged
along the tops of the table cases, m which are the eggds of birds, a
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series of annulose-fimumals, external skeletons of molluscs, &c, and
1 one or two cases specally fitted up for their reception extraordinary
examples of salmonoids

In Room IV we have 1n the wall cases a stuffed collection of bony
fishes of a great variety, and 1n the table cases, insects, crustaces,
annulose animals, &c ‘

Room V contams in the wall cases ganoids and cartilaginous
fishes, &c, and 1 the table cases, sponges, &c

-

‘We now enter the

Gallery of Mumerals and Fossils, known as the North Gallery,
which runs parallel with the zoological galleries and 1s divided into
six rooms  The fossils are arranged partly in zoological and partly
i geological sequence m the wall cases throughout the gallery,
begmnng in Room I with the fossil plants, and gomg gradually up
through the long series of fossil fishes, reptiles, &e, to the remams
of mammaha Rooms V and VI are completely occupied by
fossils, including the skeleton of the Megathertum, paits of the
Dinotherium, and above all, the fossil human skeleton fiom Gua-
daloupe, West Indies The table cases n Rooms I to IV contam
collections of minerals, and those m Rooms V and VI the fossil re-
mams of mnvertebrate ammals

The collection of mnerals, contamed m sixty large table cases,
18 g0 admirably arranged, and so clearly labelled that any de-
tails here are unnecessary At the eastern end of Room I are two
small cases contaming an mmportant collection of meteorites, mclud-
g the great aerohte that fell at Parnallee, m Madras, on the 28th
February, 1857, the Sidenohite mass found in Bohemia i 1861, and
that found at Cranbourne near Melbourne, 1n Australia

We have still to examme the Botanical Collections, which aie
arranged 1 two rooms entered from the eastern side of the Central
Zoological Saloon, or from the Mammalia Saloon  Then number
renders 1t 1mpossxble to attempt any account of them here, but we
may add that the table cases m the centre of the first room contam
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selected typieal specimens of the prmerpal vegetable families, whilst
the mam collections are ranged along the walls, beginning on the
left on entermg the first room with the fung, alge, hichens, and so
forth, gradually ascending through the various stages of vegetable
development till the highest forms are reached

@

We have now exammed the two principal departments open to
general visitors, but the Grenwille Room, the Manuscript Room,
and the Royal Library may also be seen on publc days

The Grenville Room 18 entered by a door on the eastern side of
the hall between the statues of Shakespeare and Sir Joseph Banks
It contans the hibrary bequeathed n 1847 by the Right Honourable
Thomas Grenwille, consisting of 20,240 volumes In two table cases
on the left-hand side of this room are displayed several most valu-
able specimens of Block Books. 1e, books printed from carved
blocks of wood on one side of the leaf only, before the mvention of
movable types In a recess on the southern side of this hibrary 1s a
marble bust of the donor by Conolh  Next 1s the

Manuscript Room, contamming cases of autographs of emment
men, orgmal charters, including Magna Charta and others, dating
from Anglo-Saxon times, Oriental manuscripts of great variety,
ornamental bindings, illummated MSS , early Bibhcal MSS , his-
torical deeds and papyri, photographic prmts from MSS and
charters, seals of sovereigns, ecclesastical digmitaries, barons, &c
From the Manuscript Room we pass on to the

King’s Library, built for the reception of the books collected by
George III and presented to the nation by George IV , many of which
are very rare, whilst others are remarkable for their eventful history.
Some of the most valuable and noteworthy are arranged in six
table cases, those on the left of the room illustrating the early
history of printing, whilst those on the right are noticeable for some
exceptional beauty or peculiarity of type, binding, or illustration In
the same room are displayed select specimens of the splendid col-
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lection of prints béqueathed to the nation by Mr Felix Slade, &ec,
which are chronologically arranged, begmning mn Table Case I-A
with impressions on paper from the mielli of Perugino da Cescna,
F Raibolhm, Baldmi, and others, succeeded by examples of the
work of Andrea Mantegna, Marc Antonio Raimondi, Martin Schon-
gauer, Israel van Meckenen, Albert Durer, Aldegrever, Visgile
Solis, Wenceslas Hollar, Lucas van Leyden, Goltzius, Rembrandt,
Paul Potter, A Van de Velde, K du Jardm, N Berghem, A van
Ostade, Dusart, Jacques Callot, J G Wille, and other great foreign
masters, fitly closing with specxmens of the English school, includmg
a long series of works by Hogarth, several by John Raphael Smith,
William Faithorne, and Bartolozz:

We have now noticed all those portions of the British Museum

which are open to the general public and proceed to give some account
of the

Reading Room and Libraries, to which holders of tickets alone
are admitted The Reading Room 1tself occupies the central
quadrangle of the hollow square formed by the bwldings of the
museum, and was erected by Mr Sydney Smirke on a plan sug-
gested by Mr Pamzzi It 18 circula, and 13 bmlt chiefly of iron
with brick arches between the principal supports A corrmdor for
hghting and ventilation, about 28 feet wide, runs round the entire
crrcumference, and the whole 18 surmounted by a dome 106 feet
high and 140 feet in diameter  The shelves consist of ron plates
edged with wamscot, which are no less than three miles in extent
Three hundred readers can be comfortably accommodated at a
time, each one bemg provided with a chair, desk, inkstand, &c
There are separate tables for ladies

The principal entrance to the Reading Room 1s from the hall of
the museum, on either side of the passage leading to 1t are the
ladigs’ and gentlemen’s cloak-rooms, the room for the registration of
copyrights, the assistants’ room, the room m which reading tickets
are 1ssued arg renewed, &c

The printed books mn the British Museum Library at present ex-
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ceed half a million m number, which does not mclude the tracts,
pamphlets, and manuscripts, the number of which cannot be com-
puted The Reading Room alone contains some 80,000 volumes

The Manuscrepts, which are accommodated m several rooms m the
south-east angle of the bwldmng, include—1 the Sloanean, 2 the
Cotinran, contamnng the Durham Book, a copy of the Latin Gospels
with a Saxon gloss, date about 800, 3 the Harleian, with one of
the earhest copies of the Odyssey, 4 the Royal Library Manu-
seripts, with the “ Codex Alexandrmus,” a MS of the Bible of the
fifth century and the “ Basilicon Doron” of James I, mn his own
wnting, 5 the Lansdowne, chiefly hstorical, 6 the Hargrave,
mostly legal, 7 the Burney, with a very carly copy of the Ilad,
8 the Howard Arundel, chiefly relating to the history and language
of the English people, 9 the Oriental, consisting of very valuable
Syrac, Arabic, Ethiopic, and other codices, and 10. Mascellaneous,
mcluding a charter of Wilham the Conqueror, a mortgage deed
signed by Shakespeare, the M8 of Scott’s “ Kemlworth,” and many
other valuable 1ehes

The Print Room of the museum, which 1s not usually shown to
visitors, 18 entered by a doorway half-way up the staircase leading
from the Egyptian Gallertes to the northern Zoological Gallery It
contams a most valuable collection of origmnal diawings by Fra
Angehico, Perugino, Leonardo da Vinci, Raphael, Michael Angelo,
Bellim, Titian, Correggio, Durer, Holbem, Vandyck, and other great
masters, numerous very early German and Italian impressions
from engraved melli, wood, and copper, casts 1 sulphur of the great
Pax of Maso Fimguerra, referred to in all works on the early en-
gravers, two melli by Leonardo da Viney, a cup ascribed to Cellim,
and, above all, an origmal stone carving mn high rehef by Albrecht
Durer representing the coronation of the Virgin, and bearing the
well-known monogram, with the date 1510, The collection of
engravings 18 one of the largest i the world, and every year 1t 18
enriched by gifts or purchases
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SOUTH KENSINGTON MUSEUM.

Rures or Apmission —The Museum 1s open daly  Free on Mon-
days, Tuesdays, and Saturdays, and at the Easter and Christmas
holidays ~ On students’ days, Wednesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays,
the public are admitted on payment of 6d each  Hours on Mondays,
Tuesdays, and Saturdays from 10 am 4l 10 pm , on Wednesdayss
Thursdays, and Fridays from 10 am tll dusk

Tckets of admission to the Museum, wncluding the Art Library
and Educational Reading Room, are wssued on the following terms —
Weekly, 6d , monthly, 1s 6d , quarterly,3s , half-yearly, 6s , yearly,
10s  Yearly tickets are also ssued to schools at £1 which unll admat
all the puprls on students’ days  Tickels to be obtaned at the Cata-
logue Stall, close to the principal entrance

Refreshment and waiting rooms with lavatories are m the corridor
between the Art Library and the stawrcase leading to the Keramic
Gallery

= \ HE South Kensington Museum 1s one mile from Hyde Park
b’f' Corner, about four mmutes walk from the South Kensing-

24 x’ﬁ'] ton station of the Metropohitan District Ralway, and
" may also be reached by the Exhibition Road from the
Kensmgton high road

The South Kensington Museum 1s a handsome red brick and terra-
cotta building, not yet completed, 1t 18 divided mto courts and
numerous corridors on the